UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI SALERNO



Department of Chemistry and Biology "A. Zambelli"

Ph.D. in Chemistry

XXXIV cycle

Ph.D. Thesis

"Analysis of biochemical pathways involved into protective effects of bioactive compounds: focus on Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids"

"Analisi dei pathway biochimici coinvolti negli effetti protettivi dei composti bioattivi: focus sugli acidi grassi polinsaturi Omega 3"

Tutor:

Prof. Lillà Lionetti

Ph.D. student:

Dr. Ilaria Di Gregorio

8800100054

Ph.D. Coordinator:

Prof. Claudio Pellecchia

Academic Year 2020 - 2021

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI SALERNO



Department of Chemistry and Biology "A. Zambelli"

Ph.D. in Chemistry

XXXIV cycle

Ph.D. Thesis

"Analysis of biochemical pathways involved into protective effects of bioactive compounds: focus on Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids"

"Analisi dei pathway biochimici coinvolti negli effetti protettivi dei composti bioattivi: focus sugli acidi grassi polinsaturi Omega 3"

Tutor:

Prof. Lillà Lionetti

Lilles himselfer

Ph.D. Coordinator: Prof. Claudio Pellecchia

A; aller

Academic Year 2020 - 2021

Ph.D. student:

Dr. Ilaria Di Gregorio

8800100054

fland Grog-

Commission of external referees:

External referee:

Prof. Assunta Lombardi Department of Biology, University of Naples "Federico II" assunta.lombardi@unina.it **External referee:** Prof. Caterina Faggio Department of Chemical, Biological, Pharmaceutical and Environmental Sciences University of Messina cfaggio@unime.it

Commission of the final examination:

President:

Prof. Anna Marabotti Department of Chemistry and Biology "A. Zambelli" University of Salerno amarabotti@unisa.it **1st commissioner:** Prof. Concetta Valeria Lucia Giosafatto Department of Chemical Sciences University of Naples "Federico II" giosafat@unina.it **2nd commissioner:** Prof. Francesco Ruffo Department of Chemical Sciences University of Naples "Federico II" francesco.ruffo@unina.it

Final examination:

Friday 27th, May 2022

Department of Department of Chemistry and Biology "A. Zambelli", University of Salerno

Contents

Summary	.6
Sommario1	10
Abbreviations List	14
Chapter 1 – Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids	18
1.1 Lipids1	18
1.2 Fatty acids1	19
1.2.1 Polyunsaturated fatty acids	19
1.3 Omega 3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids2	20
1.3.1 Omega-3 PUFAs structure	21
1.3.2 ALA conversion into EPA and DHA2	22
1.3.3 Omega -3 PUFAs food sources	23
1.3.4 Omega-3 PUFAs functions2	25
Chapter 2 – Mitochondria, oxidative stress and mitochondrial dynamic behaviou	ır
	29
2.1 Mitochondrial structure and function	29
2.2 Mitochondria and oxidative stress	30
2.2.1 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	31
2.2.2 Superoxide dismutases (SODs)	32
2.2.3 Glutathione peroxidase (GPx)	33
2.2.4 Omega-3 PUFAs effect on SOD2 and GPx1	34
2.3 Mitochondrial dynamics	35
2.4.1 Mitochondrial fusion mechanism	36
2.4.2 Mitochondrial fission mechanism	37
2.4.3 Omega-3 PUFAs effect on mitochondrial functionality and dynamics 3	38
Chapter 3 – Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) and ER stress	12
3.1 ER stress	12
3.2 Omega-3 PUFAs and ER stress	13
Chapter 4 – Omega-3 PUFAs effects on obesity related metabolic diseases	17

4.1 Omega-3 PUFAs and hepatic functionality	47
4.1.1 Hepatic steatosis and Metabolic Associated Fatty Liver Disease (MAFLD)	47
4.1.2 Omega-3 PUFAs and MAFLD	48
4.2 Omega-3 PUFAs and reproductive function in obesity related diseases.	49
Chapter 5 - Antiproliferative/anticancer effects of Omega-3 PUFAs and their contribution to enhance anticancer drug effect.	52
5.1 Tumour definition	52
5.2 Chemotherapy, radiotherapy and immunotherapy	53
5.3 Omega-3 PUFAs and antiproliferative/anticancer effect	54
5.4 Omega-3 PUFAs and their contribution to enhance anticancer drug effe	ct56
5.4.1 Omega-3 PUFAs in combination with anticancer drugs	56
5.4.2 Focus on the prodrug Capecitabine and its metabolic pathway	56
5.4.3 Effects of Omega-3 PUFAs combination with capecitabine	59
Chapter 6 - Thesis purpose	64
Chapter 7 – <i>In vivo</i> Experimental Design 1 – Omega-3 PUFAs effects on live and testis cell metabolism in high fat fed rats	r 68
7.1 Materials and methods	68
7.1.1 Ethics Statement	68
7.1.2. Materials	68
7.1.3 Experimental Design	68
7.1.4 Serum parameters determination	71
7.1.5 Hepatic lipid content	71
7.1.6 Haematoxylin and Eosin staining	71
7.1.7 Oil red O staining	72
7.1.8 Western blotting analysis	72
7.1.9 Lipid Peroxidation	75
7.1.10 Antioxidant SOD and GPx Activities	75
7.1.11 Caspase 3 Activity	76
7.1.12 Statistical Analysis	76

7.2 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on body weight gain and serum parameters
7.3 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on hepatic steatosis and ER stress onset in association with MFN2 content alterations
7.3.1 Steatosis grade and hepatic lipid content
7.3.2 ER stress markers
7.3.3 Mitochondrial dynamics markers: MFN2 and DRP183
7.3.4 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on hepatic steatosis and ER stress onset in association with MFN2 content alterations: Discussion and Conclusions
7.4 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on Testicular Antioxidant Defence and Mitochondrial Fusion/Fission Balance90
7.4.1 Different Impact of HL and HFO Diet on Lipid Peroxidation and Antioxidant Enzymes Activities in testis90
7.4.2 A Possible Link Between Oxidative Stress and Pro-Apoptotic Signals
7.4.3 HFO Diet Induced a Shift of Mitochondrial Dynamics Toward Fusion Processes
7.4.4 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on Testicular Antioxidant Defence and Mitochondrial Fusion/Fission Balance: Discussion and conclusions
Chapter 8 – Experimental Design 2 <i>in vitro</i> : Omega-3 PUFAs effects on HepG2 cells vitality and mitochondrial dynamics in combination with the anticancer
prodrug, capecitabine
8.1 Materials and methods
8.1.1 Experimental design
8.1.2 Preparation of fatty acids and capecitabine solutions
8.1.3 Cell viability MTT assay101
8.1.4 Electrophoresis and Western Blotting
8.1.5 Oil red O staining
8.1.6 Statistical analysis
8.2 Dose dependent effects of Omega-3 PUFAs on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics and antioxidant defence

	8.2.1 Dose dependent effect of Omega-3 PUFAs on cell viability104
	8.2.2 Dose dependent effect of Omega-3 PUFAs on lipid accumulation 105
	8.2.3 Dose dependent effects of Omega-3 PUFAs on mitochondrial dynamics protein markers
	8.2.4 Dose dependent effect of Omega-3 PUFAs on antioxidant defence proteins content
8 a	.3 Dose dependent effects of capecitabine on cell viability, lipid ccumulation, mitochondrial dynamics and antioxidant defences
	8.3.1 Dose dependent effects of capecitabine on cell viability113
	8.3.2 Dose dependent effects of capecitabine on lipid content
	8.3.3 Dose dependent effects of capecitabine on mitochondrial dynamics protein markers
	8.3.4 Dose dependent effect of capecitabine on antioxidant defence proteins content
8 a: a:	.4 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) nd capecitabine on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics nd antioxidant defences
	8.4.1 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) and capecitabine on cell viability
	8.4.2 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) and capecitabine on lipid accumulation
	8.4.3 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) and capecitabine on mitochondrial dynamic protein markers
	8.4.4 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) and capecitabine on antioxidants defence protein contents
8 c: a:	.5 Effects of simultaneous treatment with a combination of EPA + DHA and apecitabine on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics and ntioxidant defences
	8.5.1 Effects of treatment with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine on cell viability
	8.5.2 Effects of treatment with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine on lipid accumulation
	8.5.3 Effects of treatment with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine on mitochondrial dynamics protein markers

8.5.4 Effects of treatment with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine on antioxidant defense protein
8.6 Omega-3 PUFAs effects on HepG2 cells vitality and mitochondrial dynamics in combination with the anticancer prodrug, capecitabine: Discussion
and conclusions
Chapter 9 – Conclusions143
Acknowledgments
Fundings
References

Summary

Dietary fat sources differently affect cellular metabolism, with different effects on metabolic disease risks. In the present PhD thesis, it was evaluated the effect of Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (Omega-3 PUFAs), on the biochemical pathways involved in cellular metabolism, which can play an important role in metabolic diseases associated with obesity, such as hepatic steatosis and reproductive dysfunction, as well as in carcinogenesis processes and anti-cancer therapy. It is well known that, at the cellular level, metabolic pathways involved in stress and cell death are: 1) mitochondrial dysfunction associated with oxidative stress and alteration of mitochondrial dynamics behaviour, and 2) endoplasmic reticulum stress (ER stress). Mitochondria are highly dynamic organelles that continuously undergo fusion and fission processes, which are regulated by the protein mitofusin 2 (MFN2) and dynamin-related protein 1 (DRP1), respectively. Maintaining a correct balance between mitochondrial fusion and fission is necessary to maintain correct morphology, distribution and functionality of the mitochondria. In fact, an imbalance towards mitochondrial fission processes is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction, mitophagy and autophagy. Another mechanism involved in cellular metabolic dysfunction is ER stress, which activates the unfolded protein response pathway (UPR) and can trigger inflammatory processes and apoptosis. It is well known that Omega-3 PUFAs have anti-inflammatory effects, whereas little is known on the effect of Omega-3

PUFAs at the cellular level on the processes of mitochondrial dynamics behaviour and ER stress. Protective mechanisms against mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress and ER stress could be activated by Omega-3 PUFAs to counteract the obesity induced metabolic dysfunctions, as well as they could be at the basis of the adjuvant effect of Omega-3 PUFAs in therapy with anticancer drugs.

The aim of the present PhD thesis was, therefore, to evaluate the protective effects of Omega-3 PUFAs on cellular metabolism and the role of proteins involved in the mitochondrial fusion / fission processes, oxidative stress and / or ER stress both in pathologies associated with diet-induced obesity, such as hepatic steatosis and reproductive dysfunction, and in the supportive action of Omega-3 PUFAs in therapies with anticancer drugs. To this aim, two experimental designs were implemented: 1) a first experimental design was carried out on an *in vivo* experimental model represented by male Wistar rats, fed a hyperlipidic diet based on saturated fatty acids (lard) or polyunsaturated omega 3 (fish oil), to evaluate the effects of Omega-3 PUFAs on cellular metabolic dysfunction in hepatic and reproductive tissues. 2) a second experimental design was carried out on an *in vitro* cell model, represented by tumour liver cells (Hepg2), in order to evaluate the effect of Omega-3 PUFAs on cellular metabolism in association with an anticancer drug, namely capecitabine.

The results of the first experimental design confirmed that a high fish oil diet induced a lower degree of obesity and insulin resistance compared to a high lard diet, suggesting that Omega-3 PUFAs could have an anti-obesogenic and antiinsulin resistance effect. At the hepatic level, the results showed that the high fish oil diet, compared to high lard diet, induced a lower degree of lipid accumulation associated with the maintenance of the mitochondrial fusion/fission balance. Furthermore, the normal content of MFN2 was associated with a lower increase in ER stress markers compared to the increases induced by high lard diet, where a decrease in the MFN2 content and a shift towards fission processes was also induced. At the testicular level, the proteins involved in mitochondrial dynamics and antioxidant defences were evaluated. Results showed that high fish oil diet induced less oxidative stress than high lard diet due to the activation of the antioxidant defences. Furthermore, also in this tissue there was a shift in the mitochondrial dynamics towards the fusion processes with an increase in MFN2 and a decrease in DRP1 in response to high fish oil diet compared to high lard diet, which instead induced an increase in fission processes associated with oxidative stress and apoptosis.

The results of the second experimental design on the effect of Omega-3 PUFAs, namely EPA and DHA, alone or in combination with the anticancer prodrug capecitabine on mitochondrial dynamics and oxidative stress in HepG2 cells, showed that a shift towards fusion processes was observed in cells treated with Omega-3 PUFAs alone. On the other hand, in cells cotreated with Omega-3 PUFAs and capecitabine, a higher cytotoxic effect was observed compared to cells

treated with capecitabine alone. This increase in cytotoxic effect was associated with a decrease in MFN2, a shift towards fission processes and an alteration in antioxidant defences. The marked decrease in MFN2 leads to hypothesize a key role of this protein in pro-survival or death cell fate.

Overall, the results of the present PhD thesis highlight the importance of studying the mechanisms of mitochondrial dynamics in association with oxidative stress and ER stress to understand the cellular mechanisms underlying the protective effects of bioactive compounds, such as Omega-3 PUFAs, on cellular health.

Sommario

I lipidi derivati dalla dieta influenzano il metabolismo cellulare, con diversi effetti sul rischio di malattie metaboliche. Nel mio lavoro di tesi di dottorato ho ritenuto interessante valutare l'effetto degli Acidi Grassi Polinsaturi Omega-3 (Omega-3 PUFA), sui pathway biochimici coinvolti nel metabolismo cellulare che giocano un ruolo importante sia nelle patologie associate all'obesità, quali la steatosi epatica e la disfunzione riproduttiva, sia nei processi di cancerogenesi e nella terapia anticancro. È ben noto che, a livello cellulare, pathway metabolici coinvolti nello stress e nella morte cellulare sono: 1) la disfunzione dei mitocondri, associata a stress ossidativo ed alterazione della dinamica mitocondriale, e 2) lo stress del reticolo endoplasmatico. I mitocondri sono organelli altamente dinamici che vanno incontro a continui processi di fusione e fissione regolati rispettivamente dalla proteina mitofusina 2 (MFN2) e dalla proteina collegata alla dinamina (DRP1). Il mantenimento di un corretto bilancio tra fusione e fissione mitocondriale è necessario per mantenere una corretta morfologia, distribuzione e funzionalità dei mitocondri. Infatti, uno sbilanciamento verso i processi di fissione mitocondriale è associato a disfunzione mitocondriale, mitofagia ed autofagia. Un altro meccanismo coinvolto nella disfunzione metabolica cellulare è lo stress del reticolo endoplasmatico (ER stress) che attiva il pathway di risposta alle proteine mal ripiegate (UPR) e può innescare i processi infiammatori ed apoptosi. È ben noto che gli Omega-3 PUFA hanno effetti antinfiammatori, mentre meno conosciuto è l'effetto degli Omega-3 PUFA a livello cellulare sui processi di dinamica mitocondriale, stress ossidativo ed ER stress. Meccanismi protettivi nei confronti della disfunzione mitocondriale, stress ossidativo ed ER stress potrebbero essere attivati dagli Omega-3 PUFA per contrastare le disfunzioni metaboliche collegate all'obesità, come anche potrebbero essere alla base dell'effetto coadiuvante degli Omega-3 PUFA nella terapia con farmaci antitumorali.

Lo scopo della presente tesi di dottorato è stato quindi quello di valutare gli effetti protettivi degli Omega-3 PUFA sul metabolismo cellulare ed il ruolo delle proteine coinvolte nei processi di fusione/fissione mitocondriale, stress ossidativo e/o stress del reticolo endoplasmatico sia in patologie associate all'obesità indotte dalla dieta, quali steatosi epatica e disfunzione riproduttiva, sia nell'azione di supporto degli Omega-3 PUFA nelle terapie con farmaci antitumorali. A tale scopo sono stati attuati due disegni sperimentali: 1) un primo disegno sperimentale è stato condotto su un modello sperimentale *in vivo* rappresentato da ratti maschi *Wistar*, alimentati con diete iperlipidiche a base di acidi grassi saturi (lardo) o polinsaturi Omega 3 (olio di pesce), per valutare gli effetti degli Omega-3 PUFA sulla disfunzione metabolica cellulare associata all'obesità indotta da dieta iperlipidica nel tessuto epatico e riproduttivo. 2) un secondo disegno sperimentale è stato condotto su un modello cellulare *in vitro*, rappresentato da cellule epatiche tumorali (Hepg2), al fine di valutare l'effetto degli Omega-3 PUFA sul

11

metabolismo cellulare in associazione con un farmaco antitumorale, ovvero la capecitabina. I risultati del primo disegno sperimentale hanno confermato che una dieta ad alto contenuto di olio di pesce induce un minor grado di sviluppo dell'obesità e di resistenza all'insulina rispetto all'alimentazione ad alto contenuto di lardo, suggerendo che gli Omega-3 PUFA hanno un effetto anti-obesogeno e protettivo verso l'insulino-resistenza. A livello epatico, i risultati hanno dimostrato che la dieta ricca in Omega-3 PUFA, rispetto alla dieta ricca in lardo, induce un minore accumulo lipidico associato al mantenimento del bilancio tra fusione e fissione mitocondriale. Inoltre, il contenuto normale di MFN2 è associato ad un minore aumento dei marker di ER stress rispetto all'aumento indotto dalle diete ricche in lardo, per le quali si osserva anche una diminuzione nel contenuto di MFN2 ed uno sbilanciamento verso i processi di fissione. A livello testicolare sono stati valutati le proteine coinvolte nella dinamica mitocondriale e nelle difese antiossidanti ed i risultati hanno dimostrato che la dieta ricca in Omega-3 PUFA induce un minore stress ossidativo rispetto alla dieta ricca in grassi saturi grazie all'attivazione delle difese antiossidanti. Inoltre, anche in questo tessuto si osserva un cambiamento della dinamica mitocondriale verso i processi di fusione con un aumento della MFN2 ed una diminuzione di DRP1 in risposta alla dieta ricca di Omega-3 PUFA rispetto a quella ricca in grassi saturi, che induce invece un aumento dei processi di fissione associati a stress ossidativo ed apoptosi.

I risultati del secondo disegno sperimentale sull'effetto degli Omega-3 PUFA, in particolare EPA e DHA, da soli o in combinazione con il profarmaco antitumorale capecitabina sulla dinamica mitocondriale e sullo stress ossidativo nelle cellule epatiche tumorali HepG2, dimostrano che anche in questo caso nelle cellule trattate solo con Omega-3 PUFA si ha un aumento dei processi di fusione mitocondriale ed un aumento delle difese antiossidanti, mentre nel trattamento combinato di Omega-3 PUFA e capecitabina si osserva un maggior effetto citotossico con una diminuzione della MFN2 e quindi un aumento dei processi di fissione mitocondriale associato ad una alterazione delle difese antiossidanti. In questo caso la netta diminuzione della MFN2 spinge ad ipotizzare un ruolo di tale proteina nel destino di vita o morte cellulare.

Nel complesso i risultati della mia tesi di dottorato mettono in luce l'importanza dello studio dei meccanismi di dinamica mitocondriale in associazione allo stress ossidativo o del reticolo endoplasmatico per comprendere i meccanismi cellulari alla base degli effetti protettivi di composti bioattivi, quali gli Omega-3 PUFA, sulla salute cellulare.

Abbreviations List

5-FU - 5-FluoroUracil AA - Arachidonic Acid Ac-DEVD-pNA - Acetyl-Asp-Glu-Val-Asp-p-nitroanilide ADP - Adenosine Diphosphate Akt/PKB - Akt kinase/Protein Kinase B ALA - α-Linolenic Acid ALT - Alanine Aminotransferase AMPK - AMP-activated Protein kinase ANOVA - Analysis of Variance APE1/Ref-1 - Human Apurinic (Apyrimidinic) Endonuclease/Redox-Factor 1 ATP - Adenosine Triphosphate BAX - BCL2 Associated X BCL-2 - B - Cell Lymphoma-2 derived protein gene BCL2L12 - BCL2 Like Protein 12 BIM - BCL2 Like Protein 11 **BSA** - Bovine Serum Albumin CaCo2 - Human Colorectal Adenocarcinoma Cells CAP - Capecitabine Cap10 - cells treated with 10 µM dose of Capecitabine Cap100 - cells treated with 100 µM dose of Capecitabine Cap50 - cells treated with 50 µM dose of Capecitabine cDNA - complementary DNA CH₃ - Methyl End CHOP - CCAAT/enhancer-binding Protein Homologous COOH - Carboxyl End COX - Ciclooxygenase **CPT** - Carnitine Palmitoyl Transferase **CRC** - Colorectal Cancer CSIRO - Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation CuZn-SOD - Copper/Zinc – Superoxide Dismutase CyD - Cytidine Deaminase Da - Dalton DFCR - 5'-Deoxy-5-Fluoricitin DFUR - 5'-Deoxy-5-Fluoridine DHA - Docosahexaenoic Acid DHA + Cap (D+C) = cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of Capecitabine DHA10 - cells treated with 10 µM dose of DHA

DHA100 - cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA

DHA50 - cells treated with 50 µM dose of DHA DMSO - Dimethyl Sulfoxide DNA - Deoxyribonucleic Acid DPA - Docosapentaenoic Acid DRP1 - Dynamin-Related Protein 1 DTT - Dithiothreitol EC - Hepatic Carboxylesterase EDEM - ER Degradation Enhancing Alpha-Mannosidase Like Protein gene EDTA - Ethylenediamine Tetraacetic Acid eIF2a - Eukaryotic Translation Initiation Factor-2 alpha ELISA - Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay EPA - Eicosapentaenoic Acid EPA+Cap (E+C) - cells treated with $100 \,\mu\text{M}$ dose of EPA + $100 \,\mu\text{M}$ dose of Capecitabine EPA+DHA - cells treated with 100 µM dose of EPA and 100 µM dose of DHA EPA+DHA+Cap (E+D+C) - cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100μ M dose of Capecitabine EPA10 - cells treated with 10 µM dose of EPA EPA100 - cells treated with 100 µM dose of EPA EPA50 - cells treated with 50 µM dose of EPA ER – Endoplasmic Reticulum ERAD - Endoplasmic Reticulum Associated Degradation ERdj4 - Endoplasmic Reticulum DnaJ family Protein 4 Gene ETA - Eicosatetraenoic Acid F - High-Fish oil Fed FA - Fatty Acid FAS/CD95 - Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Superfamily FDA - Food and Drug Administration FdUMP - 5-Fluor-Deoxy-Uridin-Monophosphate FFA - Free Fatty Acids FIS1 - Fission Protein 1 FUTP - 5-Fluor- Uridine-Triphosphate G/I - Glucose/Insulin ratio GADD34 - Growth Arrest and DNA Damage-inducible protein GPx - Glutathione Peroxidase GRP75 - 75-kDa Glucose-Regulated Protein GRP78/BIP1 - 78-kDa Glucose-Regulated Protein/ Endoplasmic Reticulum **Chaperone/Binding Protein** GSH - Glutathione GTP - Guanosine Triphosphate HepG2 - Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cells HFD - High Fat Diet

HFO - High-Fish Oil HL - High-Lard HSC - Hepatic Stellate Cells IgG-HRP - Immunoglobulin G conjugated to Horseradish Peroxidase IL-6 - Interleukin-6, Interleukin-1β **IR-** Insulin Resistance IRE1 - Inositol Trisphosphate Receptor 1 JNK - c-Jun N-terminal Kinase KCl - Potassium Chloride kDa - Kilo Dalton KH₂PO₄ - Potassium Phosphate kJ - Kilo Joule L - High-Lard fed LC - Long chain LDL - Low Density Lipoprotein LOX - Lipoxygenases LS174T - Human Ls174t Colon Adenocarcinoma Cell Line LT - Leukotrienes MAC16 - Colon Adenocarcinoma MAFLD - Metabolic-Associated Fatty Liver Disease MAMs - Mitochondria-Associated ER Membranes MAP(K) - Mitogen Activated Protein (Kinase) MDA - Malondialdehydes MEM - Minimum Essential Medium Met-tRNA - Methionine - Trasfer DNA MFN2 - Mitofusin 2 MnSOD - Manganese Superoxide Dismutase mtDNA - Mitochondrial Deoxyribonucleic Acid MTT - 3-(4,5-Dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5-diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide MUFA - Monounsaturated Fatty Acid N - Not treated (control) cells Na₂HPO₄ - Sodium Phosphate NaCl - Sodium Chloride NADH - Nicotinammide Adenine Dinucleotide NAFLD - Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease NASH - Non-Alcoholic Steatohepatitis NRF1 - Nuclear Respiratory Factor-1 **OMM - Outer Mitochondrial Membrane** OPA1 - Optic atrophy 1 P58^{IPK} - ER molecular chaperone (Inhibitor of P-eIF2α Kinase) PAGE - Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis PBS - Phosphate Buffered Saline

PE - PhosphatidylEthanolamine

PERK - Protein kinase RNA-like Endoplasmic Reticulum Kinase

PFA - Paraformaldheide

PG - Prostaglandins

PGC1a - Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Gamma Coactivator 1 alpha

PGE2 - Prostaglandin E2

PI3K - Phosphatidyl-Inositol - 3 - Kinase

PMSF - Phenylmethylsulfonyl Fluoride

pNA - para-Nitroanilide

PPARs - Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors

PS - PhosphatidylSerine

PUFA - Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

RA - Rheumatoid Arthritis

RER - Rough Endoplasmic Reticulum

RIPA - Radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer

RNA – Ribonucleic Acid

ROS - Reactive Oxygen Species

RvD1 - Resolvin DHA Derived 1

S1/S2 - Sites 1/2 for proteolytic cleavage

SDA - Stearidonic Acid

SDS - Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate

SEM - Standard Error on the Mean

SER - Smooth Endoplasmic Reticulum

SFA - Saturated Fatty Acids

SOD - Superoxide Dismutase

SREBP-1 - Sterol Regulatory Element-Binding Transcription Factor 1

TAC - Antioxidant Capacity

TAG - Triacylglycerol

TBARS - Thiobarbituric Acid Reactive Substances

TBS - Triphosphate Buffered Saline

TCF- β -catenin - T- Cell Factor binding β -catenin

TGs - Triglycerides

THA - Tetracosahexanoic Acid

TK - Thymidine Kinase

TNFα - Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha

TP - Thymidine Phosphorylase

TPA - Tetracosapentaenoic Acid

TS - Thymidine Synthase

UPR - Unfolded Protein Response

VDAC - Voltage-Dependent Anion-selective Channel

WAT - White Adipose Tissue

WHO - World Health Organization

Chapter 1 – Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

1.1 Lipids

Lipids are a heterogeneous group of biological substances, such as chloroform, hydrocarbons, or alcohols, which are insoluble in water and soluble in non-polar solvents, [¹]. They represent one of the four main classes of organic compounds of biological interest along with carbohydrates, proteins, and nucleic acids. In nature, due to their different chemical structure, lipids have numerous functions. They are an important source of energy reserves, also in the form of fat storage, and the main constituent of cell membranes. They are also involved in important metabolic regulatory functions. Lipids can be classified into:

- Fatty acids

- Tryacilglycerols

- Glycerophospholipids (the major lipid component of cellular membranes)

- Sfingolipids

- steroids

- Other (such as terpenes, waxes and eicosanoids)

1.2 Fatty acids

Fatty acids are the main building block of almost all lipids. They are commonly found in foods of both animal and plant origin. They are molecules characterised by a chain of carbon atoms, called an aliphatic chain, consisting of a carboxyl group at one end, and a methyl group at the other end. Their aliphatic chain tends to be linear, and only in rare cases it appears in a branched or cyclic form. Chemically, fatty acids can be divided into groups according to the length of the carbon chain, the number, position and configuration of their double bonds, and the presence of additional functional groups along the aliphatic chains. The main classification includes: 1) saturated fatty acids (SFA), which are characterised by the presence of only single carbon-carbon bonds in the aliphatic chain, and appear solid when placed at room temperature, and 2) unsaturated fatty acids, which are characterised by the presence of one or more carbon-carbon double bonds along the aliphatic chain (monounsaturated or polyunsaturated fatty acids, respectively), and appear liquid at room temperature.

1.2.1 Polyunsaturated fatty acids

For a fatty acid to be defined as polyunsaturated, there must be at least two double bonds within it. Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) are linear chains consisting of a carboxyl group followed by carbon atoms bonded to hydrogen atoms. In nature they mainly have a *cis* configuration (the portions of the molecule before and after the double bond are on the same side of the imaginary plane where the double bond is located). In each PUFA, there are molecular 'folds' at the double bonds. For this reason, triglycerides containing PUFA cannot 'pack up', as well as they could and struggle to form a solid structure. This characteristic explains why foods rich in triglycerides more fluid are than dietary sources of saturated fats and remain liquid even at refrigeration temperatures. The common feature of all PUFAs is that they are "essential" compounds. They are defined as essential for two reasons: 1) they modulate important biological functions at the cellular level, and 2) their precursors must be taken in the diet as the animal world is unable to synthesise them *de novo* [$^{2}, ^{3}, ^{4}$].

1.3 Omega 3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

Omega-3 fatty acids belong to the PUFA family as they have more than one double bond on their carbon skeleton [⁵]. From a biochemical point of view, they are among the *essential* elements because the human body is not able to synthesise them from scratch or, in any case, to meet the quantities required to maintain health [5]. The Omega-3 PUFAs of greatest interest are α -linolenic acid (ALA), eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), due to their physiological impact [5,⁶]. ALA is considered the entire Omega-3 series precursor. In fact, through the action of specific enzymes, it leads to the production of the other elements belonging to the same family [6]. As the human body has a low capacity to synthesise them from α -linolenic acid, Omega-3 PUFAs must be obtained mainly from the diet [5]. There are various food sources, such as animal products (crustaceans, e.g., lobster and prawns, blue fish, beef, lamb, etc.)., and vegetable sources (such as green leafy vegetables, nuts and legumes) [⁷]. To include Omega-3 PUFAs in human diet is essential because of their various beneficial effects [7].

1.3.1 Omega-3 PUFAs structure

PUFAs, as all the fatty acids, are even-numbered carbon chains with a methyl end (-CH₃) and a carboxyl end (-COOH) [1]. From a stoichiometric point of view, PUFAs always assume a *cis* configuration [1]. Omega-3 PUFAs represent one of the two main metabolic families of polyunsaturated fatty acids: Omega-3 and Omega-6 [⁸]. Their name derives from their chemical structure i.e., the fact that the double bond closest to the methyl end is separated from it by three carbon atoms and is therefore formed at the third carbon from the terminal methyl group, which is called the "*omega*" carbon [8]. As above mentioned, there are several fatty acids in the Omega-3 series, but the most important compounds in terms of biological functions are ALA, EPA and DHA (fig.1) [6]:

1. α – ALA is an essential polyunsaturated fatty acid consisting of a chain of 18 carbon atoms and three double bonds. It is called the "parent fatty acid" of all Omega-3 PUFAs as it is converted to EPA and DHA through chain elongation and desaturation [⁹].

EPA and DHA are long-chain (LC) PUFAs consisting of 20 carbon atoms and
 double bonds, and 22 carbon atoms and 6 double bonds, respectively [7].

1.3.2 ALA conversion into EPA and DHA

ALA intake from various dietary sources is important due to its individual beneficial effects on the body, as well as due to its conversion into Omega-3 PUFA-LCs. However, this conversion process is limited in humans due to the reduced activity of the enzymes $\Delta 5$ and $\Delta 6$ desaturases [7,¹⁰]. Indeed, as reported in Burns-Whitmore's recent study [¹¹], researchers have questioned whether this conversion can precisely meet the human need for Omega-3 PUFA-LCs because it appears to be a very slow and incomplete process [11]. In fact, the conversion rate is 10% and 14% for men and women, respectively [¹²]. EPA and DHA biosynthesis take place mainly within the endoplasmic reticulum [¹³]. Two types of primary biosynthetic activity are required, desaturase and elongase, which enable the production of these two Omega-3 PUFAs from ALA, thanks to a series of desaturation and elongation reactions [13]. The first step is a desaturation catalysed by $\Delta 6$ -desaturase, which introduces a double bond between the existing double bond and the carboxyl end (-COOH) of the substrate fatty acid, leading to the formation of stearidonic acid (SDA) $[^{14}]$. Through the subsequent action of an elongase, SDA is elongated by two carbon atoms and eicosatetraenoic acid (ETA) is formed [14]. Finally, $\Delta 5$ -desaturase adds a double bond to the fifth C-C bond to produce the first of the two omega-3s of interest, EPA [13,14]. Subsequently, EPA

can lead to the DHA formation, through four successive steps [13]. Firstly, EPA undergoes two consecutive elongation cycles, catalysed by an elongase, giving rise first to docosapentaenoic acid (DPA) and then to tetracosapentaenoic acid (TPA) [13]. A further double bond is added to the last acid produced through the action of Δ -5 desaturase and tetracosahexanoic acid (THA) is formed, which is oxidised at the β -position and shortened by two carbon atoms to give docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) as the final product [13,14].



Fig. 1.1 A) Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and **B**) Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) molecular formula and chemical structure [12].

1.3.3 Omega -3 PUFAs food sources

As mentioned above, ALA is an essential fatty acid because it is an element that is essential for life but which the body is unable to synthesise and therefore needs to be taken in through the diet [9]. The main source of this essential fatty acid is found in green leafy vegetables, phytoplankton and algae, and in some seeds (e.g., linseed), nuts and legumes [11]. As for EPA and DHA, they can be synthesised from ALA through the action of specific enzymes, although this appears to be insufficient in humans [11]. Therefore, the intake of these Omega-3 PUFAs is mainly through the diet [12]. A study carried out in the United States between 2003 and 2008 found that the population had an average intake of 0.17g per day of Omega-3 PUFAs, which is lower than the recommended intake of 0.5g per day. Two groups of people were compared: the first group had cereal products (such as maize, rice, spelt, oats) as its main source of omega-3 fatty acids, while the second group had fish as its dominant source [15]. The result was that the first group, despite high consumption of cereal products, had a low percentage of Omega-3 PUFAs intakes, whereas the second group had a significantly higher omega-3 intake [15]. As it can be easily deduced, the share of omega-3 in the diet is mostly influenced by the supply of fish [15]. The result obtained from this study shows, therefore, that the main source of Omega-3 PUFAs, in particular EPA and DHA, is seafood, including fish, crustaceans (e.g., lobsters and molluscs), cod, salmon, mackerel, fish oil etc. [7]. This is due to the fact that the main food for the most of fishes is algae, that are rich in EPA and DHA [15]. An Australian government agency, the CSIRO, profiled the Omega-3 PUFAs content of a wide range of seafood and concluded that different types of fish can contain very different amounts (Table 1.1, taken from [7]). Furthermore, the same survey showed that different parts of the same fish contain different amounts of Omega-3 PUFAs [7].

Food	mg/150 g
	(wet weight ²)
Wild Australian seafood	
Fish	350
Shellfish	225
Prawns	180
Lobster	160
Farmed Australian fish	
Striped perch	3,700
Atlantic salmon	2,985
Barramundi	2,960
Silver perch	1,200
Other food groups	
Turkey	40
Beef	40
Chicken	40
Pork	40
Lamb	30

 Table 1.1 Average Omega-3 PUFA LCs content in wild and farmed Australian seafood together with other

 food groups relative to a typical 150g serving [7].

EPA and DHA are also contained, albeit in smaller quantities, in other foods of animal origin, such as lamb and beef, as well as in nuts $[^{16}]$.

1.3.4 Omega-3 PUFAs functions

Omega-3 PUFAs are a constituent part of cell membranes and determine their fluidity, which is essential for all the processes that take place inside the cell. The presence of Omega-3 PUFAs in cells improves their functionality and regulates the body's overall metabolism [¹⁷]. However, omega-3 has more than just a structural role [4]. A great deal of experimental research at cellular and animal level, and in humans through observational and epidemiological studies, has highlighted the regulatory actions of Omega-3 PUFAs on various body systems

(cardiovascular, immune, nervous) [4]. Regarding the mechanisms responsible for the effects of Omega-3 PUFAs, a key role is played by the interference with the eicosanoids system, mediators synthesised during inflammation, as it leads to an anti-inflammatory response [4]. Eicosanoids are lipid mediators derived from the arachidonic acid (Omega-6 PUFAs) metabolic pathway. The arachidonic acid contained in the phospholipid bilayer is released from membrane phospholipids through the action of cellular phospholipases, in particular phospholipase A2, activated by various stimuli (chemical, physical or mechanical stimuli) [18]. Subsequently, the production of eicosanoid mediators occurs through the action of two enzymatic classes: 1) cyclooxygenases (COX) convert AA into prostaglandins (PG) series-2 and thromboxane, 2) lipoxygenases (LOX) convert it into leukotrienes (LT) series-4 and lipoxins [18]. As EPA is a highly unsaturated fatty acid with 20 carbon atoms, it can also be a substrate for COX and LOX enzymes ^{[19}]. The functional significance of eicosanoid generation by EPA is that the mediators derived from it are often much less biologically active than those produced by AA ^[20]. Thus, EPA results in a decrease in the production of potent eicosanoids from arachidonic acid ('bad eicosanoids') and an increase in the production of weak eicosanoids ('good eicosanoids') [19]. Indeed, several studies in healthy human volunteers have reported a marked decrease in the production of certain eicosanoids, such as PGE2 and LT series - 4, by inflammatory cells following the intake of fish oil supplements for approximately one month [20]. Similar effects of fish oil have been observed in patients with chronic inflammatory diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) and Crohn's disease [20]. Chronic inflammation plays a key role in obesity associated metabolic diseases, such as hepatic steatosis, insulin resistance, and metabolic dysfunction in cardiovascular or reproductive systems [²¹,²²,²³,²⁴]. In fact, a chronic overfeeding, mainly characterised by an excessive saturated fatty acids intake, could determine in adipocytes an inhibition of insulin signalling and a release of macrophage chemoattractant proteins (such as TNF α , IL-6, IL-1 β , etc..), leading to amplified inflammatory response in all adipose tissue. These events lead to the insulin resistance extension of all adipose tissue, determining an increase in circulating FFA, a reduction in adiponectin and an increase in leptin levels, even at a serum level. Then, the consequent reduction in the release of insulin from pancreatic β cells, leads to systemic insulin resistance [21]. Chronic inflammation is associated to cardiovascular disease because it promotes LDL oxidation [25] as well as endothelial dysfunction. This process contributes to create atherosclerotic plaques due to fatty streak development, so remodelling arteries and microvascular blood vessels [²⁶]. Another aspect to evaluate is the effect of dietary fats on testicular function and morphology [²⁷]. Migliaccio et al. results showed that HFD altered the antioxidant system and induced oxidative damage. The oxidative injury determined morphological alterations in the seminiferous epithelium [27], where large spaces among germinal cells as well as cytoplasmic vacuolization in germinal and Sertoli cells were observed [27], probably due to lipid and/or fluid accumulation [²⁸]. Moreover, apoptotic stimuli activation was observed under the oxidative stress condition [27]. In obese subjects, the onset of male subfertility with changes in sperm parameters, motility and counting, can occur due to the high fat induced cellular oxidative stress [²⁹,³⁰,³¹]. It is also known that inflammation is a predisposing factor for cancer, as it can promote the onset of several types of tumours, especially when it is a chronic inflammatory stimulus [³²]. Inflammatory cellular pathways are strictly interrelated with metabolic dysfunction of mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) with the onset of oxidative stress and ER stress will be introduced, due to the role that they can play in the beneficial effect of Omega-3 PUFAs in human health.

Chapter 2 – Mitochondria, oxidative stress and mitochondrial dynamic behaviour

The mitochondrion is one of the most important organelles of which the eukaryotic cell is composed, since it occupies a substantial portion of the cytoplasmic volume, and it is also the fundamental ATP production seat.

2.1 Mitochondrial structure and function

Mitochondria are usually depicted as elongated, rigid cylinders with a diameter of $0.5 - 1 \ \mu m \ [^{38}]$. They consist of a system of highly organised membranes, which results in the formation of two sub-compartments: the matrix (inner) space and the intermembrane space. The most important mitochondrial functions are:

- Cell communication through the production and transport of proteins

- Cell cycle regulation

- Cell oxidoreductive state regulation

- Heme synthesis

- Cholesterol synthesis

- Energy and heat production through the electron transport chain, in which electrons from nutrient oxidation, carried by NADH, pass through four complexes,

releasing energy that is stored in the form of a proton gradient in the membrane, which is used by ATP synthase to produce ATP from ADP [³⁹]

- Apoptosis and neuronal death from glutamate toxicity

2.2 Mitochondria and oxidative stress

Free radicals are a natural by-product of cellular respiration. Indeed, during oxidative phosphorylation, superoxide anion is constantly produced, mainly at the level of complexes I and III of electron transport chain [39,⁴⁰]. Under normal conditions, a balance exists in the intracellular environment between the physiological production of oxidising agents, including ROS, and the efficiency of antioxidant defence systems [40]. Under condition in which oxidising substances are present in excessive quantities and/or antioxidant substances are significantly reduced, a condition of oxidative stress is created with an imbalance between the two species [40,⁴¹]. ROS are rapidly converted to H_2O_2 by a superoxide dismutase enzyme, MnSOD, located within the mitochondrial matrix [40]. The balance between the production and removal of ROS allows important physiological functions to take place in the cell. Sub-lethal doses of ROS can act as second messengers and modify gene expression through the activation of a nuclear protein, APE1/Ref-1 (redox sensor). In response to oxidative stress, APE1/Ref-1 protects the cell from ROS-induced damage at DNA level, through its endonuclease activity, and through the activation of transcription factors, which control the expression levels of enzymes that eliminate ROS and inhibit cell apoptosis. When this balance is disturbed, there is an increase in the levels of ROS, which cannot be eliminated and lead to a state of oxidative stress in which ROS can easily react with cellular components (carbohydrates, lipids, proteins, nucleic acids), damaging them and compromising their function. Moreover, they have the ability to transform their targets into a reactive species, triggering a chain reaction that can cause extensive damage in the cell [40]. Under these conditions, there is a high risk of cellular and sub-cellular damage, senescence and cell death, tumorigenesis induced by oxidative damage caused by DNA strand breakage and protein oxidation $[40, ^{42}]$.

2.2.1 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

Oxygen is an essential molecule for all aerobic organisms and plays a predominant role in the generation of ATP, i.e. in oxidative phosphorylation [⁴³]. During this process, ROS, including superoxide anion (O^{2-}) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), are generated as by-products, but appear to be indispensable for signal transduction pathways that regulate cell growth (e.g., Akt/PKB and MAP kinase signalling) and the intracellular redox state [40,⁴⁴]. The main source of ROS in the cell, therefore, is the mitochondrial respiratory chain [⁴⁵]. Indeed, mitochondrial complexes (particularly complexes I and III) can lose electrons and lead to the partial reduction of the superoxide anion to H_2O_2 , either spontaneously or through the action of superoxide dismutase (SOD) [⁴⁶]. Once H_2O_2 is produced, it can be reduced by the enzyme glutathione peroxidase (GPx) to H_2O [42]. ROS are
therefore generated physiologically in all cells from mitochondrial and enzymatic sources [46]. If left unchecked, these reactive species can cause oxidative damage to DNA, proteins, and membrane lipids, which can lead to deleterious consequences such as mutations and cell death [⁴⁷].

2.2.2 Superoxide dismutase (SODs)

Superoxide dismutases (SODs) are a ubiquitous family of enzymes whose function is to efficiently catalyse the dismutation of the superoxide anion O^{2-} into hydrogen peroxide H_2O_2 and molecular oxygen O_2 [46,⁴⁸,⁴⁹]. To date, three highly compartmentalised mammalian superoxide dismutases have been characterised [42]. The first enzyme to be characterised was SOD1, or CuZn-SOD, which is a homodimer containing copper and zinc and is found almost exclusively in intracellular cytoplasmic spaces [42,48]. SOD3 is the most recently discovered enzyme and is a tetramer, also containing copper and zinc, and is located exclusively in extracellular spaces [48]. Of particular interest is the enzyme SOD2, or Mn-SOD, which is a homotetramer that has manganese ion cofactors in each subunit and once encoded in the nucleus and is mainly localised in the mitochondrial matrix [48,49]. An experiment carried out in SOD2 knockout mice showed that although SOD1 and SOD2 perform the same function in a similar manner, the antioxidant functions of SOD2 in the matrix cannot be replaced by the presence of SOD1 in the intermembrane space and cytosol [48]. SOD2 function as a regulator of mitochondrial oxidants, in particular H_2O_2 and O^{2-} , is closely linked

to its function as a tumour suppressor or promoter [43]. Based on several observations in which overexpression of SOD2 leads to a delay in the growth of tumour cells in xenograft studies of different tumour types in mice, SOD2 was traditionally regarded as a tumour suppressor [48,49]. This suggests that a loss of SOD2 expression may be a tumour initiation phenotype [49]. In fact, it has been shown that changes in SOD2 expression and activity depend on tumour type [⁵⁰].

2.2.3 Glutathione peroxidase (GPx)

Glutathione Peroxidase (GPx) is an antioxidant enzyme that protects various organisms from oxidative stress by catalysing the reduction of hydrogen superoxide H₂O₂ into water H₂O, thus limiting damage, and leading to the oxidation of glutathione (GSH) [⁵¹]. Glutathione peroxidase-1 (GPx1) is the most widely expressed member of the GPx family and is a widely distributed intracellular protein in all cells, particularly in the cytoplasm and mitochondria [⁵²]. GPx1 is closely correlated with tumorigenesis and disease progression [51]. In fact, it has been reported that GPx1 plays a different role in different tumour models, so it may be involved in both pro- and anti-tumour effects, just like SOD2 [⁵³]. A study conducted on oral squamous cell carcinoma revealed that high *Gpx1* expression is significantly associated with lymph node metastases, high degree of tumour invasion and overall advanced stage [⁵⁴]. Similarly, another study in a mouse model of skin cancer showed that overexpression of *Gpx1* increased the number of tumours and promoted their growth [⁵⁵]. However, *in vitro* and *in vivo*

models of pancreatic cancer, overexpression of Gpx1 has been shown to inhibit cell growth [⁵⁶].

2.2.4 Omega-3 PUFAs effect on SOD2 and GPx1

Garrel et al. (2012) [⁵⁷] studied the effects of dietary supplementation of Omega-3 PUFAs on lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme activities in the mice brain, liver, and uterus. The mice were divided into three: the first group was fed a diet low in ALA, the second group a diet with an adequate supply of ALA, and the third group a diet enriched with EPA and DHA [57]. The presence of malondialdehydes (MDA) and the enzymatic activities of SOD1, SOD2 and the GPx family were determined in the three target organs [57]. It was found that SOD1 and GPx activities were not altered by ALA or EPA and DHA supplementation in brain tissue [58], although other studies suggested that increased SOD2 activity was a critical determinant in tolerance to diet-induced oxidative stress with a diet supplemented with Omega-3 PUFAs [42]. Randomised clinical trials (RTC) examined the effects of Omega-3 PUFAs on lipid peroxidation biomarkers (OS). In particular, marker indices were compared between subjects who received Omega-3 PUFAs supplements and subjects who received a placebo supplement [⁵⁹]. These trials showed that Omega-3 PUFAs supplementation significantly reduces peroxides production, antioxidant capacity (TAC) levels and GPx activity. So, authors concluded that Omega-3 PUFAs can be considered as enhancer factors in antioxidant defence against ROS production.

These results could be explained by the fact that Omega-3 PUFAs contain considerable amounts of unsaturated carbon-carbon double bonds, which undergo lipid peroxidation to produce low-dosage aldehydes [⁶⁰]. These aldehydes, in turn, can stimulate the production of antioxidant enzymes, thereby mitigating oxidative damage [48]. Therefore, Omega-3 PUFAs supplementation appears to improve the inhibition of oxidation and free radical production [42]. Omega-3 PUFAs can be regarded as enhancing the antioxidant defence against reactive oxygen species [42].

2.3 Mitochondrial dynamics

Mitochondria are remarkably plastic organelles, that are able to modulate their shape through fusion and fission events in equilibrium with each other, as well as to regulate their number, size and positioning within the cytoplasm [⁶¹]. These dynamic transitions are mediated by proteins encoded in the nucleus and are necessary for maintaining the morphology, distribution, and function of mitochondria in growing cells. In addition, the morphology of mitochondria varies in cells and tissues in response to external stimuli and nutrient availability, and these events are important for the regulation of cellular adaptation processes and the removal of damaged mitochondria [61,⁶²]. Mitochondrial fission (characterised by the division of one mitochondrion into two daughter mitochondria) creates new mitochondria during cell division, allowing the transport and redistribution of mitochondria and facilitating the segregation of damaged organelles, whereas

mitochondrial fusion (joining two mitochondria) allows the exchange of intramitochondrial material between them [62].

2.4.1 Mitochondrial fusion mechanism

Mitochondrial fusion is a multi-step process that ends with the union of two mitochondria [⁶³]. The first stage is fusion of the outer mitochondrial membrane, which is mediated by mitofusin (MFN1 and MFN2), a GTPase that interacts in a homo- and heterotypic manner $[^{64}]$, allowing the two mitochondria to approach each other thanks to the hydrolysis of GTP; when the two outer membranes are very close together, their fusion occurs [65]. Then, the fusion of the inner mitochondrial membrane begins, mediated by OPA-1, a dynamin-like GTPase anchored to the inner mitochondrial membrane by an N-terminal transmembrane domain exposed in the inter-membrane space [66]. OPA-1 has several sites for S2). proteolytic cleavage (S1 and There are two membrane-bound metalloproteases that allow OPA-1 to fragment into different forms, the higher molecular weight forms being referred to as L-OPA1 and the shorter forms as S-OPA1 [66]. Through the accumulation and heterotypic interaction of the cleaved forms of OPA, the inner mitochondrial membrane is brought closer together and fused [63]. Mitochondrial fusion produces tubular or elongated mitochondria and allows the exchange of intramitochondrial material and the diffusion of molecules throughout the mitochondrial compartment [64]. The exchange of mtDNA, proteins, lipids and metabolites between mitochondria is necessary to maintain genetic and biochemical homogeneity within the mitochondrial population [63]. This process helps to optimise mitochondrial function and avoids the accumulation of mutations in mtDNA due to the fact that the fusion mixes the genomes of the two mitochondria, which are thus saved from elimination by mitophagy [⁶⁷].

2.4.2 Mitochondrial fission mechanism

Mitochondrial fission is a multi-stage process that ends with the formation of two daughter mitochondria. There is an initial pre-constriction phase, in which the tubules of the endoplasmic reticulum make contact with the mitochondrion, decreasing its diameter so as to create a mitochondria-ER contact site that represents the putative mitochondrial fission point [⁶⁸]. DRP1 (a cytosolic GTPase) is then recruited at the site of constriction and binds adaptor proteins present on the outer mitochondrial membrane, forming a ring structure and, by means of conformational changes induced by GTP hydrolysis, allowing the outer mitochondrial membrane to be constricted [⁶⁹]. The formation of the ring structure of DRP1 does not allow the complete fission of the two daughter mitochondria, which remain united by a constrictive lipid neck. To complete the process, another GTPase, dynamin-2, assembles around these 'necks' to form a collar-like structure that, by hydrolysing GTP, allows the complete division of the two mitochondria [64]. The fission process is necessary to replicate mitochondria during cell division and facilitates their transport and distribution in the cell [63]. In addition, when a part of the mitochondrial network becomes dysfunctional, mitochondrial fission allows the defective mitochondria to be isolated and reduced in size for elimination [69].

2.4.3 Omega-3 PUFAs effect on mitochondrial functionality and dynamics

In table 2.1 some of studies on the effects of omega-3 PUFAs on mitochondrial functionality and dynamics are summarized. It has been shown that Omega-3 PUFAs have beneficial effects on mitochondrial function and dynamics. In fact, they can increase transcription of several factors involved into mitochondrial biogenesis, for example PGC1a (Peroxisome proliferator-activated Gamma Coactivator 1 alpha) and NRF1 (Nuclear Respiratory Factor-1) in skeletal muscle $[^{70}]$. Another important aspect is related to fatty acids utilization, through the Cpt-1 (carnitine palmitoyl transferase - 1) gene expression increase $[^{71}]$. It has been seen that Omega-3 PUFAs, in particular EPA, contribute to increase this protein both in cultured rat adipocytes [⁷²] and in skeletal muscle of rats fed a high fat diet, but supplemented with omega 3 $[^{73}]$. CPT-I is a protein involved into acyl groups transferring into mitochondria, and its expression is regulated by PPARs and AMPK. If fatty acids (including saturated fatty acids) are transferred and utilized by mitochondria, it could be avoided ectopic lipid accumulation, lipotoxicity and finally insulin resistance condition. Moreover, an increase in fatty acids utilization is also associated with a reduced ROS production and consequent inflammatory pathways in liver, together with insulin signalling improvement, associated with an increase in mitochondrial uncoupling $[^{74}]$. It is not only biogenesis and functionality to be considered among mitochondrial positive effects. We know that mitochondria are not static organelles deputed to energy and metabolic processes. As reported above, they are subject to continuous dynamics processes, called fission and fusion processes. Fission is considered negative for mitochondria because it leads to mitophagy and consequently to cell apoptosis. Fusion is considered positive because of its role in mitochondria recovery. MFN2 and OPA1, as previously reported, are two representative fusion proteins and they are found higher in rats fed a high fish oil diet then in rats fed a high lard diet, suggesting a shift toward fusion process induced by omega 3 [⁷⁵]. These findings were confirmed also in vitro studies where DHA specifically reduced DRP1 and Fis1 content in myocytes [⁷⁶]. The shift from fission to fusion process is very important, not only because it preserves mitochondrial membrane integrity, but it is also associated with an improved functionality and a reduced ROS production, as showed in HepG2 cells treated with DHA [⁷⁷]. An improved fusion mechanism could be associated with an ameliorated mitochondrial utilization of lipid substrates mediated by PPARa [70] and membranes lipid composition, linked to receptor-mediated signalling [⁷⁸]. In fact, Omega-3 PUFAs could reorganise lipid rafts, leading to the destruction of certain receptor domains, thus influencing downstream cellular mechanisms [76].

FA	<i>In vivo</i> model	In vitro model	Conc. and exposure time	Effect on mitochondria	Authors
	Male Wistar	Preadipocyte	0.3	CPT1 increase	Yan et al.,
РА	rats	cell line	mmol/L	AMPK decrease	2021 [72]
		3T3L1	for 12 –		
		HepG2 cells	24 hrs		
	C57BL/6N	C2C12 cells	100 µM	Increased oxidative	Valentine
	mice		for 48 hrs	capacity and CPT1	et al., 2018
				content	[73]
				PPAR _ð activation	
		L6 cells	$25 \mu M$ for	COX decrease	Casanova
			4 hrs	Ucp3, Ucp2 and	et al., 2014
DHA				MnSOD increase	[76]
DIIA				FIS1 and DRP1	
				decrease	
				Mitochondrial	
				membrane potential	
				decrease	
				Fragmented	
				mitochondria	

			Increase of medium	
			mitochondria	
	Skeletal	Menhaden	CAT, SOD2, GPx1	Martins et
	muscle of	(fish) oil	increase	al., 2018
	male	3,4% of	PGC1α; NRF1;	[70]
	C57BL6	Kcal	AMPK; CPT-1;	
	mice		MFN2 increase	
	Male Wistar	Menhaden	Acyl-Carnitines	Chacińska
EPA	rats	(fish) oil	decrease	et al., 2019
+		3,4% of	CPT1 increase	[71]
DHA		Kcal		
	Skeletal	40% of	AMPK-α1 mRNA	Lionetti et
	muscle and	high fat J/J	expression, CPT1	al., 2014
	liver of male	as fish oil	and PPARa	[74]
	Wistar rats	for 6 wk	increase	
	Liver of	40% of	MFN2 and OPA1	Lionetti el
	male Wistar	high fat J/J	fusion protein	al., 2013
	rats	as fish oil	increase; Fis1 and	[75]
		for 6 wk	DRP1 fission	
			protein decrease	

Table 2.1 Concentrations and time exposure of Omega-3 PUFAs into *in vivo* e *in vitro* models and their effects on mitochondrial functionality/dynamics.

Chapter 3 – Endoplasmic Reticulum (ER) and ER stress

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is a complex system of membranes circumscribing partly intercommunicating cavities [⁷⁹]. The endoplasmic reticulum is associated with the mechanisms of endo- and exocytosis that underlie the interactions and exchanges of cells with the external environment. Based on its morphological characteristics, the reticulum is divided into rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER) and smooth endoplasmic reticulum (SER). The RER plays a key role in the synthesis and maturation of proteins produced at the ribosome level that are destined to be transported outside the cell [⁸⁰]. The proteins produced in this way undergo post-translational modifications [⁸¹], both in the RER itself and in the Golgi apparatus, due to the presence of specific enzymes and the specific chemical and physical conditions of the two compartments [81].

3.1 ER stress

The endoplasmic reticulum is a highly dynamic system whose functions can be affected by a multitude of parameters depending on the cell's internal or external environment. Factors such as hypoxia, accumulation of ROS, lack of ATP, and nutrient deprivation can adversely affect the proper functioning of the reticulum. These conditions create a state of 'stress' that manifests itself in the accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins that are detrimental to cell integrity. Protein folding is a complex process that depends on the interaction of chaperones,

glycosylation enzymes, as well as calcium levels and the redox potential of the environment. To survive these stressful conditions, cells trigger a protective mechanism called the Unfolded Protein Response (UPR) [82]. To date, four functionally distinct mechanisms of endoplasmic reticulum stress response have been identified. The first involves attenuation of protein synthesis through phosphorylation of eIF2 α (eukaryotic translation initiation factor-2 α), which inhibits binding of the initiator Met-tRNA to the ribosome [83]. The second response is to increase the expression of genes encoding endoplasmic reticulum chaperone proteins including BIP/GRP78, Hsp70, which increase the folding capacity of the reticulum and prevent protein aggregation [⁸⁴]. The third response is the degradation of proteins with altered conformation by a ubiquitinationproteasome mechanism, called ERAD (ER associated degradation). Aberrant proteins are recognised by the reticulum control system, back transported from the ER to the cytosol, and degraded via the proteasome [85]. When reticulum functions are irreversibly impaired, the cell undergoes apoptosis through activation of caspase proteins, JNK (c-jun N-terminal kinase) or through transcriptional induction of CHOP (CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein homologous) [⁸⁶].

3.2 Omega-3 PUFAs and ER stress

Literature data showed that Omega-3 PUFAs could influence ER functionality and ER stress onset [⁸⁷,⁸⁸]. Saturated fatty acids can induce ER stress and apoptosis leading to inflammation and degeneration [⁸⁹,⁹⁰]. Both *in vitro* [⁹¹] and *in vivo*

studies [92] showed that Omega-3 PUFAs could reduce this condition counteracting damage induced by lipotoxicity and saturated fatty acids overload also associated with insulin resistance [75]. In table 3.1, concentrations and time exposure of Omega-3 PUFAs into in vivo and in vitro models and their effects on ER stress are reported. In a study carried out in white adipose tissue (WAT) from high fat diet fed rats, it has been shown that supplementation with fish oil led to an increase in phosphorylated AMPK expression and activity with an associated ER stress reduction, through its markers decrease, such as phosphorylated eIF2 α and CHOP, together with *GRP78*, *ERdj4* and *EDEM* gene expression reduction [⁹³]. These data were also confirmed in pancreatic tissue from KK mice with type 2 diabetes fed a diet rich in fish oil [⁹⁴], thus preventing dysfunction of pancreatic β cells and consequent diabetes condition and other studies where a reduction of ER stress via AMPK activation was found [95], associated with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) prevention [⁹⁶]. Another important aspect to be considered is resolvins production induced by Omega-3 EPA and DHA. They are a family of proteins with anti-inflammatory and preventive properties against obesity-induced dysmetabolic diseases. In particular, it has been shown that one of them, resolvin D1 (RvD1), in addition to an anti-inflammatory effect, induced a reduction in ER stress condition in HepG2 cells, thus preventing increased caspase 3 activity, cell apoptosis, ectopic lipid accumulation and insulin resistance condition [⁹⁷]. This mechanism is explained through the JNK/caspase 3- mediated pathway involved

when the cell is under ER stress condition. So, Jung et al. [97] suggested the novel finding that treatment of HepG2 cells with RvD1 suppressed both ER stressinduced apoptosis through the JNK/caspase 3-mediated pathway and lipid accumulation through the JNK/SREBP-1-dependent pathway [98]. Noteworthy, ER stress and mitochondrial dynamics are strictly correlated, because of duplex activity exerted by MFN2. In fact, this protein is not only involved into fusion process but also into maintenance of Mitochondria-Associated ER Membranes (MAMs) integrity. MAMs represent points where mitochondria and the ER have physical contact and communicate. Their maintenance is important into calcium efflux through GRP75 that links IP3R on ER membrane and VDAC on outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM). It is well known that calcium is very important into metabolic processes, including mitochondrial metabolism. It has been suggested that Omega-3 PUFAs could influence the exchange of phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) between ER and mitochondria [99] due to their possible role into membrane remodelling and conjugation to its phospholipids [91, 100].

			Conc. and		
PUFA	In vivo model	In vitro model	exposure	Effect on ER	Authors
			time		
		3T3-L1	50, 100,	p-AMPK increase; p-	Yang et
		cells	150 µM	eIF2α and CHOP	al., 2017
DHA			for 24	decrease; GRP78,	[92]
			hrs	ERdj4 and EDEM gene	
				expression decrease	
	WAT of		15,92%	p- eIF2 α and CHOP	Yang et
EPA	male		of Fish	decrease; GRP78,	al., 2017
+	C57BL/6J		oil diet	<i>ERdj4</i> and <i>EDEM</i> gene	[92]
DHA	mice		for 12	expression decrease	
			wks		

Table 3.1 Concentrations and time exposure of Omega-3 PUFAs into *in vivo* e *in vitro* models and their effects on ER stress.

Chapter 4 – Omega-3 PUFAs effects on obesity related metabolic diseases

4.1 Omega-3 PUFAs and hepatic functionality

4.1.1 Hepatic steatosis and Metabolic Associated Fatty Liver Disease (MAFLD)

The pathogenesis of NAFLD is complex and not completely understood. At organism level, it is well known that hepatic injury may occur when the capacity of the hepatocyte to cope with an increased level of circulating fatty acids (FFA) is exceeded [^{101,102}]. However, a group of experts came to the conclusion that it is more appropriate to talk about a metabolic associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) in order to help patients towards the right therapy, given the causes heterogeneity [¹⁰³]. Hepatic inflammation induced by the deposition of lipid droplets in the hepatocytes is considered playing a key role in the etiopathogenesis of NAFLD/MAFLD [^{104,105}]. At organ level, inflammation is due to the interplay of different cellular types, parenchymal and non-parenchymal liver cells which by means of chemokines and cytokines bias each other's. Hepatocytes are in close proximity to non-parenchymal cells e.g., immune cells (Kupffer cells or macrophages) like as hepatic stellate cells (HSC), and this is the reason for which common or overlapping pathways regulate both metabolic and immune functions

through common key regulatory molecules and signaling systems giving rise to metabolically or nutritionally induced inflammatory responses [¹⁰⁶]. At cellular level, increased levels of hepatic triglycerides are associated with mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress [¹⁰⁷], and the stress of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), which, by activating the unfolded protein response (UPR) signaling pathway, may induce inflammatory and apoptotic process [¹⁰⁸].

4.1.2 Omega-3 PUFAs and MAFLD

Dietary fat sources differently affect cellular metabolism, with different effects on metabolic disease risks. Studies in rodents and humans showed that Omega-3 PUFAs can reduce obesity and related diseases by reducing fat deposition and stimulating mitochondria fat oxidation and fusion processes [^{109,110}]. In a previous work carried out in our lab, chronic overfeeding with a high fat diet rich in Omega-3 PUFAs (fish oil) induced less hepatic lipid accumulation compared to a diet rich in saturated fatty acids (lard) through the improvement of mitochondrial fatty acid utilisation, reduction of oxidative stress and maintenance of mitochondrial fusion/fission balance, whereas saturated fatty acids induced oxidative stress and mitochondrial fission processes associated with a higher degree of hepatic steatosis [74]. Different fatty acids also seem to have different effect on ER stress onset. It has been shown *in vitro* that saturated fatty acids (FA) (such as palmitic acid) can induced endoplasmic reticulum stress (ER stress) and apoptosis leading to inflammation and/or degeneration in the liver [^{111,112,113}]. Study *in vitro* showed

that polyunsaturated fatty acids, such as alpha-linolenic acid, protects against endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated apoptosis of stearic acid lipotoxicity [75] and it has been suggested that may provide a useful strategy to avoid the lipotoxicity of dietary palmitic acid and nutrient overload accompanied with obesity and NAFLD [74]. Initially the UPR seems to reestablish ER homeostasis but if ER stress is unresolved, apoptosis is triggered [¹¹⁴,¹¹⁵,¹¹⁶]. In the early phase of UPR, the phosphorylation of eIF2 α , as previously described, leads to the rapid attenuation of protein translation in order to reduce protein overload to ER. In the later stages of UPR, eIF2 α is dephosphorylated to allow ER stress resolution. If the ER stress is not relieved, it could lead to apoptosis, due to the prolonged eIF2 α phosphorylation. To resolve this problem, MFN2 can take action: in fact, it represents also a contact point between ER and mitochondria, so adapting the ER to stress. In particular, it could reduce eIF2 α phosphorylation, blocking apoptotic processes.

4.2 Omega-3 PUFAs and reproductive function in obesity related diseases

The replacement of lard with fish oil attenuated the development of obesity, as well as systemic and tissue inflammation, ameliorating histological features in different tissues, such as testicular tissue, that can be damaged by high-fat diet impairing reproductive function [117]. Several studies have been carried out to shed

light on the effects of fat overnutrition on male fertility. Low Omega-3 PUFAs and high SFA levels have been shown to be negatively correlated with altered sperm fatty acid profiles in human spermatozoa [¹¹⁸], as well as with reduction in fertilization capacity [¹¹⁹,¹²⁰]. The positive effects of Omega-3 PUFAs in dietary patterns on male fertility parameters and fecundability were recently reviewed [¹²¹]. Castillo and co-workers showed that Omega-3 PUFAs supplementation played a protective role in rat testis by reducing oxidative damage caused by intermittent hypobaric hypoxia through the reinforcement of antioxidant defence system [¹²²]. Noteworthy, infertility may be included among the physiological dysfunction induced by impairment of cellular antioxidant system, including both mitochondrial and cytosolic antioxidant enzymes. Regarding this aspect, mitochondria represent important cellular organelles with a pivotal role in reproductive function, as they represent the principal site of ROS generation and provide energy to support cellular maturation and differentiation during spermatogenesis, as well as sperm motility, capacitation, and fertilizing ability [¹²³]. However, the exact role of sperm mitochondria is especially controversial, with a key role of mitochondria-generated ROS function in signalling and apoptotic pathway [¹²⁴]. Castillo et al. [122] showed that Omega-3 PUFAs induced increases in both superoxide dismutase (SODs) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) activities, suggesting that these enzymatic activities mainly acted as homeostatic mechanisms to counteract the increased oxidative stress [¹²⁵]. In accordance, other researchers demonstrated that a pre-treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs reduced doxorubicin-induced oxidative damages and apoptosis in testis by increasing antioxidant system activity and improving tissular tissue morphology [125]. Most recently, *in vivo* analyses showed that a high SFA diet (34.9% fat) induced testicle stress and Sertoli cells apoptosis in association with increase in ROS levels. Moreover, the same authors demonstrated that Omega-3 PUFAs supplementation *in vitro* protected Sertoli cells from the harmful effect of palmitic acid, preventing cellular oxidative stress and apoptosis [122,125,¹²⁶]. In a recent work carried out in the lab where I performed my PhD thesis project, it was found that antioxidant activity plays a key role in the control of cellular stress, apoptosis and tissular damage in rat testis [27]. In fact, it was showed that high SFA diet (45% fat) negatively affected antioxidant system in rat testis by inducing malondialdehyde (MDA) accumulation as a product of lipid peroxidation and apoptosis.

Chapter 5 - Antiproliferative/anticancer effects of Omega-3 PUFAs and their contribution to enhance anticancer drug effect.

5.1 Tumour definition

The term 'tumour' refers to a pathological condition characterised by the uncontrolled proliferation of cells that have the capacity to infiltrate the body's normal organs and tissues and alter their structure and function [¹²⁷]. Malignant tumours (or cancer) can invade neighbouring tissues or spread to other organs [128]. As they grow, some cancer cells can detach themselves from their site of origin and travel through the blood or lymphatic system to distant places in the body and produce metastases [127]. Cancer cells have characteristics that differentiate them from normal cells and allow them to grow unchecked [127]. They are also less specialised than normal cells. Thus, while normal cells transform into cell types with specific functions, cancer cells do not develop their own specialisation, but grow as they are without stopping, partly because they are able to ignore both the signals that cause them to do so and the signals of apoptosis, the natural, genetically controlled process of programmed cell death, in which cells are eliminated from the body without causing tissue damage [127]. Without apoptosis, the body cannot eliminate unnecessary cells, which thus form a mass [127].

5.2 Chemotherapy, radiotherapy and immunotherapy

Cancer treatments such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy and immunotherapy are essential for curing and slowing down the progression of cancer [¹²⁹]. In particular, chemotherapy involves the administration of one or more substances capable of attacking the most rapidly multiplying cells i.e., cancer cells, during the replication process [¹³⁰]. Chemotherapeutic substances used in oncology prevent cell multiplication by interfering with the mechanisms involved in this process, and in so doing eliminate cancer cells by inducing their death (cytotoxic action) [130]. Tumour cells reproduce much more rapidly than normal cells, so the effect of chemotherapy is mainly felt in fast-growing tumours, as it is able to block or slow down their development and even reduce their volume; but it also affects certain types of healthy cells that are subject to rapid replication (such as cells in the hair bulbs, blood and the mucous membranes of the digestive system). This explains the most common side-effects of these treatments (hair loss, anaemia and a drop in the immune system, vomiting, diarrhoea and inflammation or infection of the mouth), which sometimes worry patients more than the disease itself. It should be pointed out that chemotherapy drugs have changed over time and are now more effective and less toxic than in the past. Side effects vary according to the type, dose and method of administration, and can also be counteracted, as in the case of nausea and vomiting, by complementary treatments (supportive or "ancillary"

therapies). Thus, chemotherapy fights cancer effectively and is still irreplaceable in the treatment of most cancers.

5.3 Omega-3 PUFAs and antiproliferative/anticancer effect

Omega-3 PUFAs, due to their particular structure, are considered as remodelling molecules into membrane domains able to influence intra and extracellular signalling [¹³¹]. For example, DHA presence determines an increase in membrane fluidity, more disordered areas, an increase in ionic permeability, and the suppression of certain protein functions including, the inhibition of the epidermal growth factor (EGFR) [¹³²]. In fact, since there will be a "disassembly" of the lipid raft, there will be a dissociation of EGFR and its reduced expression. The various aberrant signalling pathways that could be directly involved in the development of cancer are thus modulated $[^{133}]$. Several studies have been conducted on the role played by Omega-3 PUFAs in relationship with neoplastic diseases. In some of them, a particular ability has been observed to slow down and even inhibit tumour growth and induce the related cells death [¹³⁴,¹³⁵,¹³⁶]. Several animal studies showed that the consumption of Omega-3 PUFAs can slow the growth of malignant tumours, increase the chemotherapy effectiveness, and reduce the side effects of chemotherapy and/or cancer [32]. In addition, epidemiological studies indicated that populations consuming high amounts of Omega-3 PUFAs have a reduced incidence of breast, prostate and colon cancer compared to populations with a less omega-3-rich diet [32]. Several studies have been carried out to identify

the molecular mechanisms behind the antineoplastic activity of Omega-3 PUFAs [32]. Omega-3 PUFAs are incorporated into tumour cells phospholipid membrane and cause an alteration in the lipid rafts structure, fluidity, and function [91]. These changes in the phospholipid bilayer affect the activity of membrane receptors (e.g. receptors for growth factors), inhibiting signalling pathways involved in proinflammatory molecules activation and inducing apoptosis so limiting tumour cells survival [32,91]. Therefore, one of the molecular mechanisms underlying the antitumour effect of Omega-3 PUFAs relates to their anti-inflammatory role, by modulating COX activity and reducing the production of pro-inflammatory, and therefore pro-tumoral mediators [20,¹³⁷]. Moreover, the mechanism by which Omega-3 PUFAs induces apoptosis is closely related to the redox environment within the cells [137]. Indeed, it has been shown that Omega-3 PUFAs can induce an increase in the apoptotic potential of tumour cells by increasing the intracellular concentration of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [137]. In particular, ROS cause a loss of potential by the mitochondrial membrane, where a channel is formed (permeability transition pore) that causes the release of proteins involved in the apoptosis mechanism, through the activation of a chain of specific enzymes (caspase 3 and caspase 9) [42,45,47].

5.4 Omega-3 PUFAs and their contribution to enhance anticancer drug effect

5.4.1 Omega-3 PUFAs in combination with anticancer drugs

Due to their possible role together with anticancer drugs, in last decades Omega-3 PUFAs are receiving an increasing attention [¹³⁸]. In fact, in addition to the studies mentioned above, Siddiqui et al. [¹³⁹] have considered particularly a combination between docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and anticancer drugs, because of their major efficacy. In fact, it has been seen that they might contribute to enhance anticancer drugs efficacy into different metabolic activities, such as increased drug transport, cell cycle arrest, cell growth and proliferation reduction and finally apoptosis induction. In particular, the most relevant mechanism attributed to their combination was lipid peroxidation, the increase of which has been found as consequence of the concomitant administration of Omega-3 PUFAs and the drugs.

5.4.2 Focus on the prodrug Capecitabine and its metabolic pathway

Capecitabine is currently the only universally approved 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) prodrug due to its clinical efficacy [130]. In fact, in several clinical studies, the prodrug has been shown to be an effective substitute for 5-FU, because it exhibits less toxicity when administered as a single agent or in combination with other cytotoxic agents [¹⁴⁰]. The prodrug has been included in the essential drugs list drawn up by the WHO (World Health Organization) and has been approved by the

FDA (Food and Drug Administration) in the chemotherapy treatment of solid tumours, such as metastatic breast and colorectal cancer. The daily dose of prodrug administered orally is $1,250 \text{ mg} / \text{m}^2$; it reaches plasma concentration in 1.5-2hours; it is rapidly absorbed within the gastrointestinal tract, overcoming the intestinal mucosa in unchanged form, thus avoiding local toxicity problems. Finally, it is eliminated through renal excretion [¹⁴¹]. Therefore, capecitabine is not a cytotoxic drug but, once absorbed, it is metabolized in the liver and converted into 5-FU, through a three-phase enzyme cascade within human cancer cells $[^{142}]$. The first phase takes place in the liver, organ appointed to the main metabolic and biotransformation pathway for drugs. In fact, inside the liver, capecitabine (CAP) is transformed by the hepatic carboxylesterase (EC) enzyme into 5'-deoxy-5fluoricitin (DFCR); the latter is then metabolized into 5'-deoxy-5-fluoridine (DFUR) by cytidine deaminase (CyD), a ubiquitous enzyme presents at high concentrations in the liver, plasma and tumour tissue. The second phase consists into the transfer of 5'-deoxy-5-fluoridine (DFUR) out of the hepatic cells and its entry into the circulatory system to reach the tumour tissue. Here the conversion to the active drug 5-FU takes place. The intratumoral activation of the prodrug allows to minimize the exposure of the tissues to 5-FU and thus to reduce the systemic toxic effects [141,¹⁴³]. Finally, 5-FU formation represents a key step in the metabolism of capecitabine, catalysed by a thymidine phosphorylase (TP), an enzyme presents in higher concentrations in solid tumours than in adjacent normal tissues, which allows to have a final concentration of about 3 times higher than normal tissues [¹⁴⁴]. 5-FU in cancer cells is converted into two active cytotoxic metabolites:

- **5-fluor-deoxy-uridin-monophosphate** (FdUMP) by a *thymidine phosphorylase* (TP) and a *thymidine kinase* (TK). The newly formed cytotoxic product blocks the enzymatic activity of thymidine synthase (TS), causing the synthesis of the thymidine nitrogen base, consequently interfering and inhibiting DNA synthesis;

- **5-fluor- uridine-triphosphate** (FUTP), which is incorporated in nuclear and cytoplasmic RNA (ribonucleic acid) with consequent alteration of its functions [¹⁴⁵].

Despite several studies has carried out and obtained lots of results, it has not yet been determined whether 5-FU has a lethal cytotoxic effect or a transitory inhibitory effect on cell proliferation. However, it has been observed that 5-FU can alter the cell membrane functions, causing changes in the transmembrane electrical potential [¹⁴⁶] and structural alterations through interference with glycoproteins synthesis [¹⁴⁷]. Although the multiple biochemical functions performed by 5-FU have not been fully clarified, the most important function is attributed to the TS enzyme inhibition by FdUMP, that is also the best-known mechanism of 5-FU [¹⁴⁸]. The increase of TS inhibition observed in cancer cells is probably due to the antiproliferative action caused by the same drug. Consequently, the Fas / FasL system could be considered as a new determinant to guarantee the efficacy of the drug. For example, in human colorectal LS174T cells treated with capecitabine 300 µM for 48h together with human HepG2 hepatoma cells, an overexpression of the CD95-Fas receptor on the surface of prodrug-sensitive cells was detected by flow cytometric analysis, whereas no significant increase was found in the other cells, such as human colorectal adenocarcinoma cells (CaCo2) $[^{149}]$, because they don't have Fas receptor on cell surface, thus resulting resistant to therapy $[^{150}]$. Therefore, the involvement of the Fas / FasL pathway is very important for fluoropyrimidine drugs, such as capecitabine, to function properly [¹⁵¹,¹⁵²]. In fact, in Fas/FasL system deficient cells it has been shown that these drugs show no efficacy [¹⁵³]. In addition, preclinical and clinical studies were conducted to demonstrate how an overexpression of the enzyme results into an increase in sensitivity to 5'-DFUR or capecitabine through a direct transfection of human TP cDNA into cancer cells or its cytokine-mediated induction, chemotherapy or irradiation drugs [¹⁵⁴].

5.4.3 Effects of Omega-3 PUFAs combination with capecitabine

Omega-3 PUFAs are considered very important into cancer prevention, as the oxidative stress caused by chemotherapy drugs is associated with lipid peroxidation. Omega-3 PUFAs lipid peroxidation contributes to alter membrane lipid bilayer permeability and fluidity, thus compromising cell integrity [¹⁵⁵]. So, they could be used as supplementation combined to chemotherapy drugs, as well

as they make cells more susceptible to oxidative stress, mainly in DHA case, because of its structure with six double bonds. So, it is considered more susceptible to peroxidation induced by oxidative stress, leading to a cell proliferation decrease and cell death induction $[^{156}]$. It is also known how chemotherapy drugs induce several side effects. Capecitabine, for instance, also induces cachexia and dysmetabolic diseases, such as dyslipidemia. Neoplastic cachexia represents a weight loss condition associated with physical weakening and mental deterioration and affects about half of individuals with cancer and, which in 10-25% of patients can be the cause of death [¹⁵⁷]. In addition to the cachexia condition, it also induces a consequent debilitative situation, in which the patient, already compromised by the oncological condition, is unable to support the therapy to which he is subjected. In order to minimize these collateral effects, it was thought to supplement chemotherapy with bioactive compounds, such as Omega-3 PUFAs due to their important role into cancer prevention. For example, EPA (2g/kg) and DHA (2,25g/kg) were administered in mice to which colon adenocarcinoma MAC16 was induced [¹⁵⁸]. It represents a highly resistant tumor and therefore, it is a valid representative model for studying chemotherapy interactions. Chemotherapy treatment of solid tumors with 5-FU associated with fatty acids has produced remarkable results. 5-FU alone (80mg/kg) inhibited the growth of the MAC16 tumor but induced cachexia, i.e., body weight loss. On the other hand, the combination of the chemotherapy drug with EPA was effective in preventing the

development of cachexia [159,160], without any interference towards the antitumor effectiveness of drug, suggesting that a fish oil- containing supplement can be taken during chemotherapy [¹⁶¹]. Indeed, the action of Omega-3 EPA during chemotherapy with capecitabine induced an increase in lean body mass in cachectic patients, resulting in greater therapy sustainability [161]. However, DHA showed no significant effects on tumor growth or weight loss. Another important aspect to be considered is Omega-3 PUFAs involvement into ameliorating lipidic profile compromised by chemotherapy treatment and characterized by a severe hyperlipidemia and hypertriglyceridemia [¹⁶²]. In fact, several studies have capecitabine demonstrated that could induce hypertriglyceridemia, hypercholesterolemia [¹⁶³,¹⁶⁴] and hyperglycemia [161,¹⁶⁵] although the causes are still unclear. In a case study conducted by Leung et al. [162] on a 60-year-old female patient who was diagnosed with a colon adenocarcinoma,17 days after the second treatment cycle with capecitabine (given at a dose of 1000 mg/m^2 for days 1-14 of a 21-day cycle), the patient presented a mixed hyperlipidemia 24mmol/L (2126 mg/dL) for triglyceride, and 8.1 mmol/L (313 mg/dL) for total cholesterol. So, she was treated with simvastatin 20 mg nightly (later increased to 40 mg due to the excessive triglyceride levels) and Omega-3 fatty acid ethyl esters (Omacor) 2 g a day. After one week of this treatment, it could be seen that patient's triglyceride decreased to 3.9 mmol/L (151 mg/dL) and cholesterol levels to 5.9 mmol/L (228 mg/dL). In addition, the patient was given a restrictive diet, in which the only lipids were represented by Omega-3 PUFAs, in order to keep stable triglyceridemia and cholesterolemia levels. In conclusion, this study has highlighted the importance of food therapy in cases where chemotherapy brings serious metabolic side effects, in order to avoid stopping cancer therapy. Although the specific mechanism by which capecitabine compromises the lipid profile of the treated patients has not been clarified, from the cellular point of view the pathway through which Omega-3 PUFAs combined with the drug has been able to induce apoptosis in cancer cells has been identified. Some studies have showed that DHA, in combination with low-dose 5-FU, could also represent a chemotherapy approach with low toxicity. Indeed, DHA in combination with 5-FU in patients at high risk for colon cancer has produced positive results. DHA would not only potentiate the pro-apoptotic effect induced by 5-FU, increasing the inhibitory effect of 5-FU on the expression of the anti-apoptotic proteins BCL-2 and BCL-X, but it would also induce overexpression of the gene that drives apoptosis, p53, by sensitizing cancer cells to the action of the prodrug [149]. Furthermore, it has been shown that in subjects at high risk of developing colorectal cancer the treatment of human CRC cells with EPA and DHA has resulted in a reduction in cell proliferation and an increase in apoptosis [¹⁶⁶]. In the study conducted by Zhuo et al [¹⁶⁷], several markers of apoptosis were evaluated, including β -actin, FAS, BCL-2, BIM, BCL2L12, BAX, CASPASE-9 and CASPASE-3 gene expression after combined treatment between DHA and capecitabine. They choose DHA instead of EPA or both Omega-3 PUFAs because of tested effects into *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies against different types of cancer. For example, it acts on lipid peroxidation [^{168,169}], enhances cell cycle arrest and apoptosis [¹⁷⁰] and decreases cell proliferation through an inhibition of the MAPK [¹⁷¹] and TCF- β -catenin signaling pathway [¹⁷²] So, researchers demonstrated that cell cycle inhibition and apoptosis increase were higher in cells treated with CAP combined to DHA. In fact, Bcl-2 decreased, associated with an increase in BAX content, confirming a greater cytochrome C leakage. These events also determined a reduction in the mitochondrial membrane potential, triggering the irreversible sequence of the apoptotic pathway, although caspase 3 did not show variations and caspase 9 was even down- regulated.

Chapter 6 - Thesis purpose

The aim of the present PhD thesis was to evaluate Omega-3 PUFAs protective effects on cellular metabolism and the role of protein involved in mitochondrial fusion/fission processes and/or ER stress in two different experimental design:

- 1. *in vivo* model of high fat induced obesity (high fat fed male Wistar rats), to evaluate Omega-3 PUFAs effects on cell metabolic dysfunction associated with high fat induced obesity in hepatic and reproductive tissues.
- in vitro cellular model of tumoral hepatic cells (HepG2) to assess the effect of Omega-3 PUFAs on cell metabolism in association with an anticancer prodrug, such as capecitabine.

In the first experimental design, the effect of high fat diet rich in fish oil (HFO diet) compared to high fat diet rich in lard (HL diet) during chronic high-fat feeding (six-week period) was assessed in male *Wistar* rats. This experimental model was previously used in the lab where I carried out my PhD project to assess obesity and insulin resistance development as well as mitochondrial function and dynamics behaviour in hepatic tissue [74], taking into account that the imbalances in fusion/fission processes may be involved in obesity and insulin resistance. The high-fish oil feeding elicited a lower degree of obesity development and insulin resistance compared to high-lard feeding, suggesting that Omega-3 PUFAs have anti-obesity effect and potential benefits for insulin resistance in accordance with

previous studies [74,¹⁷³,¹⁷⁴]. Moreover, the results showed that the HL diet induced hepatic fat accumulation and insulin resistance, in association with the impairment of mitochondrial function, oxidative stress and a shift towards fission processes. On the other hand, HFO diet led to less hepatic lipid accumulation through an improvement of mitochondrial fatty acid utilisation, which was concomitant with a fusion phenotype similar to that of the control group [74]. Considering the relationship between mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum, in the present PhD thesis project, I further investigate the effect of the chronic overfeeding with saturated or Omega-3 PUFAs in hepatic tissue of male Wistar rats to assess ER stress onset and its association with protein involved in mitochondrial fusion/fission processes and mitochondria-ER connection, namely MFN2. To this end, by using western blot analysis, I evaluated hepatocyte ER stress sensors (GRP78, CHOP), MFN2 and DRP1 content and, finally, apoptosis. This kind of study is particularly relevant since the factors that induce ER stress in chronic disease models or in humans are still poorly understood and may be useful to better understand the mechanism by which Omega-3 PUFAs may exert their beneficial effects in vivo in models of chronic hepatic injury. High fat feeding induced obesity is also associated with metabolic dysfunction in reproductive system. Obesity is known to disrupt male fertility and the reproduction potential, particularly through alteration in the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis, disruption of testicular steroidogenesis and metabolic dysregulation [¹⁷⁵].

Considering the contribution of mitochondria to ROS production as well as the emerging role of mitochondrial dynamics in cell homeostasis, during my PhD experimental work, I used the same experimental animal model of chronic highfat feeding with lard (HL diet) or fish oil (HFO diet), to assess oxidative stress defence markers and mitochondrial dynamic protein contents in testis. Oxidative stress and antioxidant defences were assessed by measuring the level of MDA and the activity of the main antioxidant enzymes activities, namely SODs and GPx activities. The content of the pro-apoptotic protein Bcl-2-associated X protein (BAX) was determined by western blotting together with caspase 3 activity to evaluate the trigger of apoptosis. Finally, the effect of HFO vs. HL diet on mitochondrial dynamics was assessed by analysing the amount of DRP1, the main protein involved in fission process, and MFN2, the main protein involved in fusion process. The results of the in vivo experimental model could contribute to confirm the role of Omega-3 PUFAs as bioactive compounds targeting mitochondria and ER stress and could shed light on the role of mitochondrial fusion/fission protein in the mechanisms by which Omega-3 PUFAs exert their benefit in different tissues, contributing to the maintenance of cellular homeostasis and overall health under condition of high fat feeding.

In the second experimental design, *in vitro* cellular model of tumoral hepatic cells (HepG2) has been utilized to assess the effect of Omega-3 PUFAs in combination with capecitabine, a chemotherapy prodrug. The study focused on EPA and DHA,

as they could influence downstream cellular mechanisms. Therefore, they are considered bioactive compounds and, probably, they also influence cancer mechanisms. To clarify this possible role, in the present PhD thesis the combination of EPA or DHA treatment with the anticancer prodrug capecitabine was analyzed [¹⁷⁶,¹⁷⁷] in HepG2 cells to assess the effect on cell viability, mitochondrial dynamics markers MFN2 and DRP1 and antioxidant defenses markers. This kind of study may help to shed light on the mechanisms involved in cell response to anticancer drugs in presence of bioactive compounds.

The results of the present PhD thesis could be useful to understand the underlying mechanisms of Omega-3 PUFAs protective effects towards obesity associated metabolic disease and in cancer treatment.
Chapter 7 – *In vivo* Experimental Design 1 – Omega-3 PUFAs effects on liver and testis cell metabolism in high fat fed rats

7.1 Materials and methods

7.1.1 Ethics Statement

The experimental design 1 was conducted in accordance with recommendations in the EU Directive p2010/63/ for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. The protocol was approved by the Committee on the Ethics of Animal Experiments of the University of Naples "Federico II" (Permit Number: 2010/0149862, 16 December 2010).

7.1.2. Materials

The chemicals to compose all buffers used for the experiments were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). The fish oil used to feed "F" animals was cod liver oil (New.Fa.Dem. srl, Giugliano, Naples, Italy).

7.1.3 Experimental Design

Data showed in the present PhD thesis were obtained by working on samples of tissues from rats previously treated in the animal house of Department of Biology, University of Naples, by the research group of the PhD thesis tutor. Male *Wistar* rats, age 60 days (Charles River Italia, Calco, Como, Italy), were caged separately in a temperature-controlled room at 24 °C with a 12 h light-dark cycle in the animal

house of Department of Biology, University of Naples "Federico II". After one week of acclimation, rats were divided into three experimental groups (eight rats for each group) with a similar mean body weight (approximately 400 g) and with the body weights normally distributed within each group.

The first group (N rats) received a standard diet (10.6% fat J/J); the second group (L rats) received a high-fat diet rich in lard (HL diet,40% fat J/J); the third group (F rats) received a high-fat diet rich in fish-oil (HFO diet, 40% fat J/J). The animals were fed ad libitum and the period of treatment lasted six weeks. Diet compositions are shown in Table 7.1. The two high-fat diets have the same fat energy content, but they differ in the source of fat. In fact, HL diet was obtained using lard as source of saturated fatty acids (SFA), whereas HFO diet was obtained by using fish oil as source of Omega-3 PUFAs. The two high-fat diets were formulated to differ from the standard low-fat diet in fat and carbohydrate contribution to the energy value but to be identical in terms of proteins, vitamins, minerals and fibers. Throughout the experimental period, body weights and food intakes were monitored daily. Food spilled was carefully collected and accounted for in the food intake calculations. The experimental design was repeated twice (different rats being used each time) for all the required measurements to be made. In particular, three groups of eight rats (N, F, L) were fasted overnight to determine basal glucose and serum insulin levels.

At the end of the experimental period of six weeks, the rats were anesthetized by an intraperitoneal injection of *Zoletil* (40 mg/Kg body weight) and euthanized by decapitation. Blood was taken via the inferior vena cava. Liver and testicles were immediately removed, weighted, and processed in accordance with the experimental procedures used. Hepatic and testis slices were either immediately processed for morphological analysis or frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for later processing. During my Ph.D. research period, I worked on these tissues previously taken and properly preserved.

Component	Control Diet	High – Fat Diet	
		High lard (HL) g/100 g	High fish oil (HFO) g/100 g
Standard feed (g)	100	51.03	51.03
Casein ¹ (g)	-	9.25	9.25
Lard (g)	-	21.8	-
Fish oil ² (g)	-	-	21.8
Sunflower oil (g)	-	1.24	1.24
AIN 76Mineral mix ³ (g)	-	1.46	1.46
AIN 76Vitamin mix ⁴ (g)	-	0.42	0.42
Choline bitartrate (g)	-	0.08	0.08
Methionine (g)	-	0.12	0.12
Energy density (kJ/g diet)	15.88	20.0	20.0
Protein %	20.0	29.0	29.0
Lipid %	10.6	40.0	40.0
Carbohydrates %	60.4	31.0	31.0

Table 7.1 Diet composition. ¹Purified high-nitrogen casein containing 88% protein; ²Fish oil = The fish oil used was cod liver oil (New.Fa.Dem. srl, Giugliano, Naples, Italy) containing vitamin A (50–500 UI/g; 15–150 µg) and vitamin D3 (50 U.I./g; 1.3 µg); EPA \approx 722 mg/Kg body weight/die and DHA \approx 1153 mg/kg body weight/die; ³American Institute of Nutrition (1977); ⁴ American Institute of Nutrition (1980).

7.1.4 Serum parameters determination

Serum levels of triglycerides (TGs) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) were determined using standard procedures [¹⁷⁸]. Serum glucose and insulin values were determined by means of a glucose monitor (BRIO, Ascensia, NY) calibrated for use with rats and with ELISA (Mercodia rat insulin; Mercodia, Uppsala, Sweden), respectively.

7.1.5 Hepatic lipid content

Lipid content was determined gravimetrically after extraction in chloroform– methanol and evaporation to constant weight with a rotating evaporator (Heidolph, Germany) according to the method described by Folch [¹⁷⁹].

7.1.6 Haematoxylin and Eosin staining

Liver sections were spread on slides and stained with haematoxylin and eosin to observe the morphological status of tissue. This technique is based on the combination of two histological stains: haematoxylin and eosin [¹⁸⁰]. The haematoxylin revealed cell nuclei coloured as purplish blue, and eosin stains the extracellular matrix and cytoplasm pink, with other structures taking on different shades or as a combination of these colours. Then, the slides were examined under

a *Zeiss Axioskop* light microscope and the digital images were acquired using a TV camera attached to the microscope.

7.1.7 Oil red O staining

In order to analyze lipid accumulation into liver tissue, Oil red O stain quantitative qualitative analyses was performed. Based on a previously described protocol [¹⁸¹], tissues were fixed with 4% paraformaldheide (PFA) for 45 minutes at room temperature. After a couple of washes with distilled water (pre-heated at 37°C), isopropanol 60% was added for 5 minutes. During this time, Oil red O stain saturated solution (Sigma-Aldrich) was filtered and diluited in isopropanol:water (3:2) and then it was added upon slides for 10-20 minutes. After staining, slides were washed with isopropanol 100% and distilled water to remove the excess Oil red O solution. Finally, slides were acquired using a Zeiss Axioskop microscope (with a 40X magnification) fitted with a TV camera.

7.1.8 Western blotting analysis

After euthanasia, testis and liver slices were used to obtain total protein extract for western blotting analysis. Briefly, 150 mg of tissue were homogenized in 1 mL of RIPA Buffer solution containing 150mM sodium chloride, 1.0% Triton X-100, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulphate, 50mM Tris, pH 8) and a cocktail of protease inhibitors (Aprotinin, Pepstatin, Leupeptin, Sodium orthovanadate, Phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride, Sigma Aldrich) by using a polytron (KINEMATICA Polytron[™] Model PT10-35 GT/PT 3100D Homogenizer, Fisher Scientific), and centrifuged at 12,000g for 15 min. Different proteins and enzyme were checked with western blotting analysis. Initially, proteins were quantified with Bradford method and 30µg of proteins were charged in polyacrylamide gels. The first step of western blotting is an electrophoresis on polyacrylamide gel (PAGE) with a percentage of SDS to keep the proteins always denatured. The principle behind this method is the application of a constant electric field (provided by a voltmeter/amperemeter) to the gel, which will determine the migration of proteins according to their charge, molecular weight and conformation. Thus, small proteins will tend to migrate faster than larger proteins, which will stay close to the wells in which they have been loaded. Once the gels have been prepared, the samples are loaded into them, together with a pre-stained protein marker (Colour Burst Electrophoresis Marker m.w. 8,000-220,000 Da, Sigma Aldrich) and the electrophoretic apparatus is assembled, in the presence of a running buffer consisting of Tris base, glycine and SDS. An electrophoretic run typically takes 60 to 90 minutes and can be stopped when all the samples dye has reached the end of the gel. After running phase, proteins must be transferred on a nitrocellulose membrane (Immobilon-P, Millipore, Switzerland) at 350mA for 60 minutes. This phase is based on electroblotting, i.e., the passage of proteins from the gel to the membrane with the aid of an electric current and a transfer buffer (consisting of Tris base, glycine and methanol) which allows the passage by capillarity. Protein-membrane interactions are mostly hydrophobic. Subsequently, membrane must be "blocked", by a blocking buffer (1×TBS/ 1% Tween-20, 5% milk) for 60 minutes at room temperature. In this way, the antibody will only bind to the proteins of interest, while the milk proteins will bind the other aspecific proteins. After the blocking phase, membranes were incubated O.N at 4°C with the antibodies of interest: DRP1 (rabbit polyclonal antibody, sc-32898, 1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology); MFN 2 (mouse monoclonal antibody, sc-100560, 1:500, Santa

Cruz Biotechnology); BAX (rabbit polyclonal antibody, sc-526, 1:200, Santa Cruz Biotechnology); β -Actin (mouse monoclonal antibody, sc-70319, 1:200, Santa Cruz Biotechnology); P-eIF2 α (rabbit monoclonal antibody, #3398, 1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology); eIF2 α (rabbit monoclonal antibody, #5324, 1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology); GRP78 (mouse monoclonal antibody, sc-13539, 1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), CHOP (mouse monoclonal antibody, sc-46661, 1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology). On the second day, membranes were washed in TBS-Tween solution (TBS + 0.1% Tween-20) and incubated with the appropriated secondary antibodies labelled with horseradish peroxidase (donkey-anti rabbit, IgG-HRP: sc-2313, 1:5000 or goat-anti mouse, IgG-HRP: sc-2005, 1:5000) in TBS Tween + 5% milk for 1 h at room temperature. Once secondary antibodies have also been incubated, protein membranes are ready to be detected and analysed with a C-DiGit Chemiluminescent Western Blot Scanner (LI-COR). β -Actin was used as loading control guide.

7.1.9 Lipid Peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was evaluated measuring the amount of MDA accumulated in the tissue using thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay kit (Cayman Chemical Company, No: 10009055). About 25 mg of tissue were washed in cold iced PBS (1.4 mM KH₂PO₄, 8 mM Na₂HPO₄, 140 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, pH 7.4), homogenate in 250 μ L of RIPA Buffer solution (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris pH 7.4, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) containing a cocktail of protease inhibitors, centrifuged at 1600× g for 15 min at 4 °C, and the obtained supernatant were processed in accordance with the kit. Protein content was evaluated by the Hartree method [¹⁸²] using BSA to produce a standard curve. MDA concentration was calculated as indicated by manufacturer, represented graphically as fold change vs. N and expressed as nmol MDA per mg of proteins.

7.1.10 Antioxidant SOD and GPx Activities

To determine both SOD and GPx activities in the total homogenates, standard commercial colorimetric kits from Cayman Chemical Company were used. Total SOD activity was monitored by using kit No.706002. Total GPx activity was evaluated by using kit No. 703102.

7.1.11 Caspase 3 Activity

Caspase 3 activity was analysed in total homogenate using a colorimetric kit from Sigma Aldrich (CASP3C-1KT). This colorimetric assay is a rapid and immediate technique for identifying the activity of Caspase 3, one of the zymogens involved in the process of apoptosis. As such, it is one of the most studied enzymes, especially in mammalian cells, since it determines not only the initiation of the effector cascade, but also degradation at the nuclear level, such as DNA fragmentation and chromatin condensation up to final cell lysis.

In particular, the assay is based on a hydrolysis reaction of a peculiar synthetic peptide substrate, Acetyl-Asp-Glu-Val-Asp-p-nitroanilide (Ac-DEVD-pNA) by caspase 3, which results in the release of p-nitroanilide (pNA). From the amount of pNA released, we can tell whether apoptosis has been stimulated as a result of the initiation of caspase 3 activity by the absorbance values read at a wavelength of 405 nm and the calibration curve prepared using pNA solutions of known concentrations as standards.

7.1.12 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out with Graph Pad software and shown as fold change of the mean \pm standard error on the mean (SEM) vs. control animals. Differences between groups were analysed using one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni Post-hoc test. Statistical differences were considered significant when p value was inferior to 0.05.

7.2 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on body weight gain and serum parameters

At the end of the treatment period previously carried out [74], body weight gain was calculated as difference between final body weight and initial body weight for each animal (Table 7.2, published data in 23,74,183). In accordance with literature data, high-fat feeding induced an increase in body weight gain compared to standard diet. The high lard fed (L) rats demonstrated the highest body weight gain per week among the groups (Table 7.2). The high-fish oil fed (F) rats demonstrated an increase in food intake per week that was similar to that found in the L rats (Table 7.2), but the body weight gain was lower in F than in L rats. Thus, the replacement of lard (primarily saturated fatty acids) with fish oil (primarily Omega-3 PUFAs) in a high-fat diet during chronic overfeeding attenuated the development of obesity in accordance with previous studies [74,75,178,¹⁸³]. Moreover, table 7.2 showed a slight reduction in testis weight in L rats (~6%) vs. N, whereas F rats exhibited testis weight as in control rats. As for the liver weight,

it was higher in both L and F rats compared to control rats, and the highest value was observed in L rats (Table 7.2).

	Ν	L	F
Body-weight gain, g/week	16.8 ± 1.0	29.7 ± 3.1 *	21.5 ± 1.9 [#]
Food intake, KJ/week	136.4 ± 10.1	167.5 ± 9.2 *	168.3 ± 8.3 *
Testis weight (g)	$1,\!92\pm0.05$	$1.8 \pm 0.01^{**}$	1.87 ± 0.03 [#]
Liver weight (g)	15.6 ± 0.5	18.8 ± 0.7 *	17.6 ± 0.8 *

Table 7.2. Body weight gain, energy intake, and testis and liver weights in rats fed a normal, a high - lard or a high-fish oil diet. The data represented the means \pm SEM for 8 rats in each experimental group; *p < 0.05 compared with the L rats. (N= rats fed a normal low-fat diet; L= rats fed a high-lard diet; F= rats fed a high fish oil diet; **p < 0.01 vs. N; #p < 0.05 vs. L) [data published in 23,74,183].

Serum TG, ALT, insulin and glucose levels were assessed as markers of dyslipidaemia, liver injury and insulin resistance, respectively. Serum TG and ALT levels were each significantly higher in L rats than in N rats (Table 7.3), and both parameters were lower in F rats than in L rats, with TG levels not differing between F and N rats.

L and F rats displayed significantly higher serum glucose levels than N rats, whereas serum insulin level was higher in L rats compared to both N and F rats (Table 7.3). G/I ratio is used as index of insulin sensitivity. L rats showed the lowest value of G/I ratio among the groups, suggesting a decrease in insulin sensitivity that was not observed in F rats where an improvement in this index was found (Table 7.3). Taken together, these results showed the high fish oil feeding

was associated with a lower degree of obesity development, dyslipidaemia, insulin resistance and hepatic injury compared to high lard feeding.

Data previously obtained in the lab where I carried out my PhD research project also showed that HFO diet resulted in a lower increase in serum lipids and cytokines levels than HL diet in the same animal experimental model [90,¹⁸⁴].

Serum parameters	Ν	L	F
TG, mg/dL	79.9 ± 1.1	119.6 ± 4.2 *	85.5 ± 3.5 [#]
ALT, U/L	22.4 ± 2.8	35.2 ± 1.6 *	27.9 ± 7.9 *
Glucose, mg/dL	87.0 ± 1.2	110.1 ± 1.3 *	$108.0\pm6.2^*$
Insulin, mU/L	14.65 ± 1.15	28.81 ± 2. 16 *	15.82 ± 1.88 [#]
G/I ratio	$\textbf{5.94} \pm \textbf{0.80}$	3.82 ± 0.55 *	$6.82 \pm 0.79^{*}$ #

Table 7.3. Serum parameters in rats fed a normal, HL and HFO diet. Data are expressed as means \pm SEM for 8 rats in each experimental group. *P < 0.05 compared to N rats, and #P < 0.05 compared to L rats. N = rats fed normal low-fat diet; L = rats fed HL diet; F = rats fed HFO diet.

ALT = alanine aminotransferase.

TG = triglycerides.

G/I ratio = glucose (mg/dl)/ insulin (mU/L)

7.3 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on hepatic steatosis and ER stress onset in association with MFN2 content alterations

7.3.1 Steatosis grade and hepatic lipid content

To assess the hepatic steatosis grade and lipid content, period hepatic slices were stained with an Oil red O, a type of staining highlighting lipid droplets within the tissue. Figure 7.1 showed no lipid accumulation in N group, whereas large red droplets (dark arrows) as indicators of lipid accumulation could be seen in L group. Lipid droplets highlighted by the oil red could also be seen in F group, but the diameter seemed to be smaller than in L group. The lipid content determined quantitatively (figure 7.1, B) by the method of Folch [179], indicated indeed a lipid accumulation in both groups, but less in F than in L group.

A



B

	Ν	F	L
Hepatic lipid content (mg/g)	4.1 ± 0.2	$\textbf{5.9} \pm \textbf{0.8}^{*\#}$	$8.5 \pm 0.3^{*}$

Figure 7.1 (**A**) Lipid accumulation by Oil Red O staining and (**B**) quantitative analysis by method of Folch. Scale bars: 50µm; arrows: red lipid depots in hepatocytes.

In order to confirm the results on hepatic steatosis, haematoxylin-eosin staining was also performed. This technique usually highlights nuclei and cellular components, leaving those with a different texture white. In fact, in the figure 7.2, dark arrows indicated large lipid depots in hepatocytes into L group, compared to F group where they seemed to be fewer and smaller.



Figure 7.2 Hepatic lipid content obtained with Haematoxylin and Eosin staining. Scale bars: 50µm; arrows: lipid depots in hepatocytes; Arrowheads: eosinophilic cells.

7.3.2 ER stress markers

ER stress markers content was assessed by western blotting analysis. In particular, I focused on early stress markers, such as P-eIF2 α and GRP78, and late ER stress marker, such as CHOP. Regarding P-eIF2 α , I assessed its ratio with total eIF2 α (figure 7.3, A), and it could be noted a significative (+36%) increase in L compared to N group. In addition, F group showed a 25% increase, that was lower compared to the increase found in L group. GRP78 (figure 7.4, A) appeared to be markedly (more than 3 times) increased in L group compared to N. In contrast the increase found in F group was smaller and almost not significant (+10%).

Finally, CHOP also significantly increased (more than 2.5 times) in L compared to N rats., whereas a lower increase (+52%) was found in F rats compared to control (figure 7.5, C).



Figure 7.3 (**A**) P-eIF2 α and eIF2 α protein content was analysed by western blotting. Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM of 6 different animals for each group. Significant differences were shown: *p<0.05 vs. N; #p<0.05 vs F. Statistical analyses were performed with One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's posthoc test. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of P-eIF2 α and eIF2 α normalized with β -actin (N= not treated; F= rats fed high fish-oil diet; L= rats fed high lard diet).



Figure 7.4 (A) GRP78 protein content was analysed by western blotting. Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM of 6 different animals for each group expressed as fold change vs. N. Significant differences were shown: *p<0.05 vs. N; #p<0.05 vs F. Statistical analyses were performed with One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot (N= not treated; F= rats fed high fish-oil diet; L= rats fed high lard diet).



Figure 7.5 (**A**) CHOP protein content was analysed by western blotting in liver homogenates. Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM of 6 different animals for each group expressed as fold change vs. N. Statisticalanalyses were performed with One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Significant differences were shown: *p<0.05 vs. N; #p<0.05 vs F. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of CHOP normalized with β -actin (N= rats fed a control diet; F= rats fed high fish-oil diet; L= rats fed highlard diet).

7.3.3 Mitochondrial dynamics markers: MFN2 and DRP1

By western blotting, I analysed the fusion protein MFN2 (figure 7.6, A) and fission protein DRP1 content (figure 7.7, B) in total liver homogenate in order to confirm

the previous study where they were assessed in mitochondrial fraction and provide further details on the mechanism of mitochondrial dynamics [74]. Moreover, MFN2 seems to play a key role not only in mitochondrial dynamic behaviour, but also in mitochondria-ER connection [114]. The results of the present thesis confirmed in liver homogenates the data previously obtained in isolated mitochondria [74] suggesting a shift toward fission processes in L but not in F group. There was a significant (~ 40%) reduction of MFN2 in L group compared to both N and F group, in which no change was observed. A similar result was obtained in previous study in mitochondrial fraction, where there was a $\sim 100\%$ MFN2 reduction in L compared to N group, whereas F group did not show a significant variation [74]. Regarding DRP1, no significant changes were observed in liver homogenates, except for a slight increase in L group compared to N. The DRP1 increase in L group was more marked when the analysis was carried out in isolated mitochondria [74] due to the fact that DRP1 is recruited on mitochondria outer membranes when fission processes occur. Therefore, data of present thesis confirmed that mitochondrial protein markers of fusion/fission processes were differently affected by dietary fat sources, suggesting a shift toward fission processes induced by high saturated fat diet, but not by high Omega-3 PUFAs diet.



Figure 7.6 (**A**) MFN2 protein content was analyzed by western blotting in liver homogenates. Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM of 6 different animals for each group expressed as fold change vs. N. Statisticalanalyses were performed with One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Significant differences were shown: *p<0.05 vs. N; #p<0.05 vs F. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blotof MFN2 normalized with β -actin (N= rats fed a control diet; F= rats fed high fish-oil diet; L= rats fed highlard diet).



Figure 7.7 (**A**) DRP1 protein content was analyzed by western blotting in liver homogenates. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM of 6 different animals for each group expressed as fold change vs. N. Statisticalanalyses were performed with One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test and no significant differences were found. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of DRP1 normalized with β - actin (N= rats fed a control diet; F= rats fed high fish-oil diet; L= rats fed high lard diet).

7.3.4 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on hepatic steatosis and ER stress onset in association with MFN2 content alterations: Discussion and Conclusions

High fat diet-induced hepatic steatosis is a condition in which lipid overload may be a cause of stress for endoplasmic reticulum leading to the onset of inflammatory and apoptotic process which in turn may induce fibrinogenic pathway. In the present PhD thesis, it has been shown that the source of lipid in high fat diet (saturated vs Omega-3 PUFAs) differently affect hepatic ER stress and apoptotic processes in association with changes in MFN2 content during chronic overnutrition *in vivo* in the experimental model (rats). The present work extends in vivo the finding of an interesting association between ER stress / apoptotic processes and the dynamic mitochondrial protein MFN2. Several experimental in vitro studies, showed that long-chain saturated fatty acids induce ER stress and promote cell death in different cell types, including hepatocytes [89,91,95]. An aim of the present study was to confirm this previous observation obtained in vitro, in an experimental condition of chronic overfeeding. Present results showed that chronic high-lard diet feeding induces in liver not only high lipid accumulation, but also ER stress onset and apoptosis induction as showed by the high degree of phosphorylation of eIF2a, GRP78 and CHOP. Noteworthy, this condition of ER stress was associated with morphological ultrastructural changes in the ER which presented more dilated cisternae, as showed in figure 7.8 (data not published,

obtained in prof. Putti laboratory). It was also appreciated that ER were juxtaposed with mitochondria.



Figure 7.8 Electron microscopy image of liver section for N, L and F groups produced by the laboratory of prof. Rosalba Putti in the Department of Biology, University of Naples in collaboration with the research group of the tutor of this PhD thesis (data not published). (N= rats fed a control diet; F= rats fed high fishoil diet; L= rats fed high lard diet).

This observation is in accordance with the suggestion that this close association might be important in controlling lipid metabolism and Ca^{2+} transmission from the ER to the mitochondria [¹⁸⁵]. In addition, it has been showed that MFN2, a protein located on the outer mitochondrial membrane responsible for the fusion process of

mitochondria, is also present in the ER and tethers the ER to mitochondria [114,¹⁸⁶]. A recent study suggested that MFN2 is an ER-stress inducible protein that is required for the adaptation of the ER to stress. Under ER stress condition, the early UPR involve eIF2 α phosphorylation which lead to translational attenuation. On the other hand, when ER stress is prolonged the late UPR response involves the dephosphorylation of eIF2 α mediated by GADD34 and P58^{IPK}. It has been showed that a loss of MFN2 prolongs eIF2 α phosphorylation and diminishes the induction of GADD34 and P58^{IPK}, indicative of an impairment in a recovery from translational repression [114]. In addition, the same study showed that ablation of MFN2 augments ER-stress induced CHOP activation and promote cell death. The suggested mechanism was schematized by author in the schematic figure reproduced and reported in figure 7.9.



Figure 7.9 Reproduction of schematic model proposed by Ngoh et al. [114] representing the involvement of Mitofusin 2 in UPR signaling (reproduced Cross arrows indicate inhibition, whereas other arrows designate positive signaling). Under ER stress conditions, early UPR involves $eIF2\alpha$ phosphorylation, leading to translational attenuation, whereas late UPR response involves GADD34- and P58IPK-mediated

eIF2α dephosphorylation and CHOP induction. Ablation of MFN2 inhibits GADD34 and P58IPK expression, enhances CHOP induction, and promotes cell death.

Considering this suggested model of involvement of MFN2 in UPR signaling, I found of interest to analyze MFN2 content in liver homogenate of our experimental models. The results showed that MFN2 content was lower in high lard fed rats compared to control, whereas in high fish oil fed rats no significant changes was observed. These results together with DRP1 data suggested that chronic overfeeding with high saturated fatty acids induced a shift of fusion/fission balance towards fission processes, whereas high Omega-3 PUFAs diet preserve fusion/fission balance, in accordance with previous results in isolated mitochondria [74]. Moreover, the association between lower MFN2 content, higher eIF2 α phosphorylation, GRP78 and CHOP content supports the hypothesis of an essential role of MFN2 for an appropriate elaboration of the UPR, ER homeostasis and cell survival.

In conclusion, a very interesting finding of the present PhD thesis work is that if chronic overfeeding is carried out with high-fish oil diet, the lower hepatic lipid accumulation is associated with a normal content of MFN2, slightly increased phosphorylation of eIF2 α and lower increase in the apoptotic marker CHOP compared to high-lard feeding. These results support the protective role of polyunsaturated fatty acids towards ER stress and apoptosis induction suggested in a previous *in vitro* study [74,75]. In addition, our results with high-fish oil diet confirm again a key role of MFN2 in the recovery from ER stress.

Overall, the present results had two main finding: 1) a lower degree of lipid accumulation, ER stress and apoptosis in response to high-fish oil chronic overfeeding compared to high lard treatment, 2) an association between MFN2 and ER stress development during the adaptation to chronic overfeeding in the liver.

Further studies are needed to elucidate how saturated- and Omega-3- fatty acids may differently affect MFN2 expression and to confirm this protein involvement in fatty acid induced hepatic steatosis.

7.4 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on Testicular Antioxidant Defence and Mitochondrial Fusion/Fission Balance

The following data, related to testis experimental design, have been published in [23].

7.4.1 Different Impact of HL and HFO Diet on Lipid Peroxidation and Antioxidant Enzymes Activities in testis

A different pro-oxidant effect between HL and HFO diets was evidenced in terms of MDA levels, one of the main products of lipid peroxidation in testis. The results showed the highest MDA content in L vs. N (~100%) and F (~30%) rats. Moreover, F animals exhibited a level of MDA with a value intermediate between N and L values, with a significant increase (~45%) vs. N (Figure 7.10).



Figure 7.10. MDA levels. The amount of MDA in total testis homogenate was graphically represented as mean \pm SEM of eight different animal for each group. Statistical analysis was performed using One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni Post-hoc test. Significant differences are shown: *p < 0.05 vs N; ***p < 0.001 vs. N; ##p < 0.01 vs. L.

The activities of SODs and GPx, the main enzymes involved in redox cellular homeostasis, were found differently modulated by HL and HFO diet. Regarding SODs (Figure 7.11, A), we found a significant increase of enzymatic activity only in F rats vs. N (~100%) and L (~90%) rats. On the contrary, GPx activity level (Figure 7.11, B) was found reduced in L rats (~40%) and unchanged in F vs. N group.



Figure 7.11 Antioxidant activities. (A) Superoxide dismutase (SOD) and (B) glutathione peroxidase (GPx) activities were detected on total testis homogenates. Data were graphically represented as mean \pm SEM of eight different animal for each group. Statistical analysis was performed using One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni Post-hoc test. Significant differences are shown: **p < 0.01 vs. N; ***p < 0.001 vs. N, ## p < 0.01 vs. L. (N= rats fed a control diet; F= rats fed high fish-oil diet; L= rats fed high lard diet).

7.4.2 A Possible Link Between Oxidative Stress and Pro-Apoptotic Signals

In accordance with MDA levels, we showed increased BCL2-associated X (BAX) protein levels in high-fat fed animals. The highest BAX protein level was found in L rats compared to N (+180%) and F (+60%), respectively. F rats exhibited a significant increased BAX protein levels vs. N (+80%), whereas this increase was lower than the one found in L rats (Figure 7.12).



Figure 7.12 (**A**) BAX protein content was analyzed by western blotting in testis homogenates. Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM of 6 different animals for each group expressed as fold change vs. N. Significant differences were shown: *p<0.05 vs. N; #p<0.05 vs F. Statistical analyses were performed with One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of BAX normalized with β -actin (N= rats fed a control diet; F= rats fed high fish-oil diet; L= rats fed high lard diet).

In line with BAX levels, caspase 3 activity was found increased in L rats vs. N (~3-fold) and F (~1-fold), respectively (Figure 7.13). On the contrary, F animals exhibited a ~2-fold increase in caspase 3 activity vs. N (Figure 7.13), but the activity was lower than in L group.



Figure 7.10 Caspase 3 activity. The analyses of caspase 3 (casp-3) activity were measured by colorimetric assay. Data were graphically represented as mean \pm standard error on the mean (SEM) of 8 different animals for each group. Statistical analysis was performed using One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni Posthoc test. Significant differences were shown: ** p < 0.01 vs. N; *** p < 0.001 vs. N; # p < 0.05 vs. L (N= rats fed a control diet; F= rats fed high fish-oil diet; L= rats fed high lard diet).

7.4.3 HFO Diet Induced a Shift of Mitochondrial Dynamics Toward Fusion Processes

To evaluate the possible correlation between oxidative injury and mitochondrial dynamic behaviour, which directly correlates with mitochondrial morphology and function [186], MFN2 and DRP1, the principal proteins involved in the mitochondrial dynamics, were analysed by western blotting in testis. Results showed that fusion and fission processes change in different way in L and F rats compared to the control animals. Regarding MFN2 (Figure 7.14, A), no changes

in protein contents were observed in L vs. N rats, whereas F animals showed significantly increased (~260%) protein levels compared to both N and L group. On the other hand, DRP1 content did not change between L and N group, whereas significant reduction (~40%) was found in F compared to N and L rats (Figure 7.14, B).



Figure 7.14 (A) MFN2 and (B) DRP1 content were analyzed by western blotting in testis homogenates. Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM of 6 different animals for each group expressed as fold change vs. N. Statistical analyses were performed with One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc test. Significant differences were shown: *** p<0.001 vs. N; ## p<0.01 vs L; # ## p<0.001 vs L. (C) The figures showed a representative western blot of MFN2 and DRP1 normalized

with β -actin (N= rats fed a control diet; F= rats fed high fish-oil diet; L= rats fed high lard diet).

7.4.4 Different impact of HL and HFO diet on Testicular Antioxidant Defence and Mitochondrial Fusion/Fission Balance: Discussion and conclusions

This study was conducted to evaluate the possible role of mitochondria in the testicular cell adaptation to chronic high-fat feeding with different dietary fat sources. In particular, I tested the effects of two different chronic high-fat dietary regimens characterized by SFA (lard as dietary source of fat) or Omega-3 PUFAs (fish oil as dietary source of fat) to evaluate testicular oxidative stress, mitochondrial dynamic fusion/fission protein, and stimulation of apoptosis. Our previous work showed that a chronic HFD administration, rich in SFA, induced body weight gain and testicular impairment, such as oxidative stress, morphological alterations, and apoptosis in cells of the seminiferous epithelium, suggesting a negative effect of SFA on testis function [168]. In addition, present finding evidenced different responses to the different diet treatments in rat testis. Testicular weight in L rats was reduced compared to control animals, whereas any change in testis weight was detected in F. At molecular level, a different degree of oxidative injury was detected in L and F groups, with different response in antioxidant defence, mitochondrial dynamic behaviour, and apoptotic onset. Cellular oxidative damage is the result of imbalance between ROS levels, principally produced by mitochondria, and antioxidant cellular response.

Therefore, in a contest of mitochondrial ROS overproduction, cells try to reorganize their metabolism to quench radical species, for example, by stimulating antioxidant system activities. Moreover, mitochondria respond to different degree of cellular stress remodelling their structure by changing fusion/fission cycles to eliminate or recover part of mitochondria or to direct the cells toward death [¹⁸⁷]. Our results showed the highest MDA levels in total homogenates in L rats compared to the other groups, suggesting a greater lipid oxidative damage. In fact, the excess of MDA reelevates lipid peroxidation in cell membranes. Moreover, reduced GPx activity was detected in L rats, suggesting a possible imbalance between ROS accumulation and antioxidant capacity. It is worth noting that F animals showed MDA levels intermediate between N and L rats associated with increase in total SOD activity vs. N and L group. These data suggested that dietary SFA play a major pro-oxidant role than Omega-3 PUFAs. The lower MDA levels in F vs. L could be due to the increased SOD activity, useful to control superoxide anion produced by mitochondria. One of the members of SOD family is the antioxidant enzyme SOD2 (Mn-SOD), which plays its antioxidant role at mitochondrial level. SOD2, in fact, localizes in the mitochondrial matrix, and it detoxifies the superoxide anion, abundantly produced during mitochondrial respiration to H_2O_2 . This molecule is converted to H_2O by GPx activity [168]. In this way, antioxidant system counteracts ROS production and oxidative damage. However, when the ROS production rate in the cells is not completely balanced by

antioxidant defences, oxidative damage occurs on several macromolecules altering cellular functions. Therefore, antioxidant activity represents a key role in cellular redox homeostasis and mitochondria are directly involved. As reported in our published works [23,24] tubular alterations have been evidenced especially in L group, where the highest antioxidant impairment and oxidative injury was observed. For these reasons, we decided to analyse the pro-apoptotic effects of both HF and HFO diets by testing BAX protein content in total homogenates. This pro-apoptotic marker functions as mitochondrial target [¹⁸⁸,¹⁸⁹]. In fact, at the mitochondrial level, BAX generates outer membrane permeabilization, and cytochrome c release from mitochondrial inner membrane space to cytosol, inducing apoptosis activation. In line with increased BAX protein levels, caspase 3 activity increased in total homogenates in high-fat fed animals with the highest levels in L group. These data suggested that Omega-3 PUFAs could play a positive role in the control of apoptosis. In this contest, mitochondrial performance appears to be a crucial point in the regulation of this physiological processes. Therefore, SFA and Omega-3 PUFAs differently affect testicular antioxidant capacity, apoptosis, and tissue morphology, suggesting a possible mitochondrial implication to contribute to these differences. Given that it is known from literature that SFA and Omega-3 PUFAs are able to change mitochondrial fusion/fission processes, we evaluated if there was a change in mitochondrial dynamic behaviour in testis. The analyses of DRP1 (fission marker) and MFN2 (fusion marker) content showed that the HL diet did not produce any mitochondrial dynamic changes compared to the control diet. It is worth noting that F animals showed significant reduction in DRP1 levels associated with increased MFN2 levels. These data suggest that HFO diet induced a shift of mitochondrial dynamics toward fusion process in testis, in accordance with data reported in other tissues [74,75,183]. With the limitation that other mitochondrial dynamic proteins should be evaluated and considering that HFO diet mainly differentiated by HL diet for the higher Omega-3 PUFAs vs. SFA content, the induction of mitochondrial fusion process may represent a possible link between Omega-3 PUFAs and mechanisms used by cells to improve mitochondrial function and network in order to control cellular stress and death.

In conclusion, SFA and Omega-3 PUFAs chronic overfeeding determined different effects on testis by generating cellular responses dependent on dietary fat quality. The most harmful effects on testicular health were found in L rats, suggesting that the excess of dietary SFA can negatively act on reproduction. On the contrary, mitochondrial dynamics variation toward fusion process detected in F group could suggest a possible mechanism by which Omega-3 PUFAs elicited lower dangerous effects compared to SFA. The novelty in the present report was that mitochondrial fusion/fission proteins may be considered as a target of bioactive compounds, such as Omega-3 PUFAs, to induce improvement in mitochondrial function and reduce oxidative stress in association with amelioration in antioxidant defence in order to maintain testis function during

chronic overfeeding. Moreover, the present work opens a new perspective in clinical nutrition, and it can be speculated that an adequate Omega-3 PUFAs intake may represent a nutritional goal in our society to counteract the negative effects of high SFA intake not only on cardiovascular and metabolic disease, but also on testis function, by targeting mitochondria. However, further analyses are needed to highlight the effects of fatty acids on mitochondrial functionality and to describe the sequence of events in which Omega-3 PUFAs are involved to control cell damage while focusing on the role of mitochondria in the regulation of testicular health.

Chapter 8 – Experimental Design 2 *in vitro*: Omega-3 PUFAs effects on HepG2 cells vitality and mitochondrial dynamics in combination with the anticancer prodrug, capecitabine

8.1 Materials and methods

8.1.1 Experimental design

Human hepatocellular carcinoma cells (HepG-2) were obtained from Interlab Cell Line Collection (Advanced Biotechnology Centre, Genova, Italy). HepG-2 cells were cultured in 100 x 10 mm Petri dishes in Minimum Essential Medium (MEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (v/v), 1% (v/v) non-essential aminoacids, 0.2 mM L-glutamine, 50 units/ml penicillin and 50 µg/ml streptomycin (Invitrogen SRL, Milan, Italy). Cells were then treated with cis-5,8,11,14,17-Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), cis-4,7,10,13,16,19-Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and Capecitabine (all three from Sigma Aldrich biotechnology) conjugated with Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA). Initially cells were plated at 5 x 10^4 cell/cm² and then cultured for 24 h in a medium enriched with 1% BSA, containing EPA, DHA and capecitabine at two different doses of 50 µM and 100 µM, alone or combined among them. This dose-range was chosen based on values reported for *in vitro* studies on mammalian cell models [¹⁹⁰,¹⁹¹]. In all cases, cells did not exceed 70% confluence at the time of the treatment.

8.1.2 Preparation of fatty acids and capecitabine solutions

EPA and DHA 50 mM stock solutions were prepared in methanol (as their solubility reported on datasheet was 50mg/ml in methanol), then they were stocked at -80°C. Capecitabine 20 mM stock solution was prepared in distilled water (because of its solubility reported on datasheet was 10mg/ml in water). Then it was stored at 4°C and, together with fatty acids were used, at the time of treatment, to prepare the final concentration of chosen experimental doses (10, 50 and 100 μ M).

8.1.3 Cell viability MTT assay

Cell viability was detected by a colorimetric assay based on the enzymatic conversion of MTT (3-(4,5-Dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5-diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide) (M5655, Sigma-Aldrich), which is yellow, into formazan (purple) by metabolically active cells, thanks to a mitochondrial dehydrogenase. The developed color was proportional to the number of living cells. After incubation with EPA, DHA and capecitabine, 0.5 mg/mL of MTT were added to 100μ l of cell medium in 96-well plate and incubated for 1 h 30 min at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ to allow MTT to be metabolized. The resulting formazan crystals were dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and absorbances were measured in a microplate reader at 595 and 655 nm, providing the amount of living cells.

8.1.4 Electrophoresis and Western Blotting

Western blot analysis was performed as previously described. The following primary antibodies were used: MFN2 (mouse monoclonal antibody, sc-100560, 1:1000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology); DRP1 (mouse monoclonal antibody, sc-3298, 1:1000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology); SOD2 (rabbit monoclonal antibody, PA5-30604, 1:1000, ThermoFisher Scientific); GPx1 (rabbit monoclonal antibody, #3206, 1:1000, Cell Signaling Technology). ß-Actin (mouse monoclonal antibody, sc-70319, 1:200, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) was used as a loading control guide to normalize protein levels in samples.

8.1.5 Oil red O staining

In order to analyze lipid accumulation into cells treated with fatty acids and chemotherapic drug, Oil red O stain quantitative (spectrophotometric) and qualitative (microscopic) analyses were performed into cells treated with two different doses (50 μ M and 100 μ M) of EPA, DHA and capecitabine, alone or combined among them for 24 hours. Based on a previously described protocol [181], cells were plated on circular slides mounted into a 24 multi-well plate and treated with EPA, DHA and capecitabine for 24 hours. After treatment, they were washed in PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldheide (PFA) for 45 minutes at room temperature. After a couple of washes with distilled water (pre-heated at 37°C), isopropanol 60% was added for 5 minutes. During this time, Oil red O stain

saturated solution (Sigma-Aldrich) was filtered and diluited in isopropanol:water (3:2) and then it was added to cells for 10-20 minutes. After staining, cells were washed with isopropanol 100% and distilled water to remove the excess Oil red O solution. Finally, slides with fixed and stained cells were mounted on a microscope slide and then acquired using a *Zeiss Axioskop* microscope (with a 40X magnification) fitted with a TV camera.

For lipid accumulation quantification, Oil red O was washed from cells with isopropanol 60% and then collected into a 96-multiwell plate to read its absorbance in a microplate reader at 490nm. Quantitative and qualitative analyses were compared to non-stimulated cells.

8.1.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad prism 9.0.0 (GraphPad software Inc. San Diego, CA, USA). Data were reported as mean \pm SEM. Twoway ANOVA analysis followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons post-test and Unpaired T-Student test were used to evaluate the effect of two fatty acids (EPA and DHA) different concentrations (50 and 100µM) on cells. One-way ANOVA analysis followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons post-test was used to evaluate the effect of capecitabine at two different concentrations (50 and 100µM) and its combination with two fatty acids (EPA and DHA) on cells. P
values ≤ 0.05 were statistically significant. In western blot analysis, figures showed representative blots.

8.2 Dose dependent effects of Omega-3 PUFAs on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics and antioxidant defence

8.2.1 Dose dependent effect of Omega-3 PUFAs on cell viability

Dose dependent effect of EPA or DHA on cell viability was evaluated by MTT assays. The following doses were tested: 10, 50 and 100 μ M doses as reported in literature [176,177]. Figure 8.1 showed that EPA or DHA did not induce any significant changes in cell viability.



Fig. 8.1 Cell viability in cells treated with 10, 50 and 100 μ M doses of EPA or DHA. Data were expressed as means \pm SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with two-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. (N= control cells; EPA10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated wi

EPA; DHA10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of DHA; DHA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of DHA; DHA100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA).

8.2.2 Dose dependent effect of Omega-3 PUFAs on lipid accumulation

Qualitative and quantitative tests to detect total intracellular lipids accumulated in cells treated with different doses of EPA and DHA, were performed using Oil-Red O staining method. Both microscopic and spectrophotometric analyses showed an increase in lipid accumulation into cells treated with EPA, DHA and EPA+DHA in a dose-dependent manner compared to not treated cells (fig. 8.2 A, B). In fact, 50μ M and 100μ M EPA showed a +73% and +129 % lipid accumulation increase, respectively. 50μ M and 100μ M DHA showed a + 88% and +113 % increase, respectively. Finally, 100μ M EPA + 100μ M DHA showed +181% increase compared to not treated cells and +52% and +68% increase compared to 100 μ M EPA and 100μ M DHA, respectively.





Fig. 8.2 (A) Representative images of cells in cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M doses of EPA or DHA. Original image magnification used: 40X. (B) Data were expressed as means \pm SEM of 3 samples (spectrophotometric analysis) derived from three independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with two-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant

differences were shown: * $p \le 0.05$ vs N; # $p \le 0.05$ vs EPA50; § $p \le 0.05$ vs DHA50; ° $p \le 0.05$ vs DHA100. (N= control cells; EPA10= cells treated with 10 µM dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 µM dose of EPA; EPA10= cells treated with 100 µM dose of EPA; DHA10= cells treated with 10 µM dose of DHA; DHA50= cells treated with 50 µM dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 µM dose of DHA).

8.2.3 Dose dependent effects of Omega-3 PUFAs on mitochondrial dynamics protein markers

To evaluate Omega-3 PUFAs dose dependent effects on mitochondrial dynamics behavior, MFN2 and DRP1 contents were analyzed by western blotting analysis. Results showed that no changes were observed in MFN2 content in EPA-treated cells, whereas a dose dependent no significant tendency to increase was observed in DHA treated cells (+18% and +25%) in 50 μ M and 100 μ M DHA treated cells, respectively).





Fig. 8.3 (A) MFN2 content in cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M doses of EPA or DHA. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with two-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test and no significant differences were found. Unpaired non parametric T-student test was performed and significant difference found was shown as *p≤0.05 vs N. (B) The figure showed a representative western blot of MFN2 normalized with β-actin (N= control cells; EPA10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA; DHA10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of DHA; DHA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA1

As for DRP1 content, figure 8.4 showed a dose dependent decrease in EPA treated cells, whereas DHA induced a decrease only with the 50 μ M dose.

MFN2/DRP1 ratio was higher in Omega-3 PUFAs treated cells compared to control cells (+10% and +39% in 50 and 100 μ M in EPA treated cells and +71% and +58% in 50 and 100 μ M DHA treated cells, respectively).





С	MFN2/DRP1	
	Ν	1
	EPA50	1.10
	EPA100	1.39
	DHA50	1.71
	DHA100	1.58

Fig. 8.4 (A) DRP1 content in cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M doses of EPA or DHA. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with two-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p ≤ 0.05 vs N; #p ≤ 0.05 vs EPA50; §p ≤ 0.05 vs DHA50. (B) The figure showed a representative western blot of DRP1 normalized with β-actin (C) MFN2/DRP1 ratio obtained by dividing MFN2 content by DRP1 content. (N=control cells; EPA10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; DHA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA).

8.2.4 Dose dependent effect of Omega-3 PUFAs on antioxidant defence proteins content.

To evaluate dose dependent Omega-3 PUFAs effects on antioxidant defense, SOD2 and GPx1 content were analyzed western blotting analysis.

Figure 8.5 (A) showed that 50 μ M doses of both EPA and DHA did not induce any significant changes in the antioxidant protein SOD2 content, whereas 100 μ M dose induced a significant increase (+55%) in DHA treated cells.



Fig. 8.5 (A) SOD2 content in cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M doses of EPA or DHA. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with two-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N; #p ≤ 0.05 vs DHA50. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of SOD2 normalized with β -actin (N= control cells; EPA10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; DHA10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of DHA; DHA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of DHA; DHA100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA).

As for GPx1 protein, there was a slight increase (+ 14%) in cells treated with 100 μ M EPA, whereas DHA induced a significative dose dependent increase in GPx1

content (+38% and +85% in 50 and 100 μ M DHA treated cells, respectively) (fig 8.6 A).



Fig. 8.6 (A) GPx1 content in cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M doses of EPA or DHA. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with two-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N; #p ≤ 0.05 vs DHA50. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of GPx1 normalized with β-actin (N= control cells; EPA10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of EPA; EPA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of EPA; EPA10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA; DHA10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of DHA; DHA50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of DHA).

8.3 Dose dependent effects of capecitabine on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics and antioxidant defences

8.3.1 Dose dependent effects of capecitabine on cell viability

Cells were treated with 10, 50 and 100 μ M doses of capecitabine. A significative reduction (-15%) in cell viability was observed in 50 and 100 μ M treated cells compared to control cells, whereas the reduction was lower (-6%) in 10 μ M capecitabine treated cells (fig. 8.7).



Fig. 8.7 Cell viability in cells treated with 10, 50 and 100 μ M of capecitabine. Data were expressed as means \pm SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N; # p≤0.05 vs Cap10. (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap10= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

8.3.2 Dose dependent effects of capecitabine on lipid content

Figure 8.8 (A) showed a similar lipid accumulation in capecitabine treated cells compared to control cells. However, quantitative analysis showed a 10% reduction in lipid content in cells treated with 100 μ M capecitabine vs. control cells (figure 8.8, B).





Fig. 8.8 (A) Representative images of cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M of capecitabine. Original image magnification used: 40X. (B) Data were expressed as means± SEM of 3 samples (spectrophotometric analysis) derived from three independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N; # p≤0.05 vs Cap50. (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

8.3.3 Dose dependent effects of capecitabine on mitochondrial dynamics protein markers

Figure 8.9 (A) showed that capecitabine induced a dose dependent increase in MFN2 content (+63% and +73% in 50 and 100 μ M capecitabine treated cells, respectively).



Fig.8.9 (A) MFN2 content in cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M of capecitabine. Data were expressed as means \pm SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N. (B) The figure showed a representative western blot of MFN2 normalized with β -actin (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; E+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; D+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

A significant dose dependent increase was also observed in DRP1 content (+ 100% and +129% in 50 and 100 μ M capecitabine treated cells, respectively) (fig.8.10, A).

The increase in DRP1 content was higher than the increase in MFN2 content, and the MFN2/DRP1 ratio was lower in 50 and 100 μ M (-22% and -24%, respectively) capecitabine treated compared to controls.



С	MFN2/DRP1	
	Ν	1
	Cap50	0.78

Cap50 Cap50 Cap50 Cap100 Cap100 Cap100 E+C

Ν

N

D+C

E+C E+C D+C

Cap100	0.76
--------	------

Fig.8.10 (**A**) DRP1 content in cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M of capecitabine. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of DRP1 normalized with β-actin. (**C**) MFN2/DRP1 ratio obtained by dividing MFN2 content by DRP1 content. (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10µM dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 µM dose of capecitabine; Cap100= cells treated with 100 µM dose of capecitabine; E+C= cells treated with 100 µM dose of capecitabine; D+C= cells treated with 100 µM dose of DHA + 100 µM dose of capecitabine).

8.3.4 Dose dependent effect of capecitabine on antioxidant defence proteins content.

Figure 8.11 (A) showed that capecitabine induced a significant dose dependent decrease in SOD2 content (-23% and - 43% in 50 and 100 μ M capecitabine treated cells, respectively).



Fig.8.11 (**A**) SOD2 content in cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M of capecitabine. Data were expressed as means \pm SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p \leq 0.05 vs N; #p \leq 0.05 vs Cap50. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of SOD2 normalized with β -actin (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; E+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of Capecitabine; D+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

Figure 8.12 (A) showed that no changes in GPx1 content was observed in capecitabine treated cells.



Fig.8.12 (A) GPx1 content in cells treated with 50 and 100 μ M of capecitabine. Data were expressed as means \pm SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. (B) The figure showed a representative western blot of GPx1 normalized with β -actin (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; D+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

8.4 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) and capecitabine on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics and antioxidant defences

8.4.1 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) and capecitabine on cell viability

As above reported, 100 μ M dose of EPA or DHA did not induce any change in cell viability, whereas 100 μ M dose of capecitabine induced a -15% decrease in cell viability. In cells treated simultaneously with 100 μ M of capecitabine and 100 μ M of EPA or DHA, cell viability decreases of -22% and -16%, respectively, compared to control cells (figure 8.13). The combination of EPA or DHA with capecitabine decreased cell viability also compared to cells treated with the only 100 μ M dose of capecitabine (-10% and -4%, respectively), as shown in fig. 8.13.



Fig. 8.13 Cell viability in cells simultaneously treated with 100 μ M capecitabine and 100 μ M of EPA or DHA. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N; # p≤0.05 vs Cap100. (N= control cells; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; EPA+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; DHA+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

8.4.2 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) and capecitabine on lipid accumulation

Lipid accumulation in cells treated simultaneously treated with 100 μ M of EPA or DHA and 100 μ M of capecitabine was higher than in cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine alone, but lower than in cell treated only with 100 μ M dose of EPA or DHA alone (fig.8.14, A).





Fig. 8.14 (**A**) Representative images of cells simultaneously treated with 100 μ M capecitabine and 100 μ M of EPA or DHA. Representative images of cells treated with 100 μ M of EPA and DHA were previously reported and discussed in fig. 8.2 (A) (**B**) Data were expressed as means± SEM of 3 samples (spectrophotometric analysis, 490 nm) derived from three independent experiments. Statistical analysis was performed one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N; #p≤0.05 vs EPA100; § p≤0.05 vs DHA100. (N= control cells; EPA100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; EPA+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

8.4.3 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) and capecitabine on mitochondrial dynamic protein markers

Capecitabine in combination with EPA and DHA induced a significative three times increase in MFN2 content compared to control cells (figure 8.15, A),

whereas the increase induced by capecitabine alone was lower (+73%) compared to controls.



Fig. 8.15 (**A**) MFN2 content in cells simultaneously treated with 100 μ M capecitabine and 100 μ M of EPA or DHA. Data are expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N, # p≤0.05 vs Cap100. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of MFN2 normalized with β-actin (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; E+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; D+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

As for MFN2 content, simultaneous treatment with capecitabine and EPA or DHA induced a significant increase in DRP1 content (3.5 and 3.29 times compared to control cells, respectively), whereas capecitabine alone induced 2.29 times increase vs. control cells (figure 8.16, A).

The increase in DRP1 content was higher than the increase in MFN2 content, and the MFN2/DRP1 ratio was lower (-16% and -12%) in cells simultaneously treated with capecitabine and EPA or DHA compared to controls.



С	MFN2/DRP1	
	Ν	1
	Cap100	0.76
	EPA+Cap	0.84
	DHA+Cap	0.88

Fig. 8.16 (A) DRP1 content in cells simultaneously treated with 100 μ M capecitabine and 100 μ M of EPA or DHA. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N, # p≤0.05 vs Cap100. (B) The figure showed a representative western blot of DRP1 normalized with β-actin. (C) MFN2/DRP1 ratio obtained by dividing MFN2 content by DRP1 content. (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; E+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; D+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

8.4.4 Effects of simultaneous treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs (EPA or DHA) and capecitabine on antioxidants defence protein contents

However, western blotting results showed that simultaneous treatment with capecitabine and EPA or DHA, induced a slight decrease (-8 and -14%, respectively) in SOD2 content compared to control cells. The decrease in SOD2 content was more marked (-43%) in cells treated with capecitabine alone (fig. 8.17, A).



Fig. 8.17 (A) SOD2 content in cells simultaneously treated with 100 μ M capecitabine and 100 μ M of EPA or DHA. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N, # p≤0.05 vs Cap100. (B) The figure showed a representative western blot of SOD2 normalized with β-actin (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; D+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

As for GPx1 content, simultaneous treatment with capecitabine combined with EPA or DHA induced a significant increase in GPx1 content (+ 80% in capecitabine + DHA treated cells and more than 2 times in capecitabine + EPA

cells, fig. 8.18, A), whereas capecitabine alone did not induce any changes compared to control cells.



Fig. 8.18 (A) GPx1 content in cells simultaneously treated with 100 μ M capecitabine and 100 μ M of EPA or DHA. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N, # p≤0.05 vs Cap100. (B) The figure showed a representative western blot of GPx1 normalized with β-actin (N= control cells; Cap10= cells treated with 10 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap50= cells treated with 50 μ M dose of capecitabine; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; D+C= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

8.5 Effects of simultaneous treatment with a combination of EPA + DHA and capecitabine on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics and antioxidant defences

8.5.1 Effects of treatment with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine on cell viability

Cells simultaneously treated with EPA+DHA and capecitabine showed a significative (-52%) decrease in cell viability, compared to control cells and cells treated with EPA +DHA. The decrease induced by the simultaneous treatment with EPA+DHA and capecitabine was higher than the decrease induced by the treatment with capecitabine (-40% vs 100 μ M capecitabine), EPA (-30%) or DHA (-36%) (fig.8.19).



Fig. 8.19 Cell viability in cells treated with 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA and 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA + 100 μ M capecitabine. Data were expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N; #p≤0.05 vs Cap100; §p ≤0.05 vs EPA+Cap; ° p ≤0.05 vs DHA+Cap. (N= control cells; EPA+DHA= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of DHA; Cap100= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of capecitabine; DHA+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of Capecitabine; DHA+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of DHA + Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of DHA + Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of Capecitabine; DHA+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of DHA + Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of DHA + Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of DHA + Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of DHA + Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of Capecitabine; EPA+DHA+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA + 100 μ M dose of Capecitabine).

8.5.2 Effects of treatment with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine on lipid accumulation

Oil red qualitative analysis (fig. 8.20, A) showed a higher lipid accumulation into cells treated with EPA+DHA, whereas a reduction in lipid droplets could be observed in cell simultaneously treated with EPA+DHA and capecitabine compared to EPA+DHA treated cells. Quantitative analysis confirmed these results. In fact, it was observed a -43% reduction in lipid content in EPA + DHA + capecitabine treated cells compared to EPA+DHA treated cells.



Fig. 8.20 (A). Representative images of cells treated with 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA, 100 μ M of capecitabine and 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA + 100 μ M capecitabine. (B) Data were expressed as means

8.5.3 Effects of treatment with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine on mitochondrial dynamics protein markers

 μ M EPA +DHA treatment induced a significative increase (+59%) in MFN2 content compared to control cells, as shown in figure 8.21 (A). In contrast, 100 μ M EPA + DHA in combination with 100 μ M capecitabine significantly reduced (-30%) MFN2 content compared to control cells.





Fig. 8.21 (**A**) MFN2 content in cells treated with 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA and 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA + 100 μ M capecitabine. Data were expressed as means \pm SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N, # p≤0.05 vs EPA+DHA. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of MFN2 normalized with β -actin (N= control cells; EPA+DHA= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of DHA; E+D+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA+100 μ M dose of DHA; E+D+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA+100 μ M dose of DHA; E+D+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of DHA+100 μ M dose of Capecitabine).

As regards DRP1, western blotting analysis demonstrated an increase in its content in cells treated with EPA+ DHA (+32%) compared to control cells (figure 8.22, A). A further increase in DRP1 content was observed in cells treated with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine (+54%). MFN2/DRP1 ratio was 1.43 in EPA+ DHA treated cells and 0.54 in EPA + DHA + capecitabine treated cells.



Fig. 8.22 (**A**) DRP1 content in cells treated with 100 μM EPA +100 μM DHA and 100 μM EPA +100 μM DHA + 100 μM capecitabine. Data are expressed as means ± SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences are shown: *p≤0.05 vs N, # p≤0.05 vs EPA+DHA. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of DRP1 normalized with β-actin. (**C**) MFN2/DRP1 ratio obtained by dividing MFN2 content by DRP1 content. (N= control cells; EPA+DHA= cells treated with 100 μM dose of EPA + 100 μM dose

of DHA; E+D+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA+100 μ M dose of DHA+100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

8.5.4 Effects of treatment with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine on antioxidant defence protein

SOD2 content significantly increased (+31%) in cells treated with 100 μ M of EPA + DHA, whereas the treatment with EPA + DHA in association with capecitabine induced a significant reduction (-34%) compared to control cells (figure 8.23, A).



Fig. 8.23 (A) SOD2 content in cells treated with 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA and 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA + 100 μ M capecitabine. Data were expressed as means \pm SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant

differences were shown: *p ≤ 0.05 vs N, # p ≤ 0.05 vs EPA+DHA. (**B**) The figure showed a representative western blot of SOD2 normalized with β -actin (N= control cells; EPA+DHA= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of DHA; E+D+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA+100 μ M dose of DHA; E+D+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA+100 μ M dose of DHA+100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

No significant changes were observed in GPx1 content in EPA+DHA treated cells, whereas a reduction (-21%) was observed in cells treated with EPA+DHA in association with capecitabine compared to control cells (fig. 8.24, A).



Fig. 8.24 (A) GPx1 content in cells treated with 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA and 100 μ M EPA +100 μ M DHA + 100 μ M capecitabine. Data were expressed as means \pm SEM of 3 different experiments. Statistical analysis was performed one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Šídák's multiple comparisons test. Significant differences were shown: *p≤0.05 vs N, # p≤0.05 vs EPA+DHA. (B) The figure showed a representative

western blot of GPx1 normalized with β -actin (N= control cells; EPA+DHA= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA + 100 μ M dose of DHA; E+D+Cap= cells treated with 100 μ M dose of EPA+100 μ M dose of DHA+100 μ M dose of capecitabine).

8.6 Omega-3 PUFAs effects on HepG2 cells vitality and mitochondrial dynamics in combination with the anticancer prodrug, capecitabine: Discussion and conclusions

The results obtained in this experimental work contribute to shed light on the effect of Omega-3 PUFAs, namely EPA and DHA, on mitochondrial dynamic behavior and antioxidant defense, and on their effect in association with cancer prodrug. In the first part of the experimental work, I focused on the dose dependent effect of EPA or DHA on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics proteins and antioxidants enzymes contents. As expected, both EPA and DHA increased lipid accumulation in a dose dependent manner in HepG2 cells. However, the increase in lipid accumulation did not induce lipotoxicity, as showed by cell viability that did not change in the presence of Omega-3 PUFAs. The mechanisms underlying cellular survival could involve mitochondria and their dynamic behavior. It is well known that a correct balance between mitochondrial fusion and fission processes is important for mitochondrial bioenergetics. It has been suggested that fission processes are associated with mitochondria degradation and therefore they are induced under conditions in which mitochondria are damaged, whereas mitochondrial fusion processes are induced in conditions in

which an optimization of mitochondrial bioenergetics is required [¹⁹²,¹⁹³]. Present results showed that EPA induced a decrease in DRP1 content, without changes in MFN2 content, whereas DHA induced a slight increase in MFN2 content with both doses utilized, associated with a decrease in DRP1 content only with the dose of 50 µM. Therefore, EPA and DHA differently affected MFN2 and DRP1 content, but both omega 3 PUFAs induced an increase in MFN2/DRP1 ratio with a shift toward fusion processes. These finding confirmed the results obtained from in vivo studies [74] in which it was demonstrated that a diet rich in polyunsaturated fats preserves mitochondrial dynamics from fission processes, which are instead associated with cellular damage. Moreover, in an *in vitro* steatosis hepatocyte model created using HepG2 cells, both EPA and DHA (50 µmol/L for 1 h) induced mitochondrial fusion process [77], as well as an in vitro cultured L6 myocytes study, showed that DHA (25 µM for 4 h) induced the downregulation of fission genes DRP1 and Fis1 associated with a higher proportion of large and elongated mitochondria [76]. The mechanism underlying Omega-3 PUFAs mitochondrial fusion stimulation may involve changes in lipid composition of mitochondrial membranes and/or receptor-mediated signaling. Further studies are needed to elucidate this mechanism as well as the mechanism linking mitochondrial fusion to amelioration of energy cellular metabolism. The shift toward fusion may be an adaptive mechanism by which functional mitochondria complement dysfunctional mitochondria counteracting cellular stress and lipotoxicity induced by fatty acids.

As for oxidative stress, the many double bonds EPA and DHA may lead to an increased unsaturation index once they are incorporated into the membranes and lipoproteins [¹⁹⁴]. Therefore, higher lipid peroxidation could be induced based on the premise that fatty acid oxidability might be directly associated with the number of double bonds in the fatty acid chain [¹⁹⁵]. Divergent effects of Omega-3 PUFA supplementation on different oxidative-stress biomarkers have been reported [¹⁹⁶,¹⁹⁷]. Several studies (reviewed in [¹⁹⁸]) showed a lowering effect on oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation biomarkers with EPA or DHA supplementation [¹⁹⁹,²⁰⁰]. Other studies showed increased levels of oxidative stress or lipid peroxidation biomarkers [²⁰¹,²⁰²] or no changes [²⁰³,²⁰⁴]. It has been suggested that Omega-3 PUFAs may indirectly act as antioxidants by lowering ROS production in an unsaturation-dependent manner, given the high unsaturation level of Omega-3 PUFAs [²⁰⁵].

In the present thesis, the effects of Omega-3 PUFAs on antioxidant enzymes, such as SOD2 and GPX1 were analyzed. Results showed that DHA increased SOD2 and GPx1 content in a dose dependent manner, whereas EPA induced a tendency to increase in GPx1 content. The increase in antioxidant defenses could be useful to counteract cellular damage due to oxidative stress and could contribute to maintain cell viability in the presence of intracellular lipid accumulation.

In the second part of the experimental work, I focused on the dose dependent effect of the prodrug capecitabine on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics proteins and antioxidants enzymes contents. As expected, capecitabine induced a dose dependent decrease in cell viability. This funding was associate with a decrease in lipid accumulation with the highest capecitabine dose, suggesting an increase in fat utilization to counteract the energy requirement induced by the prodrug.

As for mitochondrial dynamics markers, capecitabine treatment induced an increase both in MFN2 and DRP1 content, but the increase was higher in DRP1 than in MFN2 content. Therefore, capecitabine induced a decrease in MFN2/DRP1 ratio, suggesting a shift of fusion/fission balance towards fission processes. This finding is in accordance with the association between fission processes and mitochondrial dysfunction. Capecitabine also induced a dose dependence decrease in SOD2 content, but not in GPx1 content. This decrease in antioxidant defense is associated with mitochondrial fission processes induction and cell viability decrease. Therefore, mitochondrial dynamic behavior and oxidative stress could be involved in the mechanisms underlying the anticancer effect of capecitabine.

In the last part of the experimental work, I focused on the effect of simultaneous treatment with the prodrug capecitabine and Omega-3 PUFAs on cell viability, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial dynamics proteins and antioxidants enzymes contents. In particular, it was analyzed three different cotreatment: 1) capecitabine with EPA, 2) capecitabine with DHA or 3) capecitabine with a combination of EPA+DHA.
As for the first two treatments, the cotreatment with capecitabine and EPA or DHA induced a further decrease in cell viability compared to treatment with capecitabine alone. Noteworthy, the cotreatment of Omega-3 PUFAs with capecitabine induced a decrease in the lipid accumulation compared to the treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs alone, probably due to fatty acids utilization to counteract energy requirements induced by the anticancer prodrug.

As for mitochondrial dynamics, cotreatments with capecitabine and EPA or DHA induced an increase in both MFN2 and DRP1 content compared to the treatment with capecitabine alone. However, the increase was higher in DRP1 content than in MFN2 content. Therefore, the MFN2/DRP1 ratio was lower than in control cells, suggesting a shift towards fission processes. Noteworthy, the treatment with EPA or DHA alone induced a shift towards fusion processes, whereas the cotreatment with EPA or DHA and capecitabine induced a shift towards fission processes increasing the effect of capecitabine alone.

As for antioxidant defense, SOD2 content was higher in capecitabine + EPA or DHA treated cells than in capecitabine treated cells, and it was only slightly lower than control cells. GPx1 content was higher than in capecitabine treated and control cells. Therefore, the cotreatment of capecitabine with EPA or DHA increased the antioxidant defense. However, the increase in antioxidant defense was not able to counteract oxidative stress and cell damage as showed by the increase in mitochondrial fission and the decrease in cell viability. In the last experiment, I analyzed the effect of the treatment of capecitabine associated with both EPA and DHA (capecitabine + EPA + DHA). Noteworthy, this cotreatment induced a significant higher decrease in cell viability compared to treatment with capecitabine alone and with capecitabine + EPA or DHA. A decrease in the lipid accumulation compared to the treatment with Omega-3 PUFAs alone was observed, probably due to fatty acids utilization to counteract energy requirements induced by the anticancer prodrug.

As for mitochondrial dynamics, cotreatments with capecitabine and EPA+DHA induced a decrease in MFN2 and an increase in DRP1 content compared to control cells. Therefore, the MFN2/DRP1 ratio was lower than in control cells, suggesting a shift towards fission processes. Noteworthy, the treatment with EPA or DHA alone induced a shift towards fusion processes, whereas the cotreatment with EPA or DHA or DHA and capecitabine induced a shift towards fission processes increasing the effect of capecitabine alone.

As for antioxidant defense, SOD2 content was increased in capecitabine + EPA +DHA treated cells compared to control cells, whereas GPx1 content was decreased compared to control cells. The combination of both EPA+DHA with capecitabine induced an alteration in antioxidant defense.

The main finding of the present work was that the cytotoxic effect of capecitabine was increased mainly by cotreatment with the combination of EPA+DHA, whereas the cotreatment with EPA or DHA alone induced only a slight increase in

141

capecitabine cytotoxicity. Cells treated with capecitabine alone or in combination with EPA, DHA or EPA+DHA showed a shift toward mitochondrial fission processes with a decrease in MFN2/DRP1 ratio, but only cells cotreated with capecitabine + EPA + DHA showed a decrease in MFN2 content. Therefore, MFN2 loss seemed to play a key role in the induction of cytotoxicity. This suggestion is in agreement with the finding that loss of MFN2 sensitized cells to ER stress-induced cell death by increasing caspase activity and augmenting CHOP induction [114]. Further studies to analyze ER stress and apoptosis marker induction are needed.

The finding of the present PhD thesis shed light on the differential effect of EPA and DHA on cellular metabolism and their role as adjuvant in anticancer therapy. The mechanisms by which EPA, DHA or EPA+DHA differently affects mitochondrial dynamic protein markers, antioxidant defense and cell viability in capecitabine treated cells could be due to differential changes in lipid composition of mitochondrial membranes and/or receptor-mediated signaling. Further studies are needed to elucidate this mechanism.

Chapter 9 – Conclusions

In conclusion, the results of the present PhD thesis highlight the importance of studying the mechanisms of mitochondrial dynamics in association with oxidative stress and ER stress to understand the cellular mechanisms underlying the protective effects of bioactive compounds, such as Omega-3 PUFAs, on cellular health.

The results of the first experimental design that aimed to compare the effect of high fish oil diet and high lard diet on mitochondrial dynamic behaviour in liver and testis from male Wistar rats, showed that Omega-3 PUFAs induced a protective effect on cell metabolism by acting on mitochondrial fusion/fission protein markers. At the hepatic level, the results showed that the high fish oil diet, compared to high lard diet, induced a lower degree of high fat induced hepatic steatosis associated with the maintenance of the mitochondrial fusion/fission balance. Furthermore, the normal content of MFN2 was associated with a lower increase in ER stress markers, whereas high lard diet induced a decrease in MFN2 content and a shift towards fission processes associated with an increase in ER stress markers. At the testicular level, high fish oil diet induced a shift in the mitochondrial dynamics towards the fusion processes with an increase in MFN2, whereas high lard diet induced an increase in fission processes associated with oxidative stress and apoptosis.

The results of the second experimental design that aimed to investigate the effect of Omega-3 PUFAs, namely EPA and DHA, alone or in combination with the anticancer prodrug capecitabine on mitochondrial dynamics and oxidative stress in HepG2 cells, showed that a shift towards fusion processes was observed in cells treated with Omega-3 PUFAs alone. Moreover, Omega-3 PUFAs potentiated the cytotoxic effect of capecitabine by inducing a decrease in MFN2, a shift towards fission processes and an alteration in antioxidant defences. The marked decrease in MFN2 leads to hypothesize a key role of this protein in pro-survival or death cell fate. The effects of Omega-3 PUFAs on mitochondrial dynamic behaviour may involve variation of mitochondrial membrane composition and permeability to the anticancer drug due to the high unsaturation degree of Omega-3 PUFAs. Further studies are needed to shed light on this underlying mechanism.

The main finding of the present PhD thesis is the involvement of the mitochondrial dynamic behaviour in the Omega-3 PUFAs effects on cell metabolism under condition of stress induced by high fat feeding or anticancer drugs.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the following people for their direct or indirect contribution to this thesis:

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor, *Prof. Lillà Lionetti*, who has assisted and guided me from the first years of my academic training until the end of this PhD project, contributing to my education and giving me professional and life advice that I consider precious and fundamental.

Prof. Oriana Motta (Department of Medicine and Surgery "*Scuola Medica Salernitana*", University of Salerno), who partially funded the *in vitro* project with a one-year scholarship.

Dr. Vincenzo Migliaccio, who contributed substantially to part of the in vivo results of this thesis project.

My colleague *Dr. Serena Penna*, who helped and supported me throughout the experimental work.

My family, who supported me and offered deep insight into the study.

Finally, my partner, *Vincenzo Russo*, for his constant patience and moral support, helping me to overcome obstacles and encouraging me to give my best, always.

Fundings

- FARB 2018 LIONETTI (University of Salerno) cod. 300389FRB18LIONE
 "Composti bioattivi: analisi dei meccanismi cellulari alla base degli effetti protettivi degli acidi grassi monoinsaturi e polinsaturi omega 3", Scientific Responsible: Prof. Lillà Lionetti
- FARB 2019 LIONETTI (University of Salerno) cod. 300389FRB19LIONE
 "Composti bioattivi: analisi dei meccanismi cellulari alla base degli effetti protettivi dei polifenoli, degli acidi grassi monoinsaturi e polinsaturi omega 3", Scientific Responsible: Prof. Lillà Lionetti
- FARB 2020 LIONETTI (University of Salerno) cod. 300389FRB20LIONE
 "Risposte cellulari ad inquinanti ambientali e meccanismi protettivi indotti da componenti nutrizionali presenti nella dieta mediterranea", Scientific Responsible: Prof. Lillà Lionetti
- FARB 2021 LIONETTI (University of Salerno) cod. 300389FRB21LIONE
 "Effetti benefici degli omega 3 verso xenobiotici: effetti protettivi nei confronti di stress cellulare indotto da inquinanti ambientali ed effetti di potenziamento dell'azione di farmaci antitumorali", Scientific Responsible: Prof. Lillà Lionetti
- One-year grant funded by the project PO FESR 2014-2020 (University of Salerno) cod. 300397POR18AITOMOTTA "Evaluation of the protective effects of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in cancer therapy through

the analysis of cellular mechanisms", Scientific responsible: Prof. Oriana Motta

References

¹ Taylor, R.; Miller, R.H.; Miller, R.D.; Porter, M.; Dalgleish, J.; Prince, J.T.
Automated structural classification of lipids by machine learning. *Bioinformatics*.
2015; 31(5):621-5. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu723

² Kannan, N.; Rao, A.S.; Nair, A. Microbial production of omega-3 fatty acids: an overview. *J Appl Microbiol.* 2021; 131(5):2114-2130. doi: 10.1111/jam.15034

³ Christie, W.W.; Harwood, J.L. Oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids to produce lipid mediators. *Essays Biochem*. 2020; 64(3):401-421. doi: 10.1042/EBC20190082

⁴ Visioli, F.; Poli, A. Fatty Acids and Cardiovascular Risk. Evidence, Lack of Evidence and Diligence. *Nutrients*. 2020; 12(12):3782. doi: 10.3390/nu12123782
⁵ Kapoor, B.; Kapoor, D.; Gautam, S.; Singh, R.; Bhardwaj, S. Dietary Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (PUFAs): Uses and Potential Health Benefits. *Curr Nutr Rep*. 2021; 10(3):232-242. doi: 10.1007/s13668-021-00363-3

⁶ Gutiérrez, S.; Svahn, S.L.; Johansson, M.E. Effects of Omega-3 Fatty Acids on Immune Cells. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019; 20(20):5028. doi: 10.3390/ijms20205028

⁷ Nguyen, Q.V.; Malau-Aduli, B.S.; Cavalieri, J.; Malau-Aduli, A.E.O.; Nichols,
P.D. Enhancing Omega-3 Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Content of
Dairy-Derived Foods for Human Consumption. *Nutrients*. 2019; 11(4):743. doi:
10.3390/nu11040743

⁸ Nelson, D.L.; Cox, M. M. Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry. *Macmillan* 2021

⁹ Shahidi, F.; Ambigaipalan, P. Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Their Health Benefits. *Annu Rev Food Sci Technol.* 2018; 9:345-381. doi: 10.1146/annurev-food-111317-095850.

¹⁰ Zhang, J.Y.; Kothapalli, K.S.; Brenna, J.T. Desaturase and elongase-limiting endogenous long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2016; 19(2):103-10. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000254

¹¹ Burns-Whitmore, B.; Froyen, E.; Heskey, C.; Parker, T.; San Pablo, G. Alpha-Linolenic and Linoleic Fatty Acids in the Vegan Diet: Do They Require Dietary Reference Intake/Adequate Intake Special Consideration? *Nutrients*. 2019; 11(10):2365. doi: 10.3390/nu11102365.

¹² Cholewski, M.; Tomczykowa, M.; Tomczyk, M. A Comprehensive Review of Chemistry, Sources and Bioavailability of Omega-3 Fatty Acids. *Nutrients* 2018; 10(11):1662. doi: 10.3390/nu10111662

¹³ Ruiz-Lopez, N.; Usher, S.; Sayanova, O.V.; Napier, J.A.; Haslam, R.P. Modifying the lipid content and composition of plant seeds: engineering the production of LC-PUFA. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol.* 2015; 99(1):143-54. doi: 10.1007/s00253-014-6217-2

¹⁴ Calder, P.C.; Deckelbaum, R.J. Editorial: Omega-3 fatty acids: new studies, new data, new questions. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2021; 24(2):109-113. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0000000000000726

¹⁵ Richter, C.K.; Bowen, K.J.; Mozaffarian, D.; Kris-Etherton, P.M.; Skulas-Ray, A.C. Total long-chain n-3 fatty acid intake and food sources in the United States compared to recommended intakes: NHANES 2003–2008. *Lipids*. 2017, 52, 917– 927

¹⁶ Saini, R.K.; Keum, Y.S. Omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids:
Dietary sources, metabolism, and significance - A review. *Life Sci.* 2018; 203:255-267. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.04.049

¹⁷ Elagizi, A.; Lavie, C.J.; O'Keefe, E.; Marshall, K.; O'Keefe, J.H.; Milani, R.V. An Update on Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Cardiovascular Health.

Nutrients. 2021;13(1):204. doi: 10.3390/nu13010204

¹⁸ Kumar, V.; Abbas, A.K.; Fausto, N.; Aster, J.C. Robbins and Cotran Pathologic
Basis of Disease. *Elsevier - Health Sci Div.*, 2020.

¹⁹ Djuricic, I.; Calder, P.C. Beneficial Outcomes of Omega-6 and Omega-3
Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids on Human Health: An Update for 2021. *Nutrients*.
2021; 13(7):2421. doi: 10.3390/nu13072421

²⁰ Troesch, B.; Eggersdorfer, M.; Laviano, A.; Rolland, Y.; Smith, A.D.; Warnke,
I.; Weimann, A.; Calder, P.C. Expert Opinion on Benefits of Long-Chain Omega3 Fatty Acids (DHA and EPA) in Aging and Clinical Nutrition. *Nutrients*. 2020;
12(9):2555. doi: 10.3390/nu12092555

²¹ Lionetti, L.; Mollica, M.P.; Lombardi, A.; Cavaliere, G.; Gifuni, G.; Barletta,
A. From chronic overnutrition to insulin resistance: the role of fat-storing capacity

and inflammation. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2009; 19(2):146-52. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2008.10.010

²² Rana, M.N.; Neeland, I.J. Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Cardiovascular
 Disease: An Update. *Curr Diab Rep.* 2022. doi: 10.1007/s11892-021-01446-9

²³ Migliaccio, V.; Sica, R.; Di Gregorio, I.; Putti, R.; Lionetti, L. High-Fish Oil and High-Lard Diets Differently Affect Testicular Antioxidant Defense and Mitochondrial Fusion/Fission Balance in Male Wistar Rats: Potential Protective Effect of ω 3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Targeting Mitochondria Dynamics. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019; 20(12):3110. doi: 10.3390/ijms20123110

²⁴ Migliaccio, V.; Gregorio, I.D.; Putti, R.; Lionetti, L. Mitochondrial Involvement in the Adaptive Response to Chronic Exposure to Environmental Pollutants and High-Fat Feeding in a Rat Liver and Testis. *Cells.* 2019; 8(8):834. doi: 10.3390/cells8080834

²⁵ García, N.; Zazueta, C.; Aguilera-Aguirre, L. Oxidative Stress and Inflammation in Cardiovascular Disease. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*. 2017; 2017:5853238. doi: 10.1155/2017/5853238

²⁶ Engin, A. Endothelial dysfunction in obesity. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 2017; 960:345–
79. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-48382-5_15

²⁷ Migliaccio, V.; Sica, R.; Scudiero, R.; Simoniello, P.; Putti, R.; Lionetti, L. Physiological adaptation to simultaneous chronic exposure to high-fat diet and dichlorodipheniletylhene (DDE) in *Wistar* rat testis. *Cells*. 2019; 8:443. doi:10.3390/cells8050443

²⁸ Salas-Huetos, A.; Bulló, M.; Salas-Salvadó, J. Dietary patterns, foods and nutrients in male fertility parameters and fecundability: a systematic review of observational studies. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2017; 23(4):371-389. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmx006

²⁹ Barbagallo, F.; Condorelli, R.A.; Mongioì, L.M.; Cannarella, R.; Cimino, L.; Magagnini, M.C.; Crafa, A.; La Vignera, S.; Calogero, A.E. Molecular Mechanisms Underlying the Relationship between Obesity and Male Infertility. *Metabolites*. 2021; 11(12):840. doi: 10.3390/metabo11120840

³⁰ El Salam, M.A.A. Obesity, An Enemy of Male Fertility: A Mini Review. *Oman Med J.* 2018; 33(1):3-6. doi: 10.5001/omj.2018.02

³¹ Ommati, M.M.; Li, H.; Jamshidzadeh, A.; Khoshghadam, F.; Retana-Márquez, S.; Lu, Y.; Farshad, O.; Nategh Ahmadi, M.H.; Gholami, A.; Heidari, R. The crucial role of oxidative stress in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease-induced male reproductive toxicity: the ameliorative effects of Iranian indigenous probiotics. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol.* 2022; 395(2):247-265. doi: 10.1007/s00210-021-02177-0

³² Volpato, M.; Hull, M.A. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acis as adjuvant therapy of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 2018; 37(2-3):545-555. doi: 10.1007/s10555-018-9744-y ³³ Lepretti, M.; Martucciello, S.; Burgos Aceves, M.A.; Putti, R.; Lionetti, L. Omega-3 Fatty Acids and Insulin Resistance: Focus on the Regulation of Mitochondria and Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress. *Nutrients*. 2018; 10(3):350. doi: 10.3390/nu10030350

³⁴ Villalobos-Labra, R.; Subiabre, M.; Toledo, F.; Pardo, F.; Sobrevia, L. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and development of insulin resistance in adipose, skeletal, liver, and foetoplacental tissue in diabesity. *Mol Aspects Med.* 2019; 66:49-61. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2018.11.001

³⁵ Tubbs, E.; Chanon, S.; Robert, M.; Bendridi, N.; Bidaux, G.; Chauvin, M.A.; Ji-Cao, J.; Durand, C.; Gauvrit-Ramette, D.; Vidal, H.; Lefai, E.; Rieusset, J. Disruption of Mitochondria-Associated Endoplasmic Reticulum Membrane (MAM) Integrity Contributes to Muscle Insulin Resistance in Mice and Humans. *Diabetes.* 2018; 67(4):636-650. doi: 10.2337/db17-0316

³⁶ Yaribeygi, H.; Farrokhi, F.R.; Butler, A.E.; Sahebkar, A. Insulin resistance:
Review of the underlying molecular mechanisms. *J Cell Physiol.* 2019
Jun;234(6):8152-8161. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27603

³⁷ Montgomery, M.K. Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Diabetes: Is Mitochondrial Transfer a Friend or Foe? *Biology (Basel)*. 2019; 8(2):33. doi: 10.3390/biology8020033

³⁸ Iovine, J.C.; Claypool, S.M.; Alder, N.N. Mitochondrial compartmentalization:
emerging themes in structure and function. *Trends Biochem Sci.* 2021; 46(11):902917. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2021.06.003

³⁹ Signes, A.; Fernandez-Vizarra, E. Assembly of mammalian oxidative phosphorylation complexes I-V and supercomplexes. *Essays Biochem.* 2018; 62(3):255-270. doi: 10.1042/EBC20170098

⁴⁰ Ward, J.P.T. From Physiological Redox Signalling to Oxidant Stress. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2017; 967:335-342. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-63245-2_21

⁴¹ Pontieri, G.M.; Russo, M.A.; Frati, L. Patologia generale. *Piccin*, 6th edition, 2018.

⁴² Bhatti, J.S.; Bhatti, G.K.; Reddy, P.H. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in metabolic disorders - A step towards mitochondria based therapeutic strategies. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis*. 2017; 1863(5):1066-1077. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.11.010

⁴³ Lin, Y.H. MicroRNA Networks Modulate Oxidative Stress in Cancer. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019; 20(18):4497. doi: 10.3390/ijms20184497

⁴⁴ Bolduc, J.A.; Collins, J.A.; Loeser, R.F. Reactive oxygen species, aging and articular cartilage homeostasis. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2019; 132:73-82. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.08.038

⁴⁵ Gao, Q. Oxidative Stress and Autophagy. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2019; 1206:179198. doi: 10.1007/978-981-15-0602-4_9

⁴⁶ Wang, Y.; Branicky, R.; Noë, A.; Hekimi, S. Superoxide dismutases: Dual roles in controlling ROS damage and regulating ROS signaling. *J Cell Biol.* 2018; 217(6):1915-1928. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201708007

⁴⁷ Jakubczyk, K.; Dec, K.; Kałduńska, J.; Kawczuga, D.; Kochman, J.; Janda, K.
Reactive oxygen species - sources, functions, oxidative damage. *Pol Merkur Lekarski*. 2020; 48(284):124-127

⁴⁸ Lewandowski, Ł.; Kepinska, M.; Milnerowicz, H. Alterations in Concentration/Activity of Superoxide Dismutases in Context of Obesity and Selected Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in Genes: SOD1, SOD2, SOD3. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020; 21(14):5069. doi: 10.3390/ijms21145069

⁴⁹ Kim, Y.S.; Gupta Vallur, P.; Phaëton, R.; Mythreye, K.; Hempel, N. Insights into the Dichotomous Regulation of SOD2 in Cancer. *Antioxidants (Basel)*. 2017;
6(4):86. doi: 10.3390/antiox6040086

⁵⁰ Skórska, K.B.; Płaczkowska, S.; Prescha, A.; Porębska, I.; Kosacka, M.; Pawełczyk, K.; Zabłocka-Słowińska, K. Serum Total SOD Activity and SOD1/2 Concentrations in Predicting All-Cause Mortality in Lung Cancer Patients. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel).* 2021; 14(11):1067. doi: 10.3390/ph14111067

⁵¹ Wei, R.; Qiu, H.; Xu, J.; Mo, J.; Liu, Y.; Gui, Y.; Huang, G.; Zhang, S.; Yao, H.; Huang, X.; Gan, Z. Expression and prognostic potential of GPX1 in human cancers based on data mining. *Ann Transl Med.* 2020; 8(4):124. doi: 10.21037/atm.2020.02.36

⁵² Gabaldón, T. Origin and Early Evolution of the Eukaryotic Cell. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2021; 75:631-647. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-090817-062213

⁵³ Cheng, Y.; Xu, T.; Li, S.; Ruan, H. GPX1, a biomarker for the diagnosis and prognosis of kidney cancer, promotes the progression of kidney cancer. *Aging (Albany NY).* 2019; 11(24):12165-12176. doi: 10.18632/aging.102555

⁵⁴ Lee, J.R.; Roh, J.L.; Lee, S.M.; Park, Y.; Cho, K.J.; Choi, S.H.; Nam, S.Y.; Kim, S.Y. Overexpression of glutathione peroxidase 1 predicts poor prognosis in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol.* 2017; 143(11):2257-2265. doi: 10.1007/s00432-017-2466-7

⁵⁵ Lu, Y.P.; Lou, Y.R.; Yen, P.; Newmark, H.L.; Mirochnitchenko, O.I.; Inouye, M.; Huang, M.T. Enhanced skin carcinogenesis in transgenic mice with high expression of glutathione peroxidase or both glutathione peroxidase and superoxide dismutase. *Cancer Res.* 1997; 57(8):1468-74

⁵⁶ Meng, Q.; Xu, J.; Liang, C.; Liu, J.; Hua, J.; Zhang, Y.; Ni, Q.; Shi, S.; Yu, X. GPx1 is involved in the induction of protective autophagy in pancreatic cancer cells in response to glucose deprivation. *Cell Death Dis.* 2018; 9(12):1187. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-1244-z

⁵⁷ Garrel, C.; Alessandri, J.M.; Guesnet, P.; Al-Gubory, K.H. Omega-3 fatty acids enhance mitochondrial superoxide dismutase activity in rat organs during postnatal development. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* 2012; 44(1):123-31. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2011.10.007 ⁵⁸ Chomova, M.; Balazova, M.; Muchova, J. Diabetes-induced abnormalities of mitochondrial function in rat brain cortex: the effect of n-3 fatty acid diet. *Mol Cell Biochem*. 2017; 435(1-2):109-131. doi: 10.1007/s11010-017-3061-6

⁵⁹ Heshmati, J.; Morvaridzadeh, M.; Maroufizadeh, S.; Akbari, A.; Yavari, M.; Amirinejad, A.; Maleki-Hajiagha, A.; Sepidarkish, M. Omega-3 fatty acids supplementation and oxidative stress parameters: A systematic review and metaanalysis of clinical trials. *Pharmacol Res.* 2019; 149:104462. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104462

⁶⁰ Dong, J.; Feng, X.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, Y.; Xia, F.; Liu, L.; Jin, Z.; Lu, C.; Xia, Y.; Papadimos, T.J.; Xu, X. ω-3 fish oil fat emulsion preconditioning mitigates myocardial oxidative damage in rats through aldehydes stress. *Biomed Pharmacother*. 2019; 118:109198. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.109198

⁶¹ El-Hattab, A.W.; Suleiman, J.; Almannai, M.; Scaglia, F. Mitochondrial dynamics: Biological roles, molecular machinery, and related diseases. *Mol Genet Metab.* 2018; 125(4):315-321. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2018.10.003

⁶² Chan, D.C. Mitochondrial Dynamics and Its Involvement in Disease. *Annu Rev Pathol.* 2020; 15:235-259. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathmechdis-012419-032711

⁶³ Tilokani, L.; Nagashima, S.; Paupe, V.; Prudent, J. Mitochondrial dynamics:
overview of molecular mechanisms. *Essays Biochem.* 2018; 62(3):341-360. doi:
10.1042/EBC20170104

⁶⁴ Giacomello, M.; Pyakurel, A.; Glytsou, C.; Scorrano, L. The cell biology of mitochondrial membrane dynamics. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2020; 21(4):204-224. doi: 10.1038/s41580-020-0210-7

⁶⁵ Cao, Y.L.; Meng, S.; Chen, Y.; Feng, J.X.; Gu, D.D.; Yu, B.; Li, Y.J.; Yang, J.Y.; Liao, S.; Chan, D.C.; Gao, S. MFN1 structures reveal nucleotide-triggered dimerization critical for mitochondrial fusion. *Nature*. 2017; 542(7641):372-376. doi: 10.1038/nature21077

⁶⁶ Wang, R.; Mishra, P.; Garbis, S.D.; Moradian, A.; Sweredoski, M.J.; Chan, D.C. Identification of new OPA1 cleavage site reveals that short isoforms regulate mitochondrial fusion. *Mol Biol Cell*. 2021; 32(2):157-168. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E20-09-0605

⁶⁷ Bahar, E.; Han, S.Y.; Kim, J.Y.; Yoon, H. Chemotherapy Resistance: Role of Mitochondrial and Autophagic Components. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2022; 14(6):1462.
doi: 10.3390/cancers14061462

⁶⁸ Ji, W.K.; Chakrabarti, R.; Fan, X.; Schoenfeld, L.; Strack, S.; Higgs, H.N.
Receptor-mediated Drp1 oligomerization on endoplasmic reticulum. *J Cell Biol*.
2017; 216(12):4123-4139. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201610057

⁶⁹ Sonn, S.K.; Seo, S.; Yang, J.; Oh, K.S.; Chen, H.; Chan, D.C.; Rhee, K.; Lee, K.S.; Yang, Y.; Oh, G.T. ER-associated CTRP1 regulates mitochondrial fission via interaction with DRP1. *Exp Mol Med.* 2021; 53(11):1769-1780. doi: 10.1038/s12276-021-00701-z

⁷⁰ Martins, A.R; Crisma, A.R.; Masi, L.N.; Amaral, C.L.; Marzuca-Nassr, G.N.; Bomfim, L.H.M.; Teodoro, B.G.; Queiroz, A.L.; Serdan, T.D.A.; Torres, R.P.; Mancini-Filho, J.; Rodrigues, A.C.; Alba-Loureiro, T.C.; Pithon-Curi, T.C.; Gorjao, R.; Silveira, L.R.; Curi, R.; Newsholme, P.; Hirabara, S.M. Attenuation of obesity and insulin resistance by fish oil supplementation is associated with improved skeletal muscle mitochondrial function in mice fed a high-fat diet. *J Nutr Biochem.* 2018; 55:76-88. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2017.11.012

⁷¹ Chacińska, M.; Zabielski, P.; Książek, M.; Szałaj, P.; Jarząbek, K.; Kojta, I.; Chabowski, A.; Błachnio-Zabielska, A.U. The Impact of OMEGA-3 Fatty Acids Supplementation on Insulin Resistance and Content of Adipocytokines and Biologically Active Lipids in Adipose Tissue of High-Fat Diet Fed Rats. *Nutrients*. 2019; 11(4):835. doi: 10.3390/nu11040835

⁷² Yan, C.; Tian, X.; Li, J.; Liu, D.; Ye, D.; Xie, Z.; Han, Y.; Zou, M.H. A High-Fat Diet Attenuates AMPK α1 in Adipocytes to Induce Exosome Shedding and Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Development In Vivo. *Diabetes*. 2021; 70(2):577-588. doi: 10.2337/db20-0146

⁷³ Valentine, W. J.; Tokuoka, S.M.; Hishikawa, D.; Kita, Y.; Shindou, H.; Shimizu,
T. LPAAT3 incorporates docosahexaenoic acid into skeletal muscle cell membranes and is upregulated by PPARδ activation. *J Lipid Res.* 2018; 59(2):184-194. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M077321

⁷⁴ Lionetti, L.; Mollica, M.P.; Donizzetti, I.; Gifuni, G.; Sica, R.; Pignalosa, A.; Cavaliere, G.; Gaita, M.; De Filippo, C.; Zorzano, A.; Putti, R. High-lard and high-fish-oil diets differ in their effects on function and dynamic behaviour of rat hepatic mitochondria. *PLoS One*. 2014; 9(3): e92753. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092753
⁷⁵ Lionetti, L.; Sica, R.; Mollica, M.P.; Putti, R. High-Lard and High-Fish Oil Diets Differ in Their Effects on Insulin Resistance Development, Mitochondrial Morphology and Dynamic Behaviour in Rat Skeletal Muscle. *Food Nutr Sci*. 2013, 04, 105–112

⁷⁶ Casanova, E.; Baselga-Escudero, L.; Ribas-Latre, A.; Arola-Arnal, A.; Bladé,
C.; Arola, L.; Salvadó, M.J. Epigallocatechin gallate counteracts oxidative stress
in docosahexaenoxic acid-treated myocytes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2014;
1837(6):783-91. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2014.01.014

⁷⁷ Li, G.; Li, Y.; Xiao, B.; Cui, D.; Lin, Y.; Zeng, J.; Li, J.; Cao, M.J.; Liu, J.
Antioxidant Activity of Docosahexaenoic Acid (DHA) and Its Regulatory Roles
in Mitochondria. *J Agric Food Chem.* 2021; 69(5):1647-1655. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.0c07751

⁷⁸ O'Connell, T.D.; Mason, R.P.; Budoff, M.J.; Navar, A.M.; Shearer, G.C. Mechanistic insights into cardiovascular protection for omega-3 fatty acids and their bioactive lipid metabolites. *Eur Heart J Suppl.* 2020; 22(Suppl J): J3-J20. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/suaa115

⁷⁹ Zucker, B.; Kozlov, M.M. Mechanism of shaping membrane nanostructures of endoplasmic reticulum. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2022;119(1):e2116142119. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2116142119

⁸⁰ Schwarz, D.S.; Blower, M.D. The endoplasmic reticulum: structure, function and response to cellular signaling. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2016; 73(1):79-94. doi: 10.1007/s00018-015-2052-6

⁸¹ Tirincsi, A.; Sicking, M.; Hadzibeganovic, D.; Haßdenteufel, S.; Lang, S. The Molecular Biodiversity of Protein Targeting and Protein Transport Related to the Endoplasmic Reticulum. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021; 23(1):143. doi: 10.3390/ijms23010143

⁸² Lam, M.; Marsters, S.A.; Ashkenazi, A.; Walter, P. Misfolded proteins bind and activate death receptor 5 to trigger apoptosis during unresolved endoplasmic reticulum stress. *Elife*. 2020; 9: e52291. doi: 10.7554/eLife.52291

⁸³ Chen, K.C.; Qu, S.; Chowdhury, S.; Noxon, I.C.; Schonhoft, J.D.; Plate, L.; Powers, E.T.; Kelly, J.W.; Lander, G.C.; Wiseman, R.L. The endoplasmic reticulum HSP40 co-chaperone ERdj3/DNAJB11 assembles and functions as a tetramer. *EMBO J.* 2017; 36(15):2296-2309. doi: 10.15252/embj.201695616

⁸⁴ Hekmatimoghaddam, S.; Zare-Khormizi, M.R.; Pourrajab, F. Underlying mechanisms and chemical/biochemical therapeutic approaches to ameliorate protein misfolding neurodegenerative diseases. *Biofactors*. 2017; 43(6):737-759. doi: 10.1002/biof.1264

⁸⁵ Berner, N.; Reutter, K.R.; Wolf, D.H. Protein Quality Control of the Endoplasmic Reticulum and Ubiquitin-Proteasome-Triggered Degradation of Aberrant Proteins: Yeast Pioneers the Path. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 2018; 87:751-782. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-062917-012749

⁸⁶ Hsu, S.K.; Chiu, C.C.; Dahms, H.U.; Chou, C.K.; Cheng, C.M.; Chang, W.T.; Cheng, K.C.; Wang, H.D.; Lin, I.L. Unfolded Protein Response (UPR) in Survival, Dormancy, Immunosuppression, Metastasis, and Treatments of Cancer Cells. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019; 20(10):2518. doi: 10.3390/ijms20102518

⁸⁷ Moura-Assis, A.; Afonso, M.S.; de Oliveira, V.; Morari, J.; Dos Santos, G.A.; Koike, M.; Lottenberg, A.M.; Ramos Catharino, R.; Velloso, L.A.; Sanchez Ramos da Silva, A.; de Moura, L.P.; Ropelle, E.R.; Pauli, J.R.; Cintra, D.E.C. Flaxseed oil rich in omega-3 protects aorta against inflammation and endoplasmic reticulum stress partially mediated by GPR120 receptor in obese, diabetic and dyslipidemic mice models. *J Nutr Biochem.* 2018; 53:9-19. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2017.09.015

⁸⁸ Han, H.; Guo, Y.; Li, X.; Shi, D.; Xue, T.; Wang, L.; Li, Y.; Zheng, M. Plant Sterol Ester of α-Linolenic Acid Attenuates Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease by Rescuing the Adaption to Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Enhancing Mitochondrial Biogenesis. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*. 2019; 2019:8294141. doi: 10.1155/2019/8294141 ⁸⁹ Yang, L.; Guan, G.; Lei, L.; Lv, Q.; Liu, S.; Zhan, X.; Jiang, Z.; Gu, X. Palmitic acid induces human osteoblast-like Saos-2 cell apoptosis via endoplasmic reticulum stress and autophagy. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. 2018; 23(6):1283-1294. doi: 10.1007/s12192-018-0936-8

⁹⁰ Korbecki, J.; Bajdak-Rusinek, K. The effect of palmitic acid on inflammatory response in macrophages: an overview of molecular mechanisms. *Inflamm Res.* 2019; 68(11):915-932. doi: 10.1007/s00011-019-01273-5

⁹¹ Shaikh, S.R. Biophysical and biochemical mechanisms by which dietary N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids from fish oil disrupt membrane lipid rafts. *J Nutr Biochem.* 2012; 23(2):101-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2011.07.001

⁹² Yang, W.; Chen, X.; Chen, M.; Li, Y.; Li, Q.; Jiang, X.; Yang, Y.; Ling, W. Fish oil supplementation inhibits endoplasmic reticulum stress and improves insulin resistance: involvement of AMP-activated protein kinase. *Food Funct*. 2017; 8(4):1481-1493. doi: 10.1039/c6fo01841f

⁹³ Das, S.; Mondal, A.; Samanta, J.; Chakraborty, S.; Sengupta, A. Unfolded protein response during cardiovascular disorders: a tilt towards pro-survival and cellular homeostasis. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 2021; 476(11):4061-4080. doi: 10.1007/s11010-021-04223-0

⁹⁴ Iizuka, Y.; Kim, H.; Izawa, T.; Sakurai, K.; Hirako, S.; Wada, M.; Matsumoto,A. Protective effects of fish oil and pioglitazone on pancreatic tissue in obese KK

mice with type 2 diabetes. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*. 2016; 115:53-59. doi: 10.1016/j.plefa.2016.10.007

⁹⁵ Dong, Y.; Zhang, M.; Wang, S.; Liang, B.; Zhao, Z.; Liu, C.; Wu, M.; Choi, H.C.; Lyons, T.J.; Zou, M.H. Activation of AMP-activated protein kinase inhibits oxidized LDL-triggered endoplasmic reticulum stress in vivo. *Diabetes.* 2010; 59(6):1386-96. doi: 10.2337/db09-1637

⁹⁶ Lebeaupin, C.; Vallée, D.; Hazari, Y.; Hetz, C.; Chevet, E.; Bailly-Maitre, B. Endoplasmic reticulum stress signalling and the pathogenesis of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Hepatol.* 2018; 69(4):927-947. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.06.008

⁹⁷ Jung, T.W.; Hwang, H.J.; Hong, H.C.; Choi, H.Y.; Yoo, H.J.; Baik, S.H.; Choi, K.M. Resolvin D1 reduces ER stress-induced apoptosis and triglyceride accumulation through JNK pathway in HepG2 cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 2014; 391(1-2):30-40. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2014.04.012

⁹⁸ Fuentes, N.R.; Kim, E.; Fan, Y.Y.; Chapkin, R.S. Omega-3 fatty acids, membrane remodeling and cancer prevention. *Mol Aspects Med.* 2018; 64:79-91. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2018.04.001

⁹⁹ Zorzano, A.; Claret, M. Implications of mitochondrial dynamics on neurodegeneration and on hypothalamic dysfunction. *Front Aging Neurosci*. 2015;
7:101. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00101 ¹⁰⁰ Mukerjee, S.; Saeedan, A.S.; Ansari, M.N.; Singh, M. Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Mediated Regulation of Membrane Biochemistry and Tumor Cell Membrane Integrity. *Membranes (Basel)*. 2021; 11(7):479. doi: 10.3390/membranes11070479

¹⁰¹ Lionetti, L.; Mollica, M.; Lombardi, A.; Cavaliere, G.; Gifuni, G.; Barletta, A. From chronic overnutrition to insulin resistance: the role of fat-storing capacity and inflammation. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2009; 19:146–152 doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2008.10.010

¹⁰² Mollica, M.P; Lionetti, L; Putti, R.; Cavaliere, G.; Gaita, M.; Barletta, A. From chronic overfeeding to hepatic injury: role of endoplasmic reticulum stress and inflammation. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2011; 21:222-30. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2010.10.012

¹⁰³ Eslam, M.; Sanyal, A.J.; George, J; International Consensus Panel. MAFLD: A Consensus-Driven Proposed Nomenclature for Metabolic Associated Fatty Liver Disease. *Gastroenterology*. 2020; 158(7):1999-2014.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.11.312

¹⁰⁴ Engin, A. Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2017;
960:443-467. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-48382-5_19

¹⁰⁵ Farzanegi, P.; Dana, A.; Ebrahimpoor, Z.; Asadi, M.; Azarbayjani, M.A. Mechanisms of beneficial effects of exercise training on non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): Roles of oxidative stress and inflammation. *Eur J Sport Sci.* 2019; 19(7):994-1003. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2019.1571114

¹⁰⁶ Michelotti, A.; de Scordilli, M.; Palmero, L.; Guardascione, M.; Masala, M.;
Roncato, R.; Foltran, L.; Ongaro, E.; Puglisi, F. NAFLD-Related
Hepatocarcinoma: The Malignant Side of Metabolic Syndrome. *Cells.* 2021;
10(8):2034. doi: 10.3390/cells10082034

¹⁰⁷ Mansouri, A.; Gattolliat, C.H.; Asselah, T. Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Signaling in Chronic Liver Diseases. *Gastroenterology*. 2018; 155(3):629-647. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.06.083

¹⁰⁸ Xia, S.W.; Wang, Z.M.; Sun, S.M.; Su, Y.; Li, Z.H.; Shao, J.J; Tan, S.Z.; Chen, A.P.; Wang, S.J.; Zhang, Z.L.; Zhang, F.; Zheng, S.Z. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and protein degradation in chronic liver disease. *Pharmacol Res.* 2020; 161:105218. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105218

¹⁰⁹ Mitrovic, M.; Sistilli, G.; Horakova, O.; Rossmeisl, M. Omega-3 phospholipids and obesity-associated NAFLD: Potential mechanisms and therapeutic perspectives. *Eur J Clin Invest.* 2022; 52(3):e13650. doi: 10.1111/eci.13650

¹¹⁰ Rossignoli, C.P.; Dechandt, C.R.P.; Souza, A.O.; Sampaio, I.H.; Vicentini, T.M.; Teodoro, B.G.; Neto, M.P.C.; Ferrari, G.D.; Couto-Lima, C.A.; Alberici, L.C. Effects of intermittent dietary supplementation with conjugated linoleic acid and fish oil (EPA/DHA) on body metabolism and mitochondrial energetics in mice. *J Nutr Biochem*. 2018; 60:16-23. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2018.07.001 ¹¹¹ Chen, X.; Li, L.; Liu, X.; Luo, R.; Liao, G.; Li, L.; Liu, J.; Cheng, J.; Lu, Y.; Chen, Y. Oleic acid protects saturated fatty acid mediated lipotoxicity in hepatocytes and rat of non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. *Life Sci.* 2018; 203:291-304. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.04.022

¹¹² Den Hartogh, D.J.; Vlavcheski, F.; Giacca, A.; MacPherson, R.E.K.; Tsiani, E. Carnosic Acid Attenuates the Free Fatty Acid-Induced Insulin Resistance in Muscle Cells and Adipocytes. *Cells*. 2022; 11(1):167. doi: 10.3390/cells11010167
¹¹³ Zeng, X.; Zhu, M.; Liu, X.; Chen, X.; Yuan, Y.; Li, L.; Liu, J.; Lu, Y.; Cheng, J.; Chen, Y. Oleic acid ameliorates palmitic acid induced hepatocellular lipotoxicity by inhibition of ER stress and pyroptosis. *Nutr Metab (Lond)*. 2020; 17:11. doi: 10.1186/s12986-020-0434-8.

¹¹⁴ Ngoh, G.A.; Papanicolaou, K.N.; Walsh, K. Loss of mitofusin 2 promotes endoplasmic reticulum stress. *J Biol Chem.* 2012 Jun 8;287(24):20321-32. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.359174

¹¹⁵ Song, S.; Tan, J.; Miao, Y.; Li, M.; Zhang, Q. Crosstalk of autophagy and apoptosis: Involvement of the dual role of autophagy under ER stress. *J Cell Physiol.* 2017; 232(11):2977-2984. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25785

¹¹⁶ Shirakawa, J.; Terauchi, Y. Newer perspective on the coupling between glucose-mediated signaling and β -cell functionality. *Endocr J.* 2020; 67(1):1-8. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ19-0335

¹¹⁷ Masaki, H.; Kim, N.; Nakamura, H.; Kumasawa, K.; Kamata, E.; Hirano, K.I.; Kimura, T. Long-chain fatty acid triglyceride (TG) metabolism disorder impairs male fertility: a study using adipose triglyceride lipase deficient mice. *Mol Hum Reprod.* 2017; 23(7):452-460. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gax031

¹¹⁸ Kapourchali, F.R.; Louis, X.L.; Eskin, M.N.A.; Suh, M. A pilot study on the effect of early provision of dietary docosahexaenoic acid on testis development, functions, and sperm quality in rats exposed to prenatal ethanol. *Birth Defects Res.* 2020; 112(1):93-104. doi: 10.1002/bdr2.1614

¹¹⁹ Shishikura, K.; Kuroha, S.; Matsueda, S.; Iseki, H.; Matsui, T.; Inoue, A.; Arita, M. Acyl-CoA synthetase 6 regulates long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid composition of membrane phospholipids in spermatids and supports normal spermatogenic processes in mice. *FASEB J.* 2019; 33(12):14194-14203. doi: 10.1096/fj.201901074R

¹²⁰ Signorini, C.; Moretti, E.; Noto, D.; Micheli, L.; Ponchia, R.; Collodel, G. Fatty Acid Oxidation and Pro-Resolving Lipid Mediators Are Related to Male Infertility. *Antioxidants (Basel)*. 2022; 11(1):107. doi: 10.3390/antiox11010107
¹²¹ Salas-Huetos, A.; Bulló, M.; Salas-Salvadó, J. Dietary patterns, foods and nutrients in male fertility parameters and fecundability: A systematic review of observational studies. *Hum. Reprod. Update*. 2017; 23: 371–389. doi:10.1093/humupd/dmx006

¹²² Castillo, R.L.; Zepeda, A.B.; Short, S.E.; Figueroa, E.; Bustos-Obregon, E.;
Farías, J.G. Protective effects of polyunsatutared fatty acids supplementation against testicular damage induced by intermittent hypobaric hypoxia in rats. *J. Biomed. Sci.* 2015; 22:8. doi:10.1186/s12929-015-0112-8

¹²³ Ferramosca, A.; Zara, V. Diet and Male Fertility: The Impact of Nutrients and Antioxidants on Sperm Energetic Metabolism. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2022; 23(5):2542.
doi: 10.3390/ijms23052542

¹²⁴ Nowicka-Bauer, K.; Lepczynski, A.; Ozgo, M.; Kamieniczna, M.; Fraczek, M.;
Stanski, L.; Olszewska, M.; Malcher, A.; Skrzypczak, W.; Kurpisz, M.K. Sperm
mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress as possible reasons for isolated
asthenozoospermia. *J Physiol Pharmacol.* 2018; 69(3). doi:
10.26402/jpp.2018.3.05

¹²⁵ Moustafa, A. Effect of Omega-3 or Omega-6 Dietary Supplementation on Testicular Steroidogenesis, Adipokine Network, Cytokines, and Oxidative Stress in Adult Male Rats. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*. 2021; 2021:5570331. doi: 10.1155/2021/5570331

¹²⁶ Hu, X.; Ge, X.; Liang, W.; Shao, Y.; Jing, J.; Wang, C.; Zeng, R.; Yao, B. Effects of saturated palmitic acid and omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on Sertoli cell apoptosis. *Syst. Biol. Reprod. Med.* 2018, 64, 368–380. doi:10.1080/19396368.2018.1471554

¹²⁷ Kumar, V., Abbas, A.K., Aster, J.C. Robbins Basic Pathology. 10th Edition,
 Elsevier – Heath Sci Div. 2017; 516-522

¹²⁸ International Agency for Research on Cancer. Cancer. World Health Organization, 2010; 8:180.

¹²⁹ Campagna, S.; Gonella, S.; Sperlinga, R.; Giuliano, P.L.; Marchese, R.; Pedersini, R.; Berchialla, P.; Dimonte, V. Prevalence, Severity, and Self-Reported Characteristics of Taste Alterations in Patients Receiving Chemotherapy. *Oncol Nurs Forum*. 2018; 45(3):342-353. doi: 10.1188/18.ONF.342-353

¹³⁰ Lee, M.C.M.; Kachura, J.J.; Vlachou, P.A.; Dzulynsky, R.; Di Tomaso, A.; Samawi, H.; Baxter, N.; Brezden-Masley, C. Evaluation of Adjuvant Chemotherapy-Associated Steatosis (CAS) in Colorectal Cancer. *Curr Oncol.* 2021; 28(4):3030-3040. doi: 10.3390/curroncol28040265

¹³¹ Jalili, M.; Hekmatdoost, A. Dietary ω-3 fatty acids and their influence on inflammation via Toll-like receptor pathways. *Nutrition*. 2021; 85:111070. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2020.111070

¹³² Fuentes, N.R.; Mlih, M.; Wang, X.; Webster, G.; Cortes-Acosta, S.; Salinas, M.L.; Corbin, I.R.; Karpac, J.; Chapkin, R.S. Membrane therapy using DHA suppresses epidermal growth factor receptor signaling by disrupting nanocluster formation. *J Lipid Res.* 2021; 62:100026. doi: 10.1016/j.jlr.2021.100026

¹³³ Hou, T.Y.; McMurray, D.N.; Chapkin, R.S. Omega-3 fatty acids, lipid rafts, and T cell signaling. *Eur J Pharmacol.* 2016; 785:2-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.03.091

¹³⁴ Almeida, E.B.; Silva, K.P.H.; Paixão, V.; Amaral, J.B.D.; Rossi, M.; Xavier-Navarro, R.A.; Barros, K.V.; Silveira, V.L.F.; Vieira, R.P.; Oliveira, L.V.F.; Perez, E.C.; Jasiulionis, M.G.; Bachi, A.L.L. A Mixture of Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids ω -3 and ω -6 Reduces Melanoma Growth by Inhibiting Inflammatory Mediators in the Murine Tumor Microenvironment. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2019; 20(15):3765. doi: 10.3390/ijms20153765

¹³⁵ Shan, K.; Feng, N.; Cui, J.; Wang, S.; Qu, H.; Fu, G.; Li, J.; Chen, H.; Wang, X.; Wang, R.; Qi, Y.; Gu, Z.; Chen, Y.Q. Resolvin D1 and D2 inhibit tumour growth and inflammation via modulating macrophage polarization. *J Cell Mol Med.* 2020; 24(14):8045-8056. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.15436

¹³⁶ Zhu, S.; Jiang, X.; Jiang, S.; Lin, G.; Gong, J.; Chen, W.; He, Z.; Chen, Y.Q. GPR120 is not required for ω-3 PUFAs-induced cell growth inhibition and apoptosis in breast cancer cells. *Cell Biol Int.* 2018; 42(2):180-186. doi: 10.1002/cbin.10883

¹³⁷ D'Angelo, S.; Motti, M.L.; Meccariello, R. ω-3 and ω-6 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids, Obesity and Cancer. *Nutrients*. 2020;12(9):2751. doi: 10.3390/nu12092751
¹³⁸ Song, E.A.; Kim, H. Docosahexaenoic Acid Induces Oxidative DNA Damage and Apoptosis and Enhances the Chemosensitivity of Cancer Cells. *Int J Mol Sci*. 2016; 17(8):1257. doi: 10.3390/ijms17081257

¹³⁹ Siddiqui, R.A.; Harvey, K.; Stillwell, W. Anticancer properties of oxidation products of docosahexaenoic acid. *Chem Phys Lipids*. 2008; 153(1):47-56. doi: 10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2008.02.009

¹⁴⁰ Siddiqui, N.S.; Godara, A.; Byrne, M.M.; Saif, M.W. Capecitabine for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. 2019; 20(4):399-409. doi: 10.1080/14656566.2018.1560422

¹⁴¹ Inaishi, T.; Fujita, K.I.; Matsumoto, N.; Shimokata, T.; Maeda, O.; Kikumori,
T.; Hattori, N.; Nakayama, G.; Ando, Y. Correlation Between the Metabolic
Conversion of a Capecitabine Metabolite, 5'-Deoxy-5-fluorocytidine, and
Creatinine Clearance. *In Vivo.* 2020; 34(6):3539-3544. doi:
10.21873/invivo.12196

¹⁴² Cantrill, C.; Houston, J.B. Understanding the Interplay Between Uptake and Efflux Transporters Within In Vitro Systems in Defining Hepatocellular Drug Concentrations. *J Pharm Sci.* 2017; 106(9):2815-2825. doi: 10.1016/j.xphs.2017.04.056

¹⁴³ Eltweri, A.M.; Thomas, A.L.; Fisk, H.L.; Arshad, A.; Calder, P.C.; Dennison, A.R.; Bowrey, D.J. Plasma and erythrocyte uptake of omega-3 fatty acids from an intravenous fish oil based lipid emulsion in patients with advanced oesophagogastric cancer. *Clin Nutr.* 2017; 36(3):768-774. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2016.06.001

¹⁴⁴ Grumetti, L.; Lombardi, R.; Iannelli, F.; Pucci, B.; Avallone, A.; Di Gennaro,
E.; Budillon, A. Epigenetic Approaches to Overcome Fluoropyrimidines
Resistance in Solid Tumors. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2022; 14(3):695. doi: 10.3390/cancers14030695

¹⁴⁵ Zhang, J.; Fu, F.; Lin, Y.; Chen, Y.; Lu, M.; Chen, M.; Yang, P.; Huang, M.;
Wang, C. Evaluating the benefits and adverse effects of an enthracycline-taxanecapecitabine combined regimen in patients with early breast cancer. *Oncotarget*.
2017; 8(46):81636-81648. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.20386

¹⁴⁶ Grivicich, I.; Regner, A.; Rocha, A.B.; Grass, L.B.; Alves, P.A.; Kayser, G.B.; Schwartsmann, G.; Henriques, J.A. Irinotecan/5-fluorouracil combination induces alterations in mitochondrial membrane potential and caspases on colon cancer cell lines. *Oncol Res.* 2005; 15(7-8):385-92. doi: 10.3727/096504005776449680

¹⁴⁷ Luo, D.; Zhang, Y.; Yang, S.; Tian, X.; Lv, Y.; Guo, Z.; Liu, X.; Han, G.; Liu, S.; Wang, W.; Cui, S.; Qu, X.; Wan, S. Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 antagonists as potent 5-FU-resistance reversal agents for the treatment of colorectal cancer. *Eur J Med Chem.* 2021; 225:113775. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113775

¹⁴⁸ Kurasaka, C.; Ogino, Y.; Sato, A. Molecular Mechanisms and Tumor Biological Aspects of 5-Fluorouracil Resistance in HCT116 Human Colorectal Cancer Cells. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021; 22(6):2916. doi: 10.3390/ijms22062916 ¹⁴⁹ Yang, C.; Song, J.; Hwang, S.; Choi, J.; Song, G.; Lim, W. Apigenin enhances apoptosis induction by 5-fluorouracil through regulation of thymidylate synthase in colorectal cancer cells. *Redox Biol.* 2021; 47:102144. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2021.102144

¹⁵⁰ Orlandi, P.; Gentile, D.; Banchi, M.; Cucchiara, F.; Di Desidero, T.; Cremolini, C.; Moretto, R.; Falcone, A.; Bocci, G. Pharmacological effects of the simultaneous and sequential combinations of trifluridine/tipiracil (TAS-102) and 5-fluorouracil in fluoropyrimidine-sensitive colon cancer cells. *Invest New Drugs*. 2020; 38(1):92-98. doi: 10.1007/s10637-019-00804-5

¹⁵¹ Li, B.; Qin, Y.; Yu, X.; Xu, X.; Yu, W. Lipid raft involvement in signal transduction in cancer cell survival, cell death and metastasis. *Cell Prolif.* 2022; 55(1):e13167. doi: 10.1111/cpr.13167

¹⁵² Pagliara, V.; Saide, A.; Mitidieri, E.; d'Emmanuele di Villa Bianca, R.; Sorrentino, R.; Russo, G.; Russo, A. 5-FU targets rpL3 to induce mitochondrial apoptosis via cystathionine-β-synthase in colon cancer cells lacking p53. *Oncotarget*. 2016; 7(31):50333-50348. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.10385

¹⁵³ Nishio-Nagai, M.; Suzuki, S.; Yoshikawa, K.; Ueda, R.; Kazaoka, Y. Adoptive immunotherapy combined with FP treatment for head and neck cancer: An in vitro study. *Int J Oncol.* 2017; 51(5):1471-1481. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2017.4142

¹⁵⁴ Lunar, N.; Etienne-Grimaldi, M.C.; Macaire, P.; Thomas, F.; Dalenc, F.; Ferrero, J.M.; Pivot, X.; Milano, G.; Royer, B.; Schmitt, A. Population pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic modeling of capecitabine and its metabolites in breast cancer patients. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* 2021; 87(2):229-239. doi: 10.1007/s00280-020-04208-8.

¹⁵⁵ Hasan, A.; Rizvi, S.F.; Parveen, S; Pathak, N.; Nazir, A.; Mir, S.S. Crosstalk Between ROS and Autophagy in Tumorigenesis: Understanding the Multifaceted Paradox. *Front Oncol.* 2022; 12:852424. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.852424

¹⁵⁶ Wang, T.T.; Yang, Y.; Wang, F.; Yang, W.G.; Zhang, J.J.; Zou, Z.Q. Docosahexaenoic acid monoglyceride induces apoptosis and autophagy in breast cancer cells via lipid peroxidation-mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress. *J Food Sci.* 2021; 86(10):4704-4716. doi: 10.1111/1750-3841.15900

¹⁵⁷ Maccio, A.; Sanna, E.; Neri, M.; Oppi, S.; Madeddu, C. Cachexia as Evidence of the Mechanisms of Resistance and Tolerance during the Evolution of Cancer Disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021; 22(6):2890. doi: 10.3390/ijms22062890

¹⁵⁸ Wynter, M.P.; Russell, S.T.; Tisdale, M.J. Effect of n-3 fatty acids on the antitumour effects of cytotoxic drugs. *In Vivo*. 2004; 18(5):543-7

¹⁵⁹ Murphy, R.A.; Mourtzakis, M.; Mazurak, V.C. n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids:
the potential role for supplementation in cancer. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*.
2012; 15(3):246-51. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e328351c32f

¹⁶⁰ Eltweri, A.M.; Thomas, A.L.; Metcalfe, M.; Calder, P.C.; Dennison, A.R.; Bowrey, D.J. Potential applications of fish oils rich in omega-3 polyunsaturated
fatty acids in the management of gastrointestinal cancer. *Clin Nutr.* 2017; 36(1):65-78. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2016.01.007

¹⁶¹ Anno, T.; Yamatsuji, T.; Tomoda, K.; Nakanishi, S.; Kaneto, H. Case Report:Various Abnormalities in Lipid and Glucose Metabolism Induced by Capecitabine.

Front Oncol. 2021; 11:664475. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.664475

¹⁶² Leung, J.; Brady, J.L.; Crook, M.A. The clinical importance of recognizing capecitabine-induced hypertriglyceridemia: A case report and review of the literature. *J Clin Lipidol*. 2018; 12(6):1371-1373. doi: 10.1016/j.jacl.2018.07.005
¹⁶³ Sürmelioğlu, N.; Paydaş, S.; Karataş, Y.; Seydaoğlu, G. Evaluation of lipid profiles in patients treated with capecitabine. *Turk J Med Sci*. 2017; 47(4):1206-1209. doi: 10.3906/sag-1607-53

¹⁶⁴ Saito, Y.; Takekuma, Y.; Yuki, S.; Komatsu, Y.; Sugawara, M.
Hypertriglyceridemia Induced by Fluorouracil: A Novel Case Report. *Case Rep Oncol.* 2021; 14(1):207-211. doi: 10.1159/000512820

¹⁶⁵ Yim, C.; Mansell, K.; Hussein, N.; Arnason, T. Current cancer therapies and their influence on glucose control. *World J Diabetes*. 2021; 12(7):1010-1025. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v12.i7.1010

¹⁶⁶ Rani, I.; Kumar, S.; Sharma, B.; Prasad, R.; Kaur, S.; Sharma, P.; Agnihotri, N.
Elucidation of underlying molecular mechanism of 5-Fluorouracil chemoresistance and its restoration using fish oil in experimental colon carcinoma. *Mol Cell Biochem.* 2021; 476(3):1517-1527. doi: 10.1007/s11010-020-03999-x

¹⁶⁷ Zhuo, Z.; Zhang, L.; Mu, Q.; Lou, Y.; Gong, Z; Shi, Y.; Ouyang, G.; Zhang, Y.
The effect of combination treatment with docosahexaenoic acid and 5-fluorouracil on the mRNA expression of apoptosis-related genes, including the novel gene BCL2L12, in gastric cancer cells. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim.* 2009; 45(1-2):69-74. doi: 10.1007/s11626-008-9154-5

¹⁶⁸ Camargo, C.Q.; Mocellin, M.C.; Brunetta, H.S.; Chagas, T.R.; Fabre, M.E.S.; Trindade, E.B.S.M.; Silva, E.L.D.; Nunes, E.A. Fish oil decreases the severity of treatment-related adverse events in gastrointestinal cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy: A randomized, placebo-controlled, triple-blind clinical trial. *Clin Nutr ESPEN*. 2019; 31:61-70. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2019.02.015

 ¹⁶⁹ Díaz, M.; Mesa-Herrera, F.; Marín, R. DHA and Its Elaborated Modulation of Antioxidant Defenses of the Brain: Implications in Aging and AD Neurodegeneration. *Antioxidants (Basel)*. 2021; 10(6):907. doi: 10.3390/antiox10060907

¹⁷⁰ Newell, M.; Baker, K.; Postovit, L.M.; Field, C.J. A Critical Review on the Effect of Docosahexaenoic Acid (DHA) on Cancer Cell Cycle Progression. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2017; 18(8):1784. doi: 10.3390/ijms18081784

¹⁷¹ Sung, N.J..; Kim, N.H.; Bae, N.Y.; Jo, H.S.; Park, S.A. DHA inhibits Gremlin1-induced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition via ERK suppression in human
breast cancer cells. *Biosci Rep.* 2020; 40(3): BSR20200164. doi:
10.1042/BSR20200164

¹⁷² Calviello, G.; Resci, F.; Serini, S.; Piccioni, E.; Toesca, A.; Boninsegna, A.; Monego, G.; Ranelletti, F.O.; Palozza, P. Docosahexaenoic acid induces proteasome-dependent degradation of beta-catenin, down-regulation of survivin and apoptosis in human colorectal cancer cells not expressing COX-2. *Carcinogenesis*. 2007; 28(6):1202-9. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgl254

¹⁷³ Tang, M.; Floyd, S.; Cai, H.; Zhang, M.; Yang, R.; Dang, R. The status of ω-3 PUFAs influence chronic unpredicted mild stress-induced metabolic side effects in rats through INSIG/SREBP pathway. *Food Funct*. 2019; 10(8):4649-4660. doi: 10.1039/c9fo00076c

¹⁷⁴ Scorletti, E.; Byrne, C.D. Omega-3 fatty acids and non-alcoholic fatty liver
disease: Evidence of efficacy and mechanism of action. *Mol Aspects Med.* 2018;
64:135-146. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2018.03.001

¹⁷⁵ Leisegang, K.; Sengupta, P.; Agarwal, A.; Henkel, R. Obesity and male infertility: Mechanisms and management. *Andrologia*. 2021; 53(1):e13617. doi: 10.1111/and.13617

¹⁷⁶ Kaya Çakir, H.; Eroglu, O. In vitro anti-proliferative effect of capecitabine (Xeloda) combined with mocetinostat (MGCD0103) in 4T1 breast cancer cell line by immunoblotting. *Iran J Basic Med Sci.* 2021; 24(11):1515-1522. doi: 10.22038/IJBMS.2021.58393.12971

¹⁷⁷ Tomuleasa, C.; Soritau, O.; Orza, A.; Dudea, M.; Petrushev, B.; Mosteanu, O.; Susman, S.; Florea, A.; Pall, E.; Aldea, M.; Kacso, G.; Cristea, V.; Berindan-

Neagoe, I.: Irimie, A. Gold nanoparticles conjugated with cisplatin/doxorubicin/capecitabine lower the chemoresistance of hepatocellular carcinoma-derived cancer cells. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis. 2012; 21(2):187-96 ¹⁷⁸ Mollica, M.P.; Lionetti, L.; Moreno, M.; Lombardi, A.; De Lange, P.; Antonelli, A.; Lanni, A.; Cavaliere, G.; Barletta, A.; Goglia, F. 3,5-diiodo-1-thyronine, by modulating mitochondrial functions, reverses hepatic fat accumulation in rats fed a high-fat diet. J Hepatol. 2009; 51(2):363-70. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2009.03.023 ¹⁷⁹ Folch, J.; Lees, M; Sloane Stanley, G.H. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J Biol Chem. 1957; 226(1):497-509

¹⁸⁰ Chan, J.K. The wonderful colors of the hematoxylin-eosin stain in diagnostic surgical pathology. *Int J Surg Pathol.* 2014; 22(1):12–32. doi:10.1177/1066896913517939

¹⁸¹ Dhami-Shah, H.; Vaidya, R.; Udipi, S.; Raghavan, S.; Abhijit, S.; Mohan, V.; Balasubramanyam, M.; Vaidya, A. Picroside II attenuates fatty acid accumulation in HepG2 cells via modulation of fatty acid uptake and synthesis. *Clin. Mol. Hepatol.* 2018, 24(1), 77-87. doi: 10.3350/cmh.2017.0039

¹⁸² Hartree, E.F. Determination of protein: a modification of the Lowry method that gives a linear photometric response. *Anal Biochem.* 1972; 48(2):422-7. doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(72)90094-2

¹⁸³ Lionetti, L.; Mollica, M.P.; Sica, R.; Donizzetti, I.; Gifuni, G.; Pignalosa, A.; Cavaliere, G.; Putti, R. Differential effects of high-fish oil and high-lard diets on cells and cytokines involved in the inflammatory process in rat insulin-sensitive tissues. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2014;15(2):3040-63. doi: 10.3390/ijms15023040

¹⁸⁴ Al-Shaer, A.E.; Pal, A.; Shaikh, S.R. Resolvin E1-ChemR23 Axis Regulates the Hepatic Metabolic and Inflammatory Transcriptional Landscape in Obesity at the Whole Genome and Exon Level. *Front Nutr.* 2021; 8:799492. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.799492

¹⁸⁵ Missiroli, S.; Patergnani, S.; Caroccia, N.; Pedriali, G.; Perrone, M.; Previati,
M.; Wieckowski, M.R.; Giorgi, C. Mitochondria-associated membranes (MAMs)
and inflammation. *Cell Death Dis.* 2018; 9(3):329. doi: 10.1038/s41419-017-0027-2

¹⁸⁶ Migliaccio, V.; Sica, R.; Scudiero, R.; Simoniello, P.; Putti, R.; Lionetti, L. Physiological adaptation to simultaneous chronic exposure to high-fat diet and dichlorodipheniletylhene (DDE) in wistar rat testis. *Cells.* 2019, 8, 443. doi:10.3390/cells8050443

¹⁸⁷ Adebayo, M.; Singh, S.; Singh, A.P.; Dasgupta, S. Mitochondrial fusion and fission: The fine-tune balance for cellular homeostasis. *FASEB J.* 2021; 35(6):
e21620. doi: 10.1096/fj.202100067R

¹⁸⁸ Aly, H.A.A. Mitochondria-Mediated Apoptosis Induced Testicular
Dysfunction in Diabetic Rats: Ameliorative Effect of Resveratrol. *Endocrinology*.
2021; 162(4): bqab018. doi: 10.1210/endocr/bqab018

¹⁸⁹ Peña-Blanco, A.; García-Sáez, A.J. Bax, Bak and beyond - mitochondrial performance in apoptosis. *FEBS J.* 2018; 285(3):416-431. doi: 10.1111/febs.14186.

¹⁹⁰ Kang, S.; Huang, J.; Lee, B.K.; Jung, Y.S.; Im, E.; Koh, J.M.; Im, D.S. Omega3 polyunsaturated fatty acids protect human hepatoma cells from developing steatosis through FFA4 (GPR120). *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids*.
2018; 1863(2):105-116. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2017.11.002

¹⁹¹ Liu, R.; Chen, L.; Wang, Z.; Zheng, X.; Hou, Z.; Zhao, D.; Long, J.; Liu, J. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids prevent obesity by improving tricarboxylic acid cycle homeostasis. *J Nutr Biochem.* 2021; 88:108503. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2020.108503

¹⁹² Madan, S.; Uttekar, B.; Chowdhary, S.; Rikhy, R. Mitochondria Lead the Way: Mitochondrial Dynamics and Function in Cellular Movements in Development and Disease. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* 2022; 9:781933. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2021.781933
¹⁹³ Putti, R.; Sica, R.; Migliaccio, V.; Lionetti, L. Diet impact on mitochondrial bioenergetics and dynamics. *Front Physiol.* 2015; 6:109. doi:10.3389/fphys.2015.00109

181

¹⁹⁴ Preston Mason, R. New Insights into Mechanisms of Action for Omega-3 Fatty
Acids in Atherothrombotic Cardiovascular Disease. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2019;
21(1):2. doi: 10.1007/s11883-019-0762-1

¹⁹⁵ Tsikas, D. Assessment of lipid peroxidation by measuring malondialdehyde (MDA) and relatives in biological samples: Analytical and biological challenges. *Anal Biochem.* 2017; 524:13-30. doi: 10.1016/j.ab.2016.10.021

¹⁹⁶ Miralles-Pérez, B.; Méndez, L.; Nogués, M.R.; Sánchez-Martos, V.; Fortuño-Mar, À.; Ramos-Romero, S.; Hereu, M.; Medina, I.; Romeu, M. Effects of a Fish Oil Rich in Docosahexaenoic Acid on Cardiometabolic Risk Factors and Oxidative Stress in Healthy Rats. *Mar Drugs*. 2021; 19(10):555. doi: 10.3390/md19100555

¹⁹⁷ Torquato, P.; Giusepponi, D.; Bartolini, D.; Barola, C.; Marinelli, R.; Sebastiani, B.; Galarini, R.; Galli, F. Pre-analytical monitoring and protection of oxidizable lipids in human plasma (vitamin E and ω -3 and ω -6 fatty acids): An update for redox-lipidomics methods. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2021; 176:142-148. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2021.09.012

¹⁹⁸ Yang, J.; Fernández-Galilea, M.; Martínez-Fernández, L.; González-Muniesa, P.; Pérez-Chávez, A.; Martínez, J.A.; Moreno-Aliaga, M.J. Oxidative Stress and Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Effects of Omega-3 Fatty Acid Supplementation. *Nutrients*. 2019; 11(4):872. doi: 10.3390/nu11040872.

¹⁹⁹ Mori, T.A.; Dunstan, D.W.; Burke, V.; Croft, K.D.; Rivera, J.H.; Beilin, L.J.; Puddey, I.B. Effect of dietary fish and exercise training on urinary F2-isoprostane excretion in non-insulin-dependent diabetic patients. *Metabolism*. 1999; 48(11):1402-8. doi: 10.1016/s0026-0495(99)90150-6

²⁰⁰ Berge, R.K.; Ramsvik, M.S.; Bohov, P.; Svardal, A.; Nordrehaug, J.E.; Rostrup, E.; Bruheim, I.; Bjørndal, B. Krill oil reduces plasma triacylglycerol level and improves related lipoprotein particle concentration, fatty acid composition and redox status in healthy young adults - a pilot study. *Lipids Health Dis.* 2015; 14:163. doi: 10.1186/s12944-015-0162-7

²⁰¹ Zaloga, G.P. Narrative Review of n-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Supplementation upon Immune Functions, Resolution Molecules and Lipid Peroxidation. *Nutrients*. 2021; 13(2):662. doi: 10.3390/nu13020662

²⁰² Alves Luzia, L.; Mendes Aldrighi, J.; Teixeira Damasceno, N.R.; Rodrigues Sampaio, G.; Aparecida Manólio Soares, R.; Tande Silva, I.; De Queiroz Mello, A.P.; Ferreira Carioca, A.A.; Ferraz da Silva Torres, E.A. Fish oil and vitamin E change lipid profiles and anti-LDL-antibodies in two different ethnic groups of women transitioning through menopause. *Nutr Hosp.* 2015; 32(1):165-74. doi: 10.3305/nh.2015.32.1.9079

²⁰³ Camargo, C.Q.; Brunetta, H.S.; Nunes, E.A. Effects of cotreatment with omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and anticancer agents on oxidative stress parameters:
a systematic review of in vitro, animal, and human studies. *Nutr Rev.* 2018; 76(10):765-777. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuy029

²⁰⁴ Ottestad, I.; Vogt, G.; Retterstøl, K.; Myhrstad, M.C.; Haugen, J.E.; Nilsson,
A.; Ravn-Haren, G.; Nordvi, B.; Brønner, K.W.; Andersen, L.F.; Holven, K.B.;
Ulven, S.M. Oxidised fish oil does not influence established markers of oxidative
stress in healthy human subjects: a randomised controlled trial. *Br J Nutr.* 2012;
108(2):315-26. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511005484

²⁰⁵ Richard, D.; Kefi, K.; Barbe, U.; Bausero, P.; Visioli, F. Polyunsaturated fatty acids as antioxidants. Pharmacol Res. 2008; 57:451–455. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2008.05.002